Alma Mater Studiorum - Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

INGEGNERIA BIOMEDICA, ELETTRICA E DEI SISTEMI

Ciclo 34

Settore Concorsuale: 09/E1 - ELETTROTECNICA Settore Scientifico Disciplinare: ING-IND/31 - ELETTROTECNICA

MODULAR MULTILEVEL CONVERTERS WITH INTERLEAVED HALF-BRIDGE SUBMODULES

Presentata da: Aleksandr Viatkin

Coordinatore Dottorato

Michele Monaci

Supervisore

Gabriele Grandi

Co-supervisore

Mattia Ricco

Esame finale anno 2022

In reference to IEEE copyrighted material which is used with permission in this doctoral dissertation, the IEEE does not endorse any of the University of Bologna's products or services. Internal or personal use of this material is permitted. If interested in reprinting/republishing IEEE copyrighted material for advertising or promotional purposes or for creating new collective works for resale or redistribution, please go to http://www.ieee.org/publications_ standards/publications/rights/rights_link.html to learn how to obtain a License from RightsLink.

Preface

Power electronics have gone through several stages of development during last few decades, especially in the fields of high-power, high- and medium-voltage applications, giving rise to a new generation of power conversion equipment in either ac or dc form. Currently, the modular approach in the power converter design dominates the market. There are several modular converter topologies that are commonly employed in various high-power applications, namely cascaded H-bridge, H-bridge neutral-point clamped, and modular multilevel converter (MMC). Among them, MMC-based structures have received wide acceptance from both industry and academia thanks to their high degree of modularity, built-in redundancy, high efficiency, and low harmonic content. Modular multilevel converters are made up of a series connected strings of submodules (SM), whose classical arrangement is either half- or full-bridge. These configurations can easily match the constraints for high-power, high/medium-voltage applications; but they do not efficiently meet the requirements for high-power, low/medium-voltage application niche, e.g., ultra-fast electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructures, electric traction system, etc. The current project was aimed to fill the gap in modular and efficient converter design for such applications. Hence, the main development of this thesis is based on high-power, low/medium-voltage converter arrangement with reference to high-power EV chargers. Nevertheless, the proposed converter is not limited to the aforementioned applications and can be equally employed in all-voltage levels, high-current converter designs, owing to its highly modular structure.

The analyzed converter topology was initially proposed by Prof. Gabriele Grandi (University of Bologna) and his research team (including the author himself) in September 2020, while the key project developments were accomplished in cooperation with Prof. Remus Teodorescu (Aalborg University) and his research group, over author's research period abroad (November 2020 - July 2021).

In summary, this thesis is a unique and comprehensive work dealing with the modeling, control, modulation and technical challenges of the novel, advanced modular multilevel converter based on interleaved half-bridge submodules. The thesis is separated into four distinct parts, the first part offers an overview of state-of-the-art in MMC and interleaved converter technologies. It also explores some trending high-power applications, where the new converter topology can benefit the most. The second part covers theoretical aspects of operating principle, control methods, modulation and converter efficiency analysis. The third and forth parts are dedicated to solutions of the technical challenges associated with new converter structure. Each section, apart from the first, includes extensive either hardware-in-the-loop or experimental results to support the explained concept.

The thesis is written in a simple language to make it accessible to a wide audience. The necessary analysis and further developments are provided for each concept. The author hopes the reader will find the thesis useful and stimulating for further research of the proposed converter structure.

Bologna, Italy January 26, 2022 Aleksandr Viatkin

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor Prof. Gabriele Grandi for giving me the chance to be part of his research group, for his great confidence in my work, for being constantly encouraging me to draw my own research path as well as guiding me whenever needed with his valuable experience. Furthermore, I would like to thank my co-supervisor Associate Prof. Mattia Ricco for his ceaseless support, valuable guidance, discussions and for the important contributions he made to this project.

In our group I was very lucky to count with the help of my colleagues and dearest friends Riccardo Mandrioli, Francesco Lo Franco, Marija Vujacic, Milan Srndovic, Manel Hammami and Rudolf Francesco Palumbo Paternost. They always provide me with the right answers to all my questions and doubts, while wearing a cheery smile on their faces. Many thanks to you all.

My special appreciation is dedicated to Prof. Remus Teodorescu and Associate Prof. Tamas Kerekes for sharing their great experience in power electronics research field, for being extremely supportive during my stay at the Aalborg University as a Guest PhD student and in realization of this hardware-heavy project. I feel privileged to have been provided with an outstanding scientific environment as well as excellent facilities, which were of great importance for the completion of this project. I also thank Prof. Remus Teodorescu his hearted welcoming and for sharing his great musical taste with me.

During my stay at the Aalborg University, I met many talented people who shared with me their interesting ideas, and who made me feel I had a second family in Denmark. These people are Shiyi Liu, Gustavo Figueiredo Gontijo, Federico Cecati, Dimitrios Dimitropoulos, Thomas Farsakoglou, Subham Sahoo, Xinrong Huang and many other. Thank you all for the support, diverse discussions and great moments we shared together.

I cannot express how profoundly honored I feel by the fact that Prof. Marco Liserre and Associate Prof. Luigi Piegari agreed to serve as members of the scientific committee evaluating this dissertation. Many thanks for dedicating their time and eagerly providing their comments and scientific insights on my work.

I am very grateful to Prof. Gabriele Grandi and Prof. Carlo Angelo Borghi for the opportunity to serve as teaching assistant at their courses. It has been really great and valuable experience.

Last but not least, I would like to acknowledge my family and friends in Bologna and throughout the world for making me feel I never left home. In particular, I am grateful to my closest friend James Amankwah Adu with whom we started our master's degree at the University of Bologna and with whom we went through all ups and downs to reach the point where we are now. I always feel blessed to have such people around me in good and bad times. Nothing would have ever been the same without them and their endless support.

Bologna, Italy January 26, 2022 Aleksandr Viatkin

Abstract

Recent trends in industry and transport sectors decarbonization revealed an immense power demand. This new paradigm is changing the way the electrical grid is conceived. New and emerging concepts in generation, transmission, distribution, storage, and consumption of electrical power transform casual power networks into power electronic-based power systems. In this scenario, a new generation of high-performance, high-power conversion systems is needed at all stages of power delivery. These converters have a major influence on the efficiency, reliability, cost, and dynamic behaviour of the power system. Thus, all these aspects must be addressed in the new power converter design.

Modular converter structures have been receiving increasing attention in recent years mainly due to their redundancy capabilities, superior dynamic performance, and greater reliability in comparison with conventional converters. Among them, modular multilevel converter (MMC) has a prominent potential thanks to its exceptional characteristics, including modularity, flexibility to adapt to any voltage level, significant reduction in average switching frequency without compromising remarkable harmonic performance and many other. However, due to structural constraints of the existing submodule arrangements in classical MMCs the power scalability at submodule levels is limited.

To address this issue, this PhD thesis reports a novel Modular Multilevel Converter with Interleaved half-bridge Sub-Modules (ISM-MMC). The ISM-MMC exhibits a higher modularity and scalability in terms of current ratings with respect to conventional MMCs, while preserves the typical voltage level adaptiveness. The ISM-MMC brings the known advantages of classical MMC to low/medium-voltage, high-current applications, where classical MMCs are rarely used. While ISM-MMC opens a new market niche for MMC-based converters, it is not limited to only that and can be equally employed in standard MMC applications, e.g. high-voltage, direct current (HVDC) electric power transmission systems, flexible alternating current transmission systems (FACTSs), motor drives, power electronic transformers, smart grid, etc.

A detailed description of operating principle along with the converter's average model, outer and internal control methods, a hybrid modulation scheme that helps to exploit advantages of the interleaving scheme and converter efficiency analysis are given in this thesis. It has been verified that the typical MMC control methods are still applicable for ISM-MMC. A comprehensive comparison between several design examples of ISM-MMC and classical MMC in terms of output characteristics and efficiency is also provided. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that the number of ac voltage levels is synthetically multiplied by the number of interleaved half-bridge legs in each submodule. The thesis also concerns a current balancing problem that is typical in interleaved converters, while it is very new issue in MMC-based structures. The problem has been rigorously studied and two control strategies have been proposed in this work to cope with the aforementioned matter. The first method is based on individual current sensing in each interleaved half-bridge leg, while the second relies on interleaved currents estimation. The developed observer allows estimating the currents through interleaved half-bridge legs in each submodule of ISM-MMC basing only on arm current and submodule's capacitor voltage measurements. This technique minimizes the number of required current sensors in ISM-MMC, thereby reducing the converter's cost, weight, and volume. Capabilities of the proposed interleaved currents sensor-based and sensorless balancing methods have been tested against standard parameter tolerances of the composing passive elements.

To make operation of such current regulators possible, a new capacitor voltage balancing strategy suitable for both ISM-MMCs and conventional MMCs is developed. The novel algorithm contains main advantages of the classical capacitor voltage balancing methods while provides an opportunity to decouple two internal tasks of ISM-MMC, namely capacitor voltage and interleaved legs current balancing. The proposed control methods feature good dynamic performance and are compliant with a digital processor's operational constraints. Extensive numerical simulations, hardware-in-the-loop, and experimental tests on a scaled-down, single-phase ISM-MMC laboratory prototype are carried out to demonstrate the feasibility of the proposed topology, implemented modulation and control schemes.

Index Terms – modular multilevel converters (MMCs), interleaved converters, interleaved half-bridge submodule, current balancing, current sharing, sensorless current balancing, high power conversion efficiency, energy balance method, capacitor voltage balancing, sorting algorithms, hybrid pulse width modulation, charging stations, electric vehicles.

Sommario

I recenti sforzi per la decarbonizzazione dell'industria e dei trasporti hanno rivelato un'immensa domanda di energia. Questo nuovo paradigma sta cambiando il modo in cui viene concepita la rete elettrica. Nuovi ed emergenti concetti riguardanti generazione, trasmissione, distribuzione, stoccaggio e consumo di energia elettrica stanno trasformando le reti elettriche tradizionali in sistemi di alimentazione basati sulla conversione elettronica di potenza. In questo scenario, è necessaria una nuova generazione di sistemi di conversione ad alte prestazioni e ad alta potenza che si estenda su tutti gli stadi di trasmissione dell'energia. Questi convertitori influiscono in maniera rilevante sull'efficienza, affidabilità, costi e comportamento dinamico del sistema di alimentazione. Pertanto, tutti questi aspetti devono essere affrontati e tenuti in considerazione durante la progettazione di nuovi convertitori elettronici di potenza.

I convertitori a struttura modulare hanno ricevuto crescente attenzione negli ultimi anni principalmente a causa delle loro capacità di ridondanza, prestazioni dinamiche superiori e maggiore affidabilità rispetto ai convertitori convenzionali. Tra questi, il "modular multilevel converter" (MMC) ha un potenziale prominente grazie alle sue eccezionali caratteristiche, tra cui fra le altre, modularità, flessibilità nei confronti di qualsiasi livello di tensione e significativa riduzione della frequenza media di commutazione senza compromissione delle notevoli prestazioni armoniche. Tuttavia, a causa dei vincoli strutturali legati alla topologia dei sottomoduli MMC classici, la scalabilità di potenza a livello del singolo sottomodulo è limitata.

Per affrontare questo problema, questa tesi di dottorato riporta un nuovo "Modular Multilevel Converter" avente i SottoModuli realizzati utilizzando la configurazione "Interleaved halfbridge" (ISM-MMC). L'ISM-MMC presenta una maggiore modularità e scalabilità in termini di valori nominali di corrente rispetto agli MMC convenzionali, pur preservando la tipica adattabilità del livello di tensione. L'ISM-MMC introduce i noti vantaggi del MMC classico anche nelle applicazioni a bassa/media tensione e alta corrente, dove l'MMC classico viene raramente utilizzato. Nonostante ISM-MMC apra una nuova nicchia di mercato per i convertitori del tipo MMC, non si limita solo a questo e può essere ugualmente impiegato in applicazioni MMC convenzionali, ad esempio, sistemi di trasmissione dell'energia del tipo "high-voltage direct current" (HVDC), "flexible alternating current transmission systems" (FACTSs), azionamenti elettrici, "power electronic transformers", "smart grid", ecc.

In questa tesi, vengono descritti in maniera dettagliata il convertitore, il suo principio di funzionamento, il modello medio, i metodi di controllo esterno e interno, uno schema di modulazione ibrido che aiuta a sfruttare i vantaggi dello schema "interleaving" e l'analisi dell'efficienza. È stato verificato che i tipici metodi di controllo per MMC sono ancora applicabili anche per ISM-MMC. Viene inoltre fornito un confronto completo tra diversi esempi di progettazione di ISM-MMC e MMC classici in termini di caratteristiche di uscita ed efficienza. Inoltre, è stato dimostrato che il numero di livelli di tensione risulta moltiplicato direttamente per il numero di "half-bridge" collegati in modalità "interleaved" in ogni sottomodulo.

La tesi tratta anche il problema del bilanciamento delle correnti, tipico dei convertitori "interleaved", ma del tutto inedito nelle strutture basate su MMC. Il problema è stato rigorosamente studiato e in questo lavoro sono state proposte due strategie di controllo per far fronte a quest'ultimo. Il primo metodo si basa sul rilevamento della corrente effettuato individualmente su ogni "half-bridge", mentre il secondo si basa sulla stima delle correnti "interleaved" attraverso l'utilizzo di un osservatore. L'osservatore sviluppato consente di stimare le correnti incidenti ogni half-bridge all'interno dei sottomoduli basandosi solamente sulla corrente di "arm" e sulle misure di tensione dei condensatori in ogni sottomodulo. Questa tecnica riduce al minimo il numero di sensori di corrente richiesti per l'ISM-MMC, riducendo così il costo, il peso e il volume del convertitore. Le prestazioni della modalità basata sull'utilizzo di sensori e della modalità con osservatore "sensorless", sono state testate tenendo in considerazione la presenza di parametri soggetti alle tipiche tolleranze degli elementi passivi.

Per rendere possibile il funzionamento di tali regolatori di corrente, viene sviluppata una nuova strategia di bilanciamento della tensione dei condensatori sia negli ISM-MMC che negli MMC convenzionali. Il nuovo algoritmo contiene i principali vantaggi dei classici metodi, seppur disaccoppiando i due compiti interni agli ISM-MMC, vale a dire il bilanciamento della tensione del condensatore e il bilanciamento delle correnti "interleaved". I metodi di controllo proposti presentano buone prestazioni dinamiche e sono conformi ai vincoli operativi di un processore digitale. Molteplici simulazioni numeriche, "hardware-in-the-loop" e prove sperimentali su un prototipo in scala ridotta di ISM-MMC monofase sono state eseguite per dimostrare la fattibilità della topologia proposta e dei relativi schemi di modulazione e controllo implementati.

Contents

Preface						
Ac	know	/ledgements	Ш			
Abstract						
So	omma	rio	VII			
Сс	onten	ts	IX			
1	Intro	oduction	1			
	1.1	Modular Multilevel Converters	3			
		1.1.1 Topologies and Applications	3			
		1.1.2 Control and Modulation	6			
	1.2	Interleaved Converters	7			
	1.3	High-Power Applications	8			
		1.3.1 Ultra-Fast Charging of Electrical Vehicles	8			
		1.3.2 Electric Traction Systems	10			
		1.3.3 Hydrogen Electrolyzers	10			
		1.3.4 Solid-State Transformers	11			
	1.4	Thesis Motivation and Objectives	11			
	1.5	Methodology	12			
	1.6	Thesis Outline	13			
2	Мос	Jular Multilevel Converters with Interleaved Half-Bridge Submodules	15			
	2.1	Introduction	15			
	2.2	Fundamentals	15			
	2.3	Operating Principle and Average Model	18			
	2.4	Control Methods	22			
		2.4.1 Dc Voltage Control	23			
		2.4.2 Phase-Locked Loop	25			
		2.4.3 Output Current Control	26			
		2.4.4 Circulating Current Control	28			
		2.4.5 Arm-Energy Control	30			
	2.5	Modulation Scheme	33			
	2.6	Submodule Energy Balancing	39			
	2.7	Numerical Simulations and Comparison	41			

	2.8 Efficiency analysis	. 45 . 47		
	2.10 Summary	. 51		
3	Interleaved Currents Balancing Control 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Problem statement 3.3 Modified Submodule Sorting Algorithm 3.4 Controller Structure	52 52 52 52 54 54		
	 3.5 Numerical Simulations	. 57 . 61 . 67		
4	Sensorless Interleaved Currents Balancing Control4.1Introduction4.2State Observer Design4.3Modified Interleaved Currents Balancing Control4.4Numerical Simulations4.5Experimental Tests4.6Summary	68 68 69 74 74 74 79 82		
5 A	Conclusions and Future Research 5.1 Summary and Contributions 5.2 Proposal for Future Research Efficiency calculations	84 84 86 88		
В	Laboratory Prototype B.1 Power Part B.2 Control Part B.3 Measurements and Signal Acquisition	96 97 100 100		
Lis	t of Abbreviations	102		
Lis	t of Symbols	105		
List of Figures				
List of Tables				
Bibliography				
Curriculum Vitae				

Chapter

Introduction

This chapter introduces the global context, from which the motivation of current thesis is originated. The chapter deals with state-of-the-art and recent advancements in high-power converter topologies. In general, all high-power converter topologies can be classified into two main groups, namely power converters that use an intermediate dc-link or those which do not. The latter approach is the direct power converters [2, 3]. Power converters from the first group, based on the type of dc-link, can be further categorized into voltage source converters (VSCs) [4–7], current source converters (CSCs) [1, 2, 4, 8] and their derivatives – hybrid topologies [4]. Among all mentioned technologies, VSCs have the highest market share and are widely used in industries. Therefore, this overview mainly focuses on the VSC group.

With power being the product of voltage and current, it seems logical that converter's unlimited power ratings can be achieved by increasing either the rated voltage or current. Alternatively, both of them can be leveled up. In that respect, the well-known two-level converter, which belongs to the VSC family, is commonly limited to a relatively low-power conversion level, mainly due to semiconductor rating constrains. The commercially available semiconductor devices and their voltage and current ratings are shown in Table 1.1. From this perspective, selection of a particular semiconductor technology leads to a certain boundaries in the converter's functioning. For high-power applications, two-level converters require either semiconductors in series to arrive at medium- or high-voltage operation with comparatively low currents or the devices in parallel to carry high-current at low-voltage operation. The hybrid schemes are also possible. However, such series or/and parallel connections of semiconductor devices do not introduce any enhancements in output waveforms harmonic performance and dv/dt reduction. Imperfect dead-times synchronization, negative temperature coefficient (for some semiconductor technologies), uneven power losses and voltage blocking are just a few issues that must be handled in such high-power converter arrangements. Hence, conventional two-level converters have very limited usage in high-power applications.

To overcome the limitations of semiconductor device ratings, a modular, scalable converter design approach has been introduced. Based on this method, identical submodules are cascaded to reach the higher operating voltage. Likewise, some submodule configuration can be placed in parallel to increase operating current. In such manner, the scaling of voltage and/or current ratings in power converters can be easily adjusted to the needs of a specific application. Furthermore, maintenance of such power converters can be reduced, and their availability can be significantly improved due to the fact that in case of submodules failure, this converter can still

operated with reduced performance. In this context, modular power converters have become attractive solution for many high-voltage, high-current applications.

Semiconductor device/Parameter	Blocking voltage	Current
power diode	8.5 kV @ 4.45 kA	13.5 kA @ 0.4 kV
thyristor	10 kV @ 1.7 kA	6.1 kA @ 1.8 kV
GTO	9 kV @ 2.5 kA	6 kA @ 6 kV
IGCT	9 kV @ 1.7 kA	6.5 kA @ 4.5 kV
IGBT	6.5 kV @ 1 kA	3.6 kA @ 1.7 kV
MOSFET	3.3 kV @ 0.75 kA	1.1 kA @ 0.75 kV

Table 1.1 - Market overview of power semiconductors

Several modular converter topologies have been introduced in literature, however just few of them were adopted in industry. Among them, the cascaded H-bridge (CHB) [9–11] and cascaded neutral-point clamped (CNPC) [11, 12] converters, which generally designed for medium- or high-voltage, high-power conversion, gained decent popularity. Reduced component's voltage stress, good output power quality, easy scalability are just few intrinsic advantages that they can offer over the traditional non-modular converters. On the other hand, these topologies feature high number of switch counts. Several works were dedicated to reduce switch count, preserving high power quality [13, 14]. Another major issue associated with these converters is the need of separate dc sources for each submodule, which increases the overall footprint and cost of the conversion system. On the contrary, another advanced, scalable topology, namely modular multilevel converter (MMC) preserves the features of cascaded converters while can be supplied by a single power source [15, 16]. Moreover, given an excellent performance in quality of input/output waveforms and adjustable to any voltage level structure, MMC can be connected to medium- or high-voltage power source without an intermediate transformer. Hence, the MMC technology is selected for further analysis in the current thesis.

Unlike high-voltage converter designs, the VSC family can offer just few converter configurations that are specifically designed for high-current operation [17–19]. Instead, most of the research is devoted to a parallel operation of monolithic converters (e.g., the two-level, neutral point clamped (NPC), flying capacitor (FC) converters, etc.) [7, 20, 21] or some structural parts (semiconductor device, submodule, branch, phase leg, etc.) of the modular converters (e.g. cascaded H-bridge, modular multilevel converters, etc.) [22–25]. In this context, the family of multi-unit interleaved converters demonstrate superior performance characteristics, which are, for example, high current-carrying capabilities, having parallel power stages, and reducing input/output waveforms ripple without increasing the switching frequency [18, 26]. Thus, further interleaved converters are taken as a benchmark in high-current converter design.

In the following sections, the basic concepts and terms that are employed throughout this dissertation are presented. A review is carried out by demonstrating the most noteworthy research contributions in modular multilevel and interleaved converters. Later, an overview of some emerging high-power applications is introduced. The thesis motivation, employed methodology and outline complete this introductory chapter.

1.1 Modular Multilevel Converters

The modular multilevel converter (MMC) is currently one of the growing power converter technology, which has attracted particular attention among researchers and industry worldwide. The MMC belongs to the multicell converter family, and it was first introduced in [27] for high-voltage applications. Over the past years, this topology has been further extended to other applications in the medium-voltage level. It features, high quality of output waveforms (voltages and currents), great modularity and it is easy scalable to any voltage ratings, as a result of using identical submodules SMs. On top of this, having inherent redundancy it is capable to provide high availability of the whole power conversion system. However, MMC unique characteristics such as the large number of SMs, a need of dedicated internal control for floating capacitor voltages balancing and circulating currents, make this converter topology a particularly complex structure. In this section, a general overview of the MMC basics along with its typical applications are discussed. Finally, the state-of-the-art MMC modulation and control methods are presented.

1.1.1 Topologies and Applications

The most employed three-phase MMC configuration is the one shown in Figure 1.1, which commonly referred as a double-star topology. Many other converter architectures have been presented in the literature. Each configuration aims to improve certain features or address some specific needs of the applications where converter is used. Several of these configuration and related applications are discussed here.



Figure 1.1 - Dc to ac three-phase MMC topology

Among other conventional MMC circuit configurations [28] that commonly appear in literature are single-star topology with full-bridge cells (also referred as "cascaded multilevel converter with star connection") [29], single-delta configuration with full-bridge cells (also known as "cascaded multilevel converter with delta connection") [29, 30], modular multilevel matrix converter [31] and hexagonal converter [32]. Nevertheless, recently several advanced and hybrid

MMC topologies [15, 33] have been presented to address the operational and technical issues associated with the conventional MMCs. For example, alternate arm MMC [34], in which each arm is formed by a string of full-bridge SM, a director switch, and an arm inductor is capable significantly reduce switching losses in comparison with the conventional half-bridge MMC [35]. Another MMC configuration with a middle SM, in which the upper and lower arms are connected to load/grid through a middle SM synthesizes the phase voltage waveform with a identical number of voltage levels as the conventional MMC, while requires less number of SMs [36]. The next hybrid MMC configuration is a derivative of MMC with a middle SM, in which two submodules of each phase leg are connected to the positive and negative bars of the upper and lower arms, respectively. Such arrangement inherently reduces SM capacitor voltage ripple, which positively affects on size and cost of the converter [37]. The following interesting configuration referred as a flying capacitor MMC. In this converter architecture, the midpoints of the upper and lower arms are connected through a floating capacitor. This capacitor is employed to balance energy between the corresponding arms, which eventually minimizes the SM capacitor voltage ripple [38]. Other two configuration, which allow to achieve smaller the SM capacitor voltage ripple, are star- and delta-channel MMCs [39, 40]. The standard double-star MMC topology can be used as a interleaved dc/dc converter where each phase leg is connected to a common point through inductors [41]. The list of possible MMC configurations is constantly increasing and many other advanced MMC structure come in the future.

Although the most commonly used SM circuit structures are the half- and full-bridge topologies, depicted in Figures 1.2a and 1.2b, respectively, many other alternative SM topologies have been introduced in the literature [6, 15, 16, 33, 42, 43] to cope with different MMC-related issues such as blocking capabilities of dc-side fault current, reduced capacitor voltage ripple and circulating currents, and high converter efficiency. The most popular and recently proposed advanced SM configurations in MMC are demonstrated in Figure 1.2. The above introduced half-bridge SM has a simple architecture, control and design, while it does not support bipolar operation and dc fault blocking [6]. In this context, full-bridge SM supports both aforementioned features, while requires double the number of semiconductors in each SM. Moreover, this SM structure allows to reduce capacitor voltage ripple in comparison with half-bridge SM-based MMC.

Advanced, multilevel SM configurations allow improve performance and efficiency of the converter. These SM structures (cf. Figures 1.2c – 1.2j) are cascaded half-bridge [44], active neutral-point clamped [45], neutral-point piloted (also known as "T-connected neutral-point clamped") [46], flying capacitor [47], clamp-double [48, 49], cross-connected [50], single-clamped [51, 52] and IGCT-based SM [53]. Among the above mentioned multilevel SM configurations only clamp-double and cross-connected SMs generate positive/negative voltage levels at the output, hence support dc-side fault blocking capabilities. The single-clamped SM originates a family of submodules with bypass clamping diodes and it supports fault-clearing in the MMC. IGCT-based SM improves converter's efficiency, facilitates higher voltage ratings and reliability.

All discussed above SM have one common characteristic, which in high-power applications can be seen as a drawback, namely lack of scalability in current capacity. In other words, current passing through the elements of these submodules is limited by current ratings of the "weakest" element in the chain. Therefore, MMC converters based on these SMs cannot be simply boosted in terms of current ratings and other forms of parallel connectivity are required [22, 24].

MMCs in the form of standard and customized products have become the most attractive multilevel converter topology for medium/high-power applications. Currently, it is widely used in several industrial applications such as power high-voltage dc transmission systems [54, 55], medium-voltage autonomous dc grids, e.g., in shipboards [56, 57], industrial motor drives



Figure 1.2 – Circuit configuration of MMC submodules: (a) half-bridge SM, (b) full-bridge SM, (c) cascaded half-bridge SM, (d) active neutral-point clamped SM, (e) neutral-point piloted SM, (f) flying capacitor SM, (g) clamp-double SM, (h) cross-connected SM

[58–60], high-power dc/dc conversion, grid power quality improvement, e.g. STATCOM [61, 62], distributed energy storage systems [63–65], solid-state transformers [66–68], high-voltage pulse generators [69, 70], etc.

Addressing existing challenges of classical MMC structures will from one side improve the availability of the MMC-based power system, enhance converter's performance, minimize its



Figure 1.2 - Circuit configuration of MMC submodules (cont.): (i) single-clamped SM, (j) IGCT-based SM

footprint, reduce its capital and maintenance cost, while from another it will promote usage of MMCs in non-conventional applications.

1.1.2 Control and Modulation

To guarantee safe, stable, and efficient operation of the MMC converter, while providing high power quality, an appropriate modulation and control methods must be employed. The control of MMC is quite challenging task, and it involves multiple control objectives. The MMC control layout irrespectively of application is usually build out of several stages: an outer control stage (voltage, speed, etc.), an output current control stage, a circulating current control, an internal capacitor voltage balancing, and an arm energy (voltage) control stage [71–74]. Detailed description of the classical MMC control method can be found in Section 2.4, while here a very brief introduction of other trending control methods is given.

Each application uses a different control technique to regulate output characteristics. Most of the control strategies introduced in the literature perform quite well in the applications with a fixed ac frequency, e.g., grid-connected applications, dc/dc conversion, etc. For such application the classical MMC control or MPC-based [75–77] methods are widely used. On the other hand, in variable ac frequency applications, e.g., motor drives, special types of control methods are presented. For instance, sliding mode control has been proposed in [78]. Several alternatives to the classical MPC approach have been proposed as well, e.g., modulated MPC [79–81]. Another recently introduced control method that can be found in literature is a virtual synchronous machine control technique for MMCs with inertia response [82]. In grid-forming applications, a droop control for MMC manages parallel operation with other voltage sources and provides active power support [83, 84]. Continuous research is ongoing in the field of new control methods for classical and innovative MMC-based structures, while other concern the tailoring of several well-established control strategies, taking into account the application specifics [15, 33, 42, 85].

Modular, scalable structure of MMC permits to employ a great variety of modulation techniques, including those which are not generally suitable for other types of power converters (e.g., stair-case modulation). Review on most frequently used modulation strategies in MMCs, with relation to the current project is given in Section 2.5. Here instead, the ongoing research works in the field of advanced and hybrid modulation strategies is highlighted. In this context, most

of the research attention is given to an optimized operation of the existing solutions or their combinations. For example, authors in [86] propose a hybrid modulation method combining nearest level control (NLC) and phase-shifted pulse width modulation (PS-PWM) that allows to simplify SM's capacitor voltage balancing and significantly reduce output current distortion. Similar approach was implemented in [87] with fundamental switching frequency modulation and PS-PWM. Other researchers contribute into optimization of PWM-based techniques, e.g., single-carrier PWM method in [88], variable switching frequency PWM in [89], the voltage drop in the power devices and parasitic resistances for PWM methods is accounted in [90].

1.2 Interleaved Converters

Parallel power conversion systems have been drawing more attention in recent years due to increased range of high-current applications. As it was mentioned in beginning of this chapter, a general approach to boost current-handling capabilities of the conversion system is parallel connectivity at inner or outer converters levels (e.g., parallel units in multicell converters, parallel connections of the monolithic converters, etc.) [22, 24, 85, 91]. The main focus of this work is dedicated to the parallel connectivity at conversion unit level, promoting modular, scalable structures. The key features of the converters constructed from multiple identical units include: simple thermal design since each unit handles only a part of the total power; enhanced system reliability due to parallel redundancy and reduced thermal stress on the power components; effortless expansion of the system's power capabilities [91]. The same converter with parallelconnected units can be operated in multiple ways. The simplest way is identical switching pattern among all parallel units, in this case the whole hardware behaves as a single converter. In this context, interleaving concept adds additional advantages to the parallel-connected structures, namely it helps to avoid the parallel connection of semiconductor devices and associated with that issues (e.g., switching instants equalization, mitigation inter-unit circulating currents, etc.), ripple minimization at converter's input and output, higher efficiency [92-94]. Even though interleaved concept can be equally applied in ac/dc (e.g., interleaved power factor correction (PFC) converters) or dc/dc (e.g., interleaved buck, boost converters) conversion systems, however they share common operational principle therefore analysis of one of them would be enough to highlight the key operating features. In this regard, this section focuses more on well-established research in the field of interleaved ac/dc converters.

Figure 1.3 provides an example of interleaved dc/ac converter by depicting a generic multi-unit (*K*) structure of interleaved converter. Each unit is composed by a half-bridge leg and an inductor. Other multilevel units are possible, e.g., based on active neutral-point clamped leg [95] or even MMC-leg-based [96, 97]. It should be mentioned though that interleaving in MMC structures up to now was considered only at converter, leg or arm levels. This discussion continues in Chapter 2.

Commonly interleaved converters are employed in uninterruptible power supplies [98, 99], variable speed motor drives [100], and traction power supplies [101, 102], wind-power applications [103, 104], ultra-fast electric vehicles charging [18, 26, 93] and many other, where reliability and high-current ratings of the conversion equipment are required.

Assuming ideal operating conditions of the interleaved converter, the current among parallel units should be equally shared to avoid excessive thermal stress on the components and an increase of power losses, however this objective cannot be easily satisfied unless actively controlled. The typical reasons of this current imbalance and detailed description on the basic



Figure 1.3 – Circuit scheme of a single-phase, multi-unit interleaved converter

existing solutions is discussed in Chapter 3 of this thesis. A great variety of other control methods have been proposed in literature to advance operation of the interleaved converters, among them distributed droop control [105], supervisory control [106], modular current sharing control [107], average control, and a circular chain control [108]. Another very promising approach to achieve current balancing among interleaved legs based on a sorting algorithm, similar to voltage capacitor balancing in MMCs, is introduced in [92].

Most of the commercial interleaved converters handle interleaving with a help of the phaseshifted pulse width modulation [103, 104, 109, 110] or space-vector modulation [111–113]. Usage of selective harmonic elimination PWM technique for interleaved converters was suggested in [114]. Some works propose to enable level-shifted PWMs in interleaved converters [92, 115].

1.3 High-Power Applications

This section provides an overview of present-day high-power application that have particular requirements on supply ratings, its availability, power modularity and expansibility, dynamic performance, possibility to provide power conditioning services and efficiency. Each subsequent subsection is dedicated to a specific application and related to it technical characteristics. The given list of such applications is not exhaustive, hence other emerging high-power application can be considered as well as a reference.

1.3.1 Ultra-Fast Charging of Electrical Vehicles

In recent years, the automotive industry has been undergoing a radical transformation driven by environmental awareness with most car manufacturers shifting their production towards more plug-in hybrid electric vehicles and zero emission battery electric vehicles (EV). Meanwhile, governments around the world are developing a variety of strategies aimed at more favorable market conditions for electrical vehicles expansion and widespread adoption of charging infrastructure. However, the main impediment that does not allow you to quickly switch to EVs is still considered to be customer concern about the limited driving range. To face customers "range anxiety", automakers try to maximize the battery autonomy, however the concern about long charging times is still present. Typically all modern passenger EVs are equipped with an integrated on-board charger [116–118], fed by the domestic or public low-power grids. This commonly results in significant charging times (> 6 hours) [119]. To cope with this problem other charging power levels have been introduced, commonly referred as fast (< 3 hours, < 50 kW) and ultra-fast (< 1 hour, > 50 kW) [120–122]. Such high charging power levels require the charger to be installed off-board. Nowadays, the most powerful commercially available all-in-one ultra-fast dc charger is "Terra 360" (ABB Ltd.) with charging power in the range 90-360 kW and dc charging voltage 150-920 V [123] that permits to recharge a car within 15 min. However, most commercialized standalone ultra-fast dc chargers for passenger cars are in the power range of 50-180 kW (e.g., "Terra 184", ABB Ltd. [124]; "Exceed DC Dc180P", Noodoe Inc.; "DS 180", Phihong Technology Co. Ltd.). Typically these chargers include both rectification and dc/dc stages and are supplied by the low-voltage mains (400 or 480 V), thus input ac current can range up to 310 A. Authors in [125, 126] propose a statistical-based method for predicting daily power consumption in the joint parking/charging stations. This method estimates the charging time of each vehicle, which is extrapolated from the real collected data of the arrival and departure times in parking lots. EV characteristics, charging ratings, and driver behavior are taken into account in this technique. Based on this method Figure 1.4 depicts two possible charging scenarios. The first includes charging only with fast ac-based chargers (22 kW), while the other considers charging with ultra-fast fast dc-based chargers (180 kW).



Figure 1.4 – Power supplied by individual standalone chargers at a parking/charging station with 50 parking spots equipped with: (a) 22 kW chargers, (b) 180 kW chargers

In the first scenario the charging process is more spread in time due to the low charging power, so the peak cumulative supply power does not exceed 350 kW at any given instant. On the other hand, charging with 180 kW chargers is very time dense and at the rush hours aggregate supply power can reach 1 MW. In both these cases, switch from distributed standalone low-voltage chargers to a centralized medium-voltage system with remote dispensers would be beneficial from the system point of view.

The above discussion in most cases is related to charging infrastructure for light and passenger EVs. However, when it comes to battery-electric commercial transport (bus, truck, heavy equipment, etc.) other charging power levels are required [127]. The available on the market solutions are presented by 350 kW - 1.5 MW range (e.g., "NBSK1000", Power Electronics Corp. [128]; "1.5MW Charger", Proterra Corp. [129]). These charging systems are usually built as a centralized conversion system with remote dispensers. The supply can be either low- or medium-voltage with input ac currents up to 2200 A (at low-voltage supply).

1.3.2 Electric Traction Systems

Electric traction systems is another very promising application for high-power converters. With private passenger transport switching to EVs, electric traction systems (e.g., locomotive, tram, metro, etc.) have gained additional attention from both academia and industry. Equipment for electric traction systems can be commonly categorized as on- and off-board. This subsection will be mostly dedicated to off-board infrastructure, while on-board equipment will be covered in subsequent Subsecton 1.3.4.

There are two types of traction power supply system, namely dc-based with typical voltage levels 600-750 V, 1500 V, 3000 V [130] and and single-phase ac-based with terminal voltage 15 kV at 16.7 Hz [131]. The transformer-rectifier substations for dc traction systems include usually uncontrolled diode (e.g., "Enviline TDR", ABB Ltd.) or controller thyrisistor-based (e.g., "Enviline TCR", ABB Ltd.) rectifiers and multi-winding traction transformer. In addition to that an energy recuperation system can be added. The common rectification schemes are 6-, 12- and 24-pulse. The common power ratings of dc traction power supplies are 5-8 MW. Despite the availability of high-power IGBT-based semiconductors, they have significantly higher losses and cost in comparison with diode-based systems [132]. Nevertheless, the need of advanced rectification systems, which support bidirectional power flow and able to provide conditioning services, have been proven in [133]. Single-phase 16.7 Hz railway networks usually are interconnected with the 50 Hz grid through the use of step-down three-phase transformer and power converters. Significant power usually must be drawn from the industrial three-phase grid and converted to supply single-phase railway networks. Therefore, the conversion system must be able to handle high-currents at medium-voltage level.

1.3.3 Hydrogen Electrolyzers

Hydrogen electrolysis is the cost-effective and eco-friendly process to produce hydrogen in industrial quantities. The production can be even more efficient and flexible if it is integrated with renewable energy generation that further supports the decarbonization of heavy industry processes. It has another beneficial aspect that could help balance peak demands, which electrical grid is experienced in rush hours, by creating hydrogen energy storage [134]. The very basic idea of the electrolysis is that a steady dc current passing through water. Therefore, this process requires a very specific electrical power supply, which must be reliable, modular, dynamically

scalable in power to support partial load operation, and fully grid-compliant. Typical units of the supply run with power in the range of 1-30 MW at dc voltage up to 1500 V, while in some cases it can be scaled up to 100 MW (e.g., "DCS880", ABB Ltd.; "Hydrogen DC Power Supply", Neeltran Inc.). Clearly in such operational constrains a power converter needs to deal with high/medium input voltage and tremendous currents at the output. Typically, thyristor-based rectifiers are used with a similar supplying scheme as for off-board dc traction supply systems. However, such configuration requires bulky multi-winding transformers.

1.3.4 Solid-State Transformers

The concept of a solid-state transformer (SST) or often called as a power electronic transformer (PET) was created to replace a conventional power transformer in its entire range of applications. The common applications of SST that are widely discussed in literature refer to on-board traction supply systems [23, 135] or shipboard supply systems [57], where volume, weight reduction and efficiency enhancement can be attained, in smart grids because of their controllability and ability to provide ancillary services [136, 137], in electrical vehicles charging systems or similar applications where the galvanic isolation is essential due to safety reasons [138]. In smart grids SSTs are especially attractive since they can be sort of a bridge between two or more voltage levels, networks with different fundamental frequencies, ac-dc networks connectivity, etc., while realizing multi-port structure. In addition to that modular structures, which are commonly adopted in SSTs, allow to reach high efficiency, reliability and maintainability of the transformer [136]. Furthermore, the SST gives possibility to act as an active filter at all connected sides of the transformer, providing e.g., harmonic compensation, reactive power compensation, grid currents balancing, voltage support, etc. Some internal features that help to optimize operation of SSTs can be also achieved, e.g. power routing in multi-cell structures [139]. There are great variety of SST topologies has been introduced recently in literature [140–142], trying to meet specific requirements of particular applications. In this context, voltage and current ratings vary significantly. So the new converter topologies to be applied in SSTs must meet all aforementioned requirements.

1.4 Thesis Motivation and Objectives

The previous sections have shown that currently the industry is in great need of a cost-effective, flexible and fully controllable, high-power conversion system, while this demand in the future will only grow [7, 60, 119]. Significant research has been carried out in this field to find a unique solution, which can meet if not all but most requirements demanded either from application side or supply/grid side. In this context, modular converter structures have gained remarkable attention, being commercially realized in many different forms [15, 16, 85, 94, 135]. MMC-based converters constantly take over the high-power converter market, where power can be boosted via an increase of the operating voltage (e.g., high- or medium-voltage). However, it is almost absent in the market of high-current, low/medium-voltage conversion systems. Another engineering question arises in the design of MMC converter for relatively high-current, high/medium-voltage applications, whether it is better to build a high-current switching unit by paralleling discrete semiconductor devices or by a single high-current rated switch. It has been demonstrated on a practical example in [94] that paralleling of power switches can be a competitive solution, having significantly lower losses at full power or almost the same losses at low operating power. In this regard, the paralleling adds an additional advantage being capable

to further reduce the losses working at low power by deactivating some parallel devices from the circuit path to realize almost nominal power operation. Moreover, high-power switches typically require a very scrupulous design, hence a new release on the market of monolithic high-power devices is very rare, while the devices are particularly expensive. Thus, many manufactures prefer achieve high-power ratings in complete converter design by paralleling low-power, inexpensive hardware.

It is clear from above discussion that paralleling of power units enhances efficiency and operational capabilities when a high/medium-current converter design is required. However, a simple parallel connection of power switches has several challenges since it is particularly difficult to guarantee equal instantaneous output voltages across semiconductor/power unit terminals [108]. Furthermore, as it was previously pointed out in Section 1.2, in such arrangement all parallel units act as a single unit, simply sharing the total current among parallel branches. To achieve better performance interleaved concept has been introduced. Among many advantages that this technique offers, a multi-level voltage waveform [92] and current ripple cancellation [18, 122] can be attained at the output terminals of an interleaved converter.

Summarizing the discussion above the primary objective of this work is to merge benefits of both converter technologies (i.e., MMC and interleaved converter) to realize a highly modular structure in both voltage and current ratings. Even though interleaving effect (also parallel connectivity) can be realized at different structural stages of MMC (e.g., phase legs interleaving of the same MMC, arms interleaving, etc.) this thesis focuses on interleaving/paralleling at the submodule level, based on basic half-bridge units. This choice is motivated by the fact that the selected unit is mass-produced, simple and requires low component count per unit. Another notable reason that supports parallel connectivity at SM level is the fact that such converter structure will bring well-known modularity of classical MMCs at another level by adding extra degree of freedom. Widely recognized redundancy and reliability of MMC will also benefit from such converter arrangement since failure of one parallel unit in a single SM does not mean failure of the whole SM, hence bypass of the SM is not always necessary. Nevertheless, one should bear in mind that the right choice whether to bypass solely the failed parallel unit or the whole submodule must be made including the studies on minimal power reduction caused by the bypass action. In such manner, a new highly-scalable and reliable converter structure will be developed.

It has been demonstrated that the classical MMC is by default a complex converter topology requiring several different control layers. Adding an extra degree of modularity to the new MMC-based converter will further increase the control complexity. In this regard, the second objective of this thesis is to analyse controllability of the new converter and suggest a robust control method. An additional aim of this work is to examine and compare efficiency of the new converter solution with its close competitors. On top of this, the proposed converter concept, its control and converter's behavioural characteristics must be verified via experimental tests. Thus, a scaled-down, laboratory prototype should be build and tested.

1.5 Methodology

To achieve the above mentioned research objectives, the following methodology is employed:

Problem statement. The first step is to identify the problem and search for the existing solutions. For doing so, an extensive literature research on high-power converters and their traditional as well as emerging applications has been done. Currently, scientists and industry representatives

are well emphasizing the lack of flexible, scalable high-power conversion systems, especially in low/medium-voltage, high-current applications. Among the great variety of already introduced high-power converter structures, the MMC-based and interleaved converters were short-listed as the most trending and promising technologies. The selection was made based on the numerous advantages that these conversion systems can offer, e.g., high degree of modularity, reliability, excellent input/output harmonic performance and many other, which are well reported in literature. Bringing together advantages of the aforementioned converters, a new highly-scalable in both voltage and current ratings, high-power power electronic topology was developed. Exhaustive search for the close analogs among the existing solutions has not revealed similarities.

Detailed modeling and analysis. The next stage is to derive mathematical model of the new converter structure and verify its operational capabilities. In addition, the mathematical modeling servers for the subsequent control design phase. In this manner the average model of the novel converter was developed, pointing out its working capabilities. Then, basing on the average model the control strategy was suggested.

Time-domain simulations. Having already implemented mathematical modeling and control design, the following phase is to verify the converter concept via numerical simulations, primarily in open-loop operation and then with the suggested control method. Based on the obtained results it is already possible with certain degree of confidence to declare feasibility of the proposed converter structure.

Hardware-in-the-loop tests. Nowadays, the hardware-in-the-loop (HIL) test has become an essential stage of the embedded software verification and concept validation process. There are several reasons why HIL tests are highly recommended before actual deployment of new control algorithms on a controller linked with its plant. First, software can be tested even before the actual hardware is built or available. Second, the risk of damaging the hardware due to control errors is eliminated. Third, real operating and abnormal conditions can be easily created to test the control actions and system behaviour. Eventually, modern HIL platforms allow to run very complex systems at full scale, which is not always possible to realize, especially in laboratory environment [143].

Prototype assembling and experimental verifications. Hardware-in-the-loop tests are only intermediate step to identify hardware implementation challenges. Therefore, the next stage is to built a laboratory, down-scaled prototype. At this point the robustness of the control can be extensively verified since it must account uncertainties and non-linearities that come along with the converter operation, e.g., measurement uncertainties, internal element uncertainties, inductor saturation, etc. Basing on the performed experimental test, a preliminary conclusion about the converter's dynamic and steady-state behavior can be drawn.

1.6 Thesis Outline

In the following chapters, the details about the design of the high-power modular multilevel converter with interleaved half-bridge submodules will be presented. This thesis focuses on the general design principles to justify the feasibility of the introduced power converter. The organization of this thesis is as follows.

Chapter 1 presents the necessary review on the three principal areas that are dealt with in this thesis report. First of all, the most significant publications of the modular multilevel converters domain are summarized, providing necessary MMC-related terminology and description of

typical MMC structures and applications, modulation and control schemes as well as operating issues. Similar overview has been prepared for the field of interleaved converters. Finally, some emerging technologies, where the proposed converter structure can benefit the most, are discussed as well, highlighting the key application-related requirements. The rest of the chapter is dedicated to main objectives of the thesis and followed methodology.

Chapter 2 introduces a detailed explanation of the modeling principles for the new converter and derives equations that form the basis for the subsequent control system design. To drive the converter an advanced modulation scheme is adopted. The chapter is structured in the manner to point out the principle similarities/differences between classical MMCs with half-bridge submodules and the novel MMC based on interleaved half-bridge submodules. In this context, their control design, structural and performance characteristics, including efficiency analysis are confronted basing on either general converter design or comparable, application-specific converter configurations. In either way, each concept is supported by an analytical example and/or simulation results. The overall control system is deduced and verified by means of timedomain simulations and hardware-in-the-loop tests, performed by using the same per-phase converter arrangement and initial parameters.

Chapter 3 is dedicated to examination and resolution of the converter-specific problem, namely currents balancing within the new submodule structure. The solution is obtained by means of a devoted control loop that is designed and integrated into converter's overall control layout. To do so a new capacitor voltage balancing strategy is implemented. Its main features and performance characteristics are pointed out. The chapter is finalized by the presentation of numerical simulations and experimental results from a down-scaled laboratory setup.

Chapter 4 presents an advanced, current sensorless version of the current balancing method discussed in Chapter 3. The upgraded method relies on the currents estimation rather than their direct measurements. Advantages and limitations of the new method are discussed in great detail, verifying its workability in the frame of converter's overall control organization. These concepts are also validated though extensive numerical simulations and experimentally in a down-scaled laboratory prototype.

Finally, **Chapter 5** summarizes the major contributions of the dissertation as well as discusses on directions for future work. Last but not the least, **Appendix A** contains comprehensive description of efficiency computation procedure that is common for all MMC-based converter architectures. **Appendix B** provides the full description of the down-scaled laboratory setup that has been built in the frame of this thesis work.

Chapter **2**

Modular Multilevel Converters with Interleaved Half-Bridge Submodules

2.1 Introduction

In this chapter, fundamental aspects of modular multilevel converter with interleaved halfbridge submodules are considered. The ISM-MMC has more complex internal dynamics with respect to classical MMC structures. Therefore, this chapter starts with a detailed description of the proposed converter topology for the following dynamics analysis. Further, operating principle and the average model of the converter are presented in Section 2.3. Converter's control system design with regard to its operation in the rectification mode is considered in Section 2.4. A novel, topology-specific modulation scheme is given in Section 2.5. It follows by modified submodule energy balancing methods, which are summarized in Section 2.6. Average modeling, in Section 2.3, is structured on a per-phase basis. Nevertheless, generally speaking, the presented theory is applicable to any single- or multi-phase ISM-MMCs. Since the converter dynamics can be reasonably modeled on a per-phase basis, the explicit phase notation in most of the expressions has been generally omitted for short notation unless otherwise is stated. It should be mentioned though that typically the vast majority of high-power applications, where initially ISM-MMC is meant to be, are three-phase based. For this reason, a comparative analysis of several three-phase designs of classical MMC and newly proposed ISM-MMC is prepared in Section 2.7. This analysis is supported by numerical simulations introduced in the same section. In addition to that efficiency related studies with respect to compared structures are summarized in Section 2.8. Verification of ISM-MMC concept and its control method is supported by hardware-in-the-loop (HIL) simulations in Sections 2.9. The chapter is finished by an overview of main ISM-MMCs' features in Section 2.10.

2.2 Fundamentals

A structural representation of an *M* phase (typically 3 phase) MMC using a half-bridge (HB) submodule configuration is shown in Figure 2.1a. The depicted MMC employs two arm arrangement in each phase leg, commonly labeled as the upper (u) and lower (l) arms. Each MMC arm consists of *N* series connected power submodules and an arm inductor. Every SM is made



Figure 2.1 – General circuit scheme of (a) the standard MMC converter with half-bridge submodule and (b) the proposed ISM-MMC converter with interleaved half-bridge submodule [144]. © 2022 IEEE

up by a single half-bridge leg joined in parallel with a capacitor. The output terminals of the submodule are the midpoint of the half-bridge leg and one of the sides of the capacitor (here low side is taken by default). The arm inductor has a purpose to limit the current spikes caused by the insertion or bypass of the SM's capacitor [145]. The voltage level and power capacity of this type of MMC can be generally increased by the series connection of power submodules in each arm. In relation to the given MMC design, as it was explained in [146] the arm inductor can be evenly distributed among the arm composing submodules without affecting the equivalent circuit of the whole converter. Having an inductor in each SM, it can be further split into *K* equally sized parallel inductors. Then, by connecting each one of these inductors to the midpoint of a dedicated half-bridge leg and linking their outputs, a new configuration of a submodule with *K* parallel-connected legs can be derived. It should be highlighted that the *K* parallel-connected "inductor – HB-leg" assemblies can commutate simultaneously (this

idea was partially supported by [22]) or in interleaved mode with a proper modulation [146]. The proposed MMC with interleaved half-bridge submodules [146] is labeled as ISM-MMC and illustrated in Figure 2.1b. It should be noted that the interleaved half-bridge legs on the dc side share a common floating capacitor. This fact does not introduce extra complexity for the capacitor voltage balancing algorithms that are well established for classical MMCs. This aspect is rigorously discussed in Section 2.6.

Similarly to HB-based submodules in a classical MMC [71], the interleaved submodules can be switched in three different ways (cf. Figure 2.1b):

- **Inserted:** Any combination of the switches $S_{11},...S_{1K}$ (either one, some or all of them) is turned on and the corresponding switches $S_{21},...S_{2K}$ are off. This action inserts the submodule capacitor into the arm circuit. Depending on the direction of the arm current the capacitor charges or discharges.
- **Bypassed:** All switches *S*₁₁,...*S*_{1*K*} are turned off and the switches *S*₂₁,...*S*_{2*K*} are on. In this operating mode the submodule capacitor is bypassed. Disregarding the capacitor self-discharge, its voltage remains constant.
- **Blocked:** All switches $S_{11},...,S_{1K}$ and $S_{21},...,S_{2K}$ are turned off. This mode is typically used (with reference to classical MMCs) for energizing the converter, due to the fact that the submodule capacitor may charge through the anti-parallel diodes of switches $S_{11},...,S_{1K}$.

The current rating of 'inductor – HB-leg' units in the proposed submodule can be *K* times lower in comparison with switches and arm inductor in a classical MMC (cf. Figure 2.1a). Alternatively, the total rated current of the new SM can be *K* times higher than the classical HB-based SM, preserving properties of individual HB-legs. Therefore, ISM-MMC introduces an additional way for increasing power capacity of the standard MMC structures by stepping up both voltage and current levels. In this context, the proposed ISM-MMC is well suited for all voltage levels, high-current applications. The concepts of power scalability and/or power partitioning, discussed in [22], [23], with ISM-MMC gain an extra degree of freedom in comparison with classical MMCs, namely power expansion on the submodule level. Since the degree of modularity in each of MMC levels: number of phases, number of series connected cells (SMs) and number of parallel (interleaved) HB legs in SMs are independent from each other, these three axes can be considered as orthogonal to one another, enabling a representation as shown in Figure 2.2. Here, each cube represents a specific design with a certain degree of modularity in each of the axes.

For instance, an element close to origin would represent a design with low-level of modularity in all axes, i.e., a single-phase, single-cell MMC. On the other hand, an element distant from the origin would represent a highly expansive structure, i.e., a multi-phase, multi-cell ISM-MMC.

Number of components in power electronic converters and in particular switching devices is very important aspect of the converter design. It is commonly accepted that the fewer components it is better. However, it is not always true, especially in high-power converter designs, where converter's availability and resiliency play even bigger role. For example, when it comes to HVDC applications or medium-voltage drives, modular multilevel converter structures are highly appreciated. In those converter designs to have extra redundant submodules is a common practice. It is also known that in order to achieve better quality of ac waveforms and eventually optimize power losses, the choice of switches with the highest blocking voltage in the market is usually avoided due to higher losses and thermal stress [147, 148]. Hence, even though it is possible to build an MMC with fewer components, nevertheless most of the commercially available MMCs follow the optimum design procedure, resulting in greater number of semiconductors.



Figure 2.2 – Graphical representation of the three main degrees of modularity of ISM-MMC topologies [144]. \bigcirc 2022 IEEE

Similar discussion can be applied to an ISM-MMC, while in this case the optimization can be achieved with an extra degree of freedom.Nevertheless, this converter's optimal design falls out of scope of the current work.

Another optimization in ISM-MMC can be associated with interleaved inductors. An interleaved inductor design is very attractive method to downsize magnetic components and improve power conversion efficiency in ISM-MMC. Several design techniques of magnetic components for interleaved converters have been proposed in literature. Among these methods, winding connection and magnetic integration techniques have gained the most attention. For example, authors in [149] proposed a three-phase interleaved isolated LLC converter with Y-connected windings on the primary or secondary side to balance the power transfer in each phase. Similarly, integrated magnetic components, consisted of multiple windings installed on a single magnetic core, are known as effective method to minimize interleaved inductors [150]. Nevertheless, this dissertation work is focused on the proof of ISM-MMC concept rather than on its optimization. Therefore, subjects concerning optimum design of the converter and its main components have been leaved out of scope of the current work.

The proposed ISM-MMC has an additional feature that has not been discussed so far, namely the possibility not only sharing high-current among the parallel HB legs in each SM but also to further enhance the quality of ac voltage waveforms by applying the interleaving concept. This ISM-MMC property leads to a very modest filtering requirements on the grid side. This aspect is covered in great detail in following section.

2.3 Operating Principle and Average Model

Assuming a balanced and constant dc-link bus voltage equal to V_{dc} (cf. Figure 2.1b), then the per phase relation among each x^{th} phase (for three-phase system x = a,b,c) voltage, corresponding arm voltages and dc-link voltage in ISM-MMC can be expressed as:

$$\frac{V_{dc}}{2} - v_u = v, \quad -\frac{V_{dc}}{2} + v_l = v \tag{2.1}$$

being v_u upper and v_l lower arm voltages, v ac phase voltage. Here and throughout the whole paper, for simplicity, the phase label (x) is generally omitted unless it is strictly necessary to indicate relation to a particular phase. The presented equations are derived per phase. The phase voltage then is defined as a voltage between ac terminal x and midpoint of dc-link o.

The arm voltages v_u and v_l , which are measured between the midpoint of the converter's arm and the corresponding dc rails, can be represented as a sum of composing submodule voltages:

$$v_{u,l} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} v_{SMn|u,l}$$
(2.2)

where $v_{SMn|u,l}$ is the n^{th} submodule's voltage of the upper or lower arm. It can be derived as:

$$v_{SMn} = \frac{1}{K} \left[L \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{di_{n,k}}{dt} + R \sum_{k=1}^{K} i_{n,k} + v_{cap,n} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k} \right]$$
(2.3)

where *K* is the number of legs inside the submodule (with K = 1 the classical MMC (Figure 2.1a) can be obtained, while K > 1 presents the case of the interleaved configuration, Figure 2.1b) and *n* represents an ordinal number of the corresponding n^{th} SM of the upper or lower arm. Parameters L and R respectively are the equivalent inductance and resistance of a HB-leg path, which normally account series/parallel (e.g., on-state resistance of a power switch) and parasitic values within the HB-leg. However, for now, unless otherwise is specified, all these additives are not considered and R, L values are entirely composed by internal resistance and inductance of a leg inductor inside of each SM, respectively. Here for simplicity, the main components' parameters (R, L and C) are assumed to be equal among similar ones, unless otherwise is stated. The term $i_{n,k}$ is the current of the k^{th} leg inside the n^{th} SM. It is worth to note that $i_{n,k}$ is equal to $i_{u,l}$ in case of classical MMC being the SM composed of only one HB-leg. Finally, v_{cap} and sum of firing signals $g_{n,k}$ ($g_{n,k}$ can have value either 0 or 1) represent capacitor voltage and the corresponding number of HB legs in the *n*th SM, where the top switch is "on". An interesting observation can be made here, namely, unlike in the classical MMC with HB submodules, the submodule voltage $v_{SMn|u,l}$, as well as the arm voltages v_u and v_l in ISM-MMC comprise voltage drops on interleaved inductors. Therefore, strictly speaking, the corresponding voltages from these both topologies cannot be directly compared, unless they properly matched.

As it can be noted from Equation (2.3), the aforementioned enhancement effect of converter's ac voltage is achieved due to the fact that the voltage across ac terminals of each submodule is actually multilevel itself. In fact, in total, there are K + 1 open-circuit voltage levels ranging between "0" and " v_{cap} ". In fact, this comes directly from Equation (2.3) by setting the sum of all interleaved currents (i.e., arm current) to zero ($\sum_{k=1}^{K} i_{n,k} = 0$), which corresponds to opencircuit operation of the converter. Similarly, the concept "K + 1 voltage levels" can be explained by Millman's theorem. Having identical inductor values, the open-circuit voltage across ac terminals is simply the average of composing pole voltages of the parallel branches. Depending on state of the HB-legs' switches, the corresponding pole voltage can be either "0" or " v_{cap} ". By applying the interleaving concept, the averaging of pole voltages will result in multilevel voltage structure with the following states: 0, v_{cap}/K , $2v_{cap}/K$, ..., $(K-1)v_{cap}/K$, v_{cap} . For instance, in interleaved SM with three HB-legs (K = 3) the following combinations of gate signals for upper switches (*S*₁₁,..., *S*_{1K}) are possible: [000], [001], [010], [011], [100], [101], [110], and [111] (cf. submodule structure in Figure 2.1b). Therefore, in open-circuit operation with zero arm current one can count four possible levels: 0, $v_{cap}/3$, $2v_{cap}/3$, v_{cap} . Depending on the direction of the arm current, the capacitor voltage either increases or decreases. When all top switches are "off",

the ac output submodule voltage is equal to "0". In this mode, the capacitor voltage remains constant, irrespective of the current direction.

The phase (*i*) and converter's leg-common mode (i_{cir}) currents in the ISM-MMC are alike in classical MMCs and they can be defined as:

$$i = i_u - i_l, \quad i_{cir} = \frac{i_u + i_l}{2}$$
 (2.4)

where i_u and i_l are the upper and lower arm currents, respectively. Combining relations from Equation (2.4) allows to express arm currents in the following form:

$$i_u = \frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}, \quad i_l = -\frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}$$
 (2.5)

Therefore, according to Figure 2.1b, sum of the mean values of currents flowing through *M* upper/lower arms with constant dc-link voltage equals to mean dc current.

$$I_{dc} = \sum_{m=1}^{M} \bar{i}_{m|u,l}$$
(2.6)

This implies that under balanced ac-side conditions the average values of arm currents are given by

$$\bar{i}_u = \bar{i}_l = \bar{i}_{cir} = \frac{I_{dc}}{M}$$
(2.7)

According to Equation (2.7), in order to keep rms value of converter's leg-common mode current and corresponding to that losses at their minimum, it is necessary to maintain this current with only dc component present.

Another useful relation comes from circuit of interleaved SM and Kirchhoff's current law, namely the sum of the individual leg currents in is equal to the arm current $i_{u,l}$:

$$i_{u,l} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} i_{n,k|u,l}$$
(2.8)

By combining Equations (2.1)-(2.4) and (2.8) the two equations that govern phase and converter's leg-common mode currents are:

$$\frac{NL}{2K}\frac{di}{dt} = \frac{1}{2K}\sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[v_{cap,n|l} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|l} - v_{cap,n|u} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u} \right] - \frac{NR}{2K}i - v$$

$$\frac{NL}{K}\frac{di_{cir}}{dt} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2} - \frac{1}{2K}\sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[v_{cap,n|l} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|l} + v_{cap,n|u} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u} \right] - \frac{NR}{K}i_{cir}$$
(2.9)

Let us define sum capacitor voltage per arm as $v_{cap|u,l}^{\Sigma}$ so the following equation holds:

$$v_{cap|u,l}^{\Sigma} = \sum_{n=1}^{N} v_{cap,n|u,l}$$
(2.10)

To guarantee stable and efficient operation of the MMC-like converters in most of industrial applications, all capacitor voltages must be kept around the same mean value, unless their imbalance is required by the design. The active submodule balancing usually allows to mitigate the individual differences between the capacitor voltages, so they can be neglected in the

dynamic model of the converter. Therefore, the individual SM capacitor voltages in Equation (2.9) can be approximated, with decent accuracy, by the averaged value of sum capacitor voltage per arm $v_{cap|u,l}^{\Sigma}/N$.

Normalized sum of SM's firing signals in Equation (2.9) represent the so-called "submodule insertion index".

$$u_{n|u,l} = \frac{1}{K} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u,l}$$
(2.11)

In classical MMC structures with HB submodules it can take values either 0 or 1, whereas in ISM-MMC it can attain K + 1 states within [0,1] range (i.e., 0, 1/K,...,(K-1)/K, 1). Value $u_{n|u,l} = 0$ indicates that top switches in all HB-legs inside the interleaved SM are turned "off", so the SM capacitor is bypassed, and $u_{n|u,l} = 1$ shows that the top switches are turned "on", so the submodule voltage equal to the capacitor voltage with small voltage drop on the equivalent SM's inductor. Having number of interleaved half-bridges inside the SM (K) large enough, it allows approximating the submodule insertion index as continuous on [0,1].

Normalized sum of submodule insertion indices within an arm denotes as "per-arm insertion indices".

$$u_{u,l} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} u_{n|u,l} = \frac{1}{NK} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u,l}$$
(2.12)

In classical MMC built by HB submodules it can attain any value from [0,1] range with 1/N discrete steps (in total N + 1 state). Likewise, in ISM-MMC the range is the same [0,1], however the total number of discrete states is NK + 1:0, 1/(NK),...,(NK - 1)/(NK), 1. Again, if the joint number of submodules and interleaved HB-legs, NK, is large enough the insertion indices can be considered continuous on [0,1] range.

Inductances *L* and internal resistances *R* of the individual inductors in SMs can be easly matched to K/N times of the arm inductance L_{arm} , as depicted in Figure 2.1b:

$$L = \frac{K}{N} L_{arm}, \quad R = \frac{K}{N} R_{arm}$$
(2.13)

Assumptions and simplification introduced by Equations (2.10)-(2.13) allow Equation (2.9) to attain more elegant form as:

$$\underbrace{\frac{NL}{2K}}_{Larm} \frac{di}{dt} = \underbrace{\frac{1}{2K} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[v_{cap,n|l} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|l} - v_{cap,n|u} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u} \right]}_{(u_{l}v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma} - u_{u}v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma})/2 = v_{s}} - \underbrace{\frac{NR}{2K}}_{Rarm} i - v$$

$$\underbrace{\frac{NL}{K}}_{Larm} \frac{di_{cir}}{dt} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2} - \underbrace{\frac{1}{2K} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[v_{cap,n|l} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|l} + v_{cap,n|u} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u} \right]}_{(u_{l}v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma} + u_{u}v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma})/2 = v_{cir}} - \underbrace{\frac{NR}{2K}}_{Rarm} i - v$$

$$\underbrace{\frac{NL}{K}}_{Rarm} \frac{di_{cir}}{dt} = \frac{V_{dc}}{2} - \underbrace{\frac{1}{2K} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \left[v_{cap,n|l} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|l} + v_{cap,n|u} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u} \right]}_{(u_{l}v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma} + u_{u}v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma})/2 = v_{cir}}$$

$$(2.14)$$

The phase and converter's leg-common mode currents are two state variables in the ISM-MMC per-phase dynamic model. In addition, each capacitor voltage as a state variable is governed by:

$$C\frac{dv_{cap,n}}{dt} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} (i_{n,k}g_{n,k})$$
(2.15)

Being fundamental components of individual interleaved currents equal among themselves (this is naturally true if the interleaved currents within a submodule are balanced) and taking into account Equations (2.11), Equation (2.15) can be simplified to:

$$C\frac{dv_{cap,n|u,l}}{dt} \approx \underbrace{i_{u,l}\frac{1}{K}}_{i_{n,k|u,l}} \sum_{k=1}^{K} g_{n,k|u,l} = i_{u,l}u_{n|u,l}$$
(2.16)

Summation over all *N* capacitors in the arm and bearing in mind that the arm current is the same for all the submodules yields

$$C \underbrace{\sum_{n=1}^{N} \frac{dv_{cap,n|u,l}}{dt}}_{dv_{cap|u,l}/dt} = i_{u,l} \underbrace{\sum_{n=1}^{N} u_{n|u,l}}_{Nu_{u,l}}$$
(2.17)

Combining Equations (2.17) and (2.5), the following relations can be obtained

$$\frac{C}{N}\frac{dv_{cap|u}^{\Sigma}}{dt} = u_u \left[\frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}\right], \quad \frac{C}{N}\frac{dv_{cap|l}^{\Sigma}}{dt} = u_l \left[-\frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}\right]$$
(2.18)

Equations (2.14) and (2.18) comprise the averaged dynamic model of the ISM-MMC being identical to the averaged model of a classical MMC [71]. In fact, as it will be shown later, only few modifications are required to be introduced into submodule energy balancing scheme of ISM-MMC in comparison with standard MMC control method. This characteristic makes ISM-MMC solution very attractive for retrofitting already built MMCs when higher power capacity of the new converter is required. In addition to that by taking advantage of a proper modulation for driving interleaved HB-legs of each SM, the output characteristics of the converter can be significantly improved.

2.4 Control Methods

One may notice from derived average models of ISM-MMC that it is equivalent to the one of classical MMC with HB submodules. Therefore, strictly speaking, arm voltage references as control variables can be regulated in a similar manner as it is made for classical MMCs. Literature discusses the functionality of classical control methods for the standard MMC topology in great detail. For example, [71], [72] describe the operating and control principle very clearly. Never-theless, this section refreshes some control methods in relation with the ISM-MMC structure working in the rectification mode (ac/dc). It should be pointed out though that ISM-MMC naturally supports bidirectional power flow. Therefore, inversion mode (dc/ac) is also possible, although it is not covered in this work. Control methods in the section are discussed in relation to a three-phase ISM-MMC, since most of the high-power applications are three-phase based. Thus, Subsections 2.4.2 and 2.4.3 refer to control design in three-phase form with necessary variable transformations. The other subsections are presented in per-phase structure.

Figure 2.3 depicts a block diagram with the high-level control method of ISM-MMC, framed by red dashed line. The latter one resembles the classical MMC control scheme. It includes the phase-locked loop (PLL), which is used for grid synchronization, dc-bus voltage control, circulating current control and arm-energy control. Each one of these blocks is explained in the



Figure 2.3 – Block diagram of the implemented high-level control method for ISM-MMC [144]. © 2022 IEEE

following subsections. Independent sections of the chapter are dedicated to the modulation strategy and submodule energy balancing method. Therefore, they are not covered in the current section.

The proposed ISM-MMC has primary and secondary control objectives, in the same manner as the classical MMC. The submodule energy balancing, and output current control are the primary objectives that directly relate to the operation of ISM-MMC. At the same time, the circulating current control is a secondary objective and associated with size, reliability, and efficiency of a converter. Unlike standard MMC, the ISM-MMC has an additional secondary control objective that deals with equal current sharing among interleaved HB-legs in each SM. This problem becomes quite challenging with an increase of both series connected submodules and interleaved HB-legs. In addition to that, current balancing within a SM in MMC structures is a new control task that has not been addressed yet. Therefore, this subject is discussed separately and scrupulously in Chapter 3. In fact, the current balancing of the interleaved legs is a decoupled control task that is associated with performance of a single submodule and with acceptable level of currents imbalance it does not affect the operational behavior of the whole converter (the output characteristics remain unchanged). This argument is supported by the results of performed HIL simulations in Section 2.9. However, it should be noted that the obvious drawback of such unsupervised SM currents operation is a need in oversizing SMs' components. All these aspects are addressed in Chapter 3.

2.4.1 Dc Voltage Control

Constant dc voltage, which is the objective of dc voltage regulator, means that the mean values of arm currents form dc current in steady state. In other words, oscillations and transients in the dc-link voltage can be provoked by residual ac components and transients between dc current and sum of arm currents. The effective dc-bus dynamics including submodule capacitors has been already derived in [71, 151]. Therefore, since the average models of classical MMC with

HB submodules and ISM-MMC are identical, the derivation process of dc-bus dynamics here is omitted. Instead, it is given in the final form:

$$\underbrace{\left(C_{dc} + \frac{2MC}{N}\right)}_{C'_{dc}} \frac{dv_{dc}}{dt} = i_{dc} - \frac{P}{v_{dc}}$$
(2.19)

being *C* and C_{dc} total capacitance of submodule's and converter's dc-link, respectively. Term C'_{dc} denotes effective dc-link capacitance. It is larger than C_{dc} , due to contribution from the submodule capacitors. Parameters *M* and *N* represent, correspondingly, number of converter's phases and number of submodules in each arm of the converter. Variables v_{dc} and i_{dc} are instantaneous values of dc-bus voltage and current, respectively. Finally, variable *P* is the mean active ac-side power of the converter.

Multiplying both sides of Equation (2.19) by v_{dc} and recalling rules for obtaining derivatives of powers leads to

$$\frac{C_{dc}'}{2}\frac{dv_{dc}^2}{dt} = \underbrace{v_{dc}i_{dc}}_{P_{dc}} - P$$
(2.20)

where W_{dc} is the effective stored dc-bus energy and P_{dc} is the active dc-side power. Traditionally, simple PI controllers are used for dc voltage reference tracking. Output of a PI controller with reference to effective dc-bus energy error can be expressed as

$$P_{fb}^* = \alpha_{p,dc} \left(1 + \frac{\alpha_{i,dc}}{s} \right) \left(W_{dc} - W_{dc}^* \right)$$
(2.21)

By combining Equations (2.20) and (2.21) with the assumption $P = P_{fb}^*$, the following closed-loop system can be obtained:

$$W_{dc} = \frac{\alpha_{p,dc}(s + \alpha_{i,dc})}{s^2 + \alpha_{p,dc}s + \alpha_{p,dc}\alpha_{i,dc}} W_{dc}^* + \frac{s}{s^2 + \alpha_{p,dc}s + \alpha_{p,dc}\alpha_{i,dc}} P_{dc}$$
(2.22)

With $\alpha_{i,dc} > 0$, the transfer function from P_{dc} to W_{dc} has zero static gain, thus, the energy difference $W_{dc} - W_{dc}^*$ will be eliminated regardless of P_{dc} . According to [71] the controller bandwidth can be selected as follows

$$\alpha_{i,dc} < \frac{\alpha_{p,dc}}{2}, \quad \alpha_{p,dc} < \omega$$
 (2.23)

being ω the fundamental angular frequency.



Figure 2.4 – Block diagram of the dc-link voltage controller [71]

A block diagram of the implemented dc-bus voltage controller is depicted in Figure 2.4. In addition to what already has been described, there are two aspects that must be commented. The first one relates to a $H_{dc}(s)$ filter that has been added to the path of measured dc voltage (v_{dc}).
Its purpose to suppress high-frequency ripple and other disturbances. Its bandwidth must not be selected below $\alpha_{p,dc}$, since this would worsen the performance of closed-loop dc-bus voltage dynamics. An appropriate choice would be a second-order Butterworth low-pass or simple moving-average filter. The second aspect concerns the feedforward path (P_{ff}^*) that has been implemented to speed up the convergence of v_{dc} to a steady state value. It requires measurement of the dc-bus current.

2.4.2 Phase-Locked Loop

Many grid synchronization techniques have been developed and proposed in the literature for single-phase [152–155] and three-phase systems [156–159]. Phase-locked loops (PLLs) [153, 157] and frequency-locked loops (FLLs) [154, 158] are two main categories of closed-loop synchronization techniques that are used in power applications. In this work a popular strategy based on a phase-locked loop has been used. In the following discussions when the grid synchronization is mentioned the PLL-based method is considered by default. The PLL is a closed-loop control system that locks its output to the system input with a constant phase error (ideally zero). The PLL provides continuous information about the phase angle and magnitude of the variable of interest (typically, fundamental grid voltage), which are used in many parts of the control scheme. All PLLs, regardless of their differences, consist of three parts, namely phase detector (PD), loop filter (LF) and voltage-controlled oscillator (VCO):

- The **phase detector** generates a phase error signal, in other words, a signal that contains the error between real and estimated phases. Depending on the type of PD that has been used, ac high-frequency components appear along with the dc phase-angle error signal.
- The **loop filter** is a low-pass filter, which is mainly responsible for suppressing ac high-frequency disturbances from the PD output. The dynamic response, tracking characteristics, and stability properties of the PLL are mainly dictated by the LF [153]. Typically, this block is formed by a first-order low-pass filter or a PI controller.
- The **voltage-controlled oscillator** is responsible for generating the synchronized signal with the PLL input.

Several methods can be used to implement each of the aforementioned blocks forming a PLL. A detailed examination of these blocks falls out the scope of this work, instead this subsection provides a necessary description of the PLL method that has been used for ISM-MMC – grid synchronization. Commonly, in literature, this method is labeled as dual second order generalized integrator PLL (DSOGI-PLL). The structure of implemented DSOGI-PLL is presented in Figure 2.5.

The PD of the PLL module (cf. Figure 2.5) is based on a set of two quadrature signal generators (QSGs) for the α and β components of the input vector. An adaptive filter based on second order generalized integrator (SOGI) is applied to the input of phase detector. Joined QSG block with the SOGI-based adaptive filtering is named as second-order generalized integrator QSG (SOGI-QSG). The filtering characteristic of SOGI-QSG attenuates effect of distorting high-order harmonics from the input to output. According to [156] the gain of SOGI-QSG can be set to $k_{pll} = \sqrt{2}$. The output direct v'_{α} , v'_{β} and in-quadrature signals qv'_{α} , qv'_{β} are inputs of a positive-/ negative-sequence calculation unit (PNSC), which computes the sequence components on the $\alpha\beta$ reference frame. Matices $T_{\alpha\beta}$ and T_{dq} are the operators of Clarke's and Park's transformations, respectively. The PLL block is built in synchronous reference frame (SRF) by using positive sequence signals ($\mathbf{V}_{dq}^{\prime+}$) and labeled in Figure 2.5 as SRF-PLL. The loop filter is formed by a



Figure 2.5 – Block diagram of the DSOGI-PLL [156]

PI controller with proportional control-loop bandwidth $\alpha_{p,pll}$ and integrator bandwidth $\alpha_{i,pll}$. Reference [152] provides a detailed description on the PI controller parameters tuning. Therefore, in the following sections these parameters will be given for the specific design examples with reference to [152]. The VCO in SRF-PLL block has been removed and a new sub-block called the frequency/phase-angle generator (FPG) has been added to provide the phase-angle for the sinusoidal functions of the Park transformation. All in all, the implemented DSOGI-PLL generates accurate grid voltage phase ϑ along with positive (\mathbf{V}'_{dq}) and negative (\mathbf{V}'_{dq}) sequence components of the grid voltage in synchronous reference frame. The voltage components are useful for current reference generation (cf. Section 2.4.3) under grid voltage unbalanced conditions. Study of ISM-MMC's operation behaviour under grid unbalanced conditions is outside the work's scope. Operation with balanced grid (balanced phase voltages and currents) is considered only.

2.4.3 Output Current Control

As it was mentioned in Chapter 1, the proposed modular multilevel converter can be used in wide range of high-power applications including traditional MMC applications such as, high-voltage direct current (HVDC) transmissions, static synchronous compensators (STATCOMs), medium-voltage (MV) motor drives [15, 16, 33, 85] and those which have not been considered before suitable for MMCs such as, low-voltage, ultra-fast electrical vehicles (EV) battery charging, dc traction power supplies, large scale hydrogen electrolyzers (HE) [146]. Each application requires different output current control techniques. For instance, voltage-oriented control (VOC) is typically used in EV battery charging applications, dc traction power supplies or HVDC, whereas field-oriented control (FOC) or direct torque control (DTC) is usually designed for MV motor drives. The aforementioned control methods can be realized in stationary *abc*, $\alpha\beta$ or synchronous *dq* reference frames. This section provides fundamental details of the VOC-based output current control loop implemented in stationary $\alpha\beta$ reference frame.

Figure 2.6 illustrates the structure of implemented output current control loop. It consists of two main blocks, namely current reference generator and output-current control loop. The aim of the first block can be understood from its name, which is to generate current reference for the subsequent feedback control actions, given power references (both active and reactive).



Figure 2.6 – Block diagram of the output current control

Active power reference can be obtained as the output of dc-link voltage control loop, depicted in Figure 2.4. Reactive power reference can be attained based on the desirable power factor (typically in the grid-connected applications a unity power factor is required, $Q^* = 0$). Having ideal grid conditions (i.e., the grid voltage is not affected by either harmonic distortion or unbalances), the input three-phase voltage vector (\mathbf{V}_{abc}) from stationary *abc* reference frame can be translated to the *dq* rotating reference frame by using Park's transformation [T_{θ}].

$$[T_{\vartheta}] = [T_{dq}][T_{\alpha\beta}] = \frac{2}{3} \begin{bmatrix} \cos\vartheta & \cos(\vartheta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & \cos(\vartheta + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \\ -\sin\vartheta & -\sin(\vartheta - \frac{2\pi}{3}) & -\sin(\vartheta + \frac{2\pi}{3}) \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.24)

$$[T_{dq}] = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\vartheta & \sin\vartheta \\ -\sin\vartheta & \cos\vartheta \end{bmatrix}, \quad [T_{\alpha\beta}] = \frac{2}{3} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -\frac{1}{2} & -\frac{1}{2} \\ 0 & \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} & -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.25)

From (2.24), the $[T_{\vartheta}]$ transformation has been rescaled by using a 2/3 factor in order to detect the amplitude of the sinusoidal input signal. Therefore, in the steady state, the *d* component (v_d) resembles the amplitude of the sinusoidal positive-sequence input voltage (v'_d) that can be obtained by DSOGI-PLL block (cf. Figure 2.5).

The active and reactive power produced/consumed by the grid converter can be calculated by

$$P = \frac{3}{2}(v_d i_d + v_q i_q), \quad Q = \frac{3}{2}(v_q i_d - v_d i_q)$$
(2.26)

Assuming that the *d* axis is perfectly aligned with the grid voltage (i.e., $v_q = 0$), the active power ($P^* = P$) and the reactive power ($Q^* = Q$) references will therefore be proportional to reference currents i_d^* and i_q^* respectively:

$$i_d^* = \frac{2P^*}{3v_d}, \quad i_q^* = -\frac{2Q^*}{3v_d}$$
 (2.27)

Multiplying the dq reference current vector (\mathbf{I}_{dq}^*) by reverse matrix operator $[T_{dq}^{-1}]$, the $\alpha\beta$ reference current vector $(\mathbf{I}_{\alpha\beta}^*)$ can be obtained. Here the job of the reference generator block is done. The next step is to apply this current reference in the feedback path of the output-current control loop (cf. Figure 2.6).

In [71] several sections are dedicated to output-current controller design. This method is applied in the current work. Therefore, here only necessary comments will be made, while the detailed description of the derived control concept can be found in [71]. The control loop is based on the first expression in the set of Equations (2.14):

$$\frac{L_{arm}}{2}\frac{di}{dt} = v_s - v - \frac{R_{arm}}{2}i \implies i = \frac{2}{sL_{arm} + R_{arm}}(v_s - v)$$
(2.28)

and includes proportional-resonant (PR) feedback controller and feedforward path. The entire control block is built in stationary $\alpha\beta$ reference frame, therefore, the input measured quantities, such as grid phase voltages (\mathbf{V}_{abc}) and currents (\mathbf{I}_{abc} , computed with help of Equation (2.4), given vectors $\mathbf{I}_{u,abc}$ and $\mathbf{I}_{l,abc}$) must be translated into $\alpha\beta$ reference frame ($\mathbf{V}_{\alpha\beta}$ and $\mathbf{I}_{\alpha\beta}$, respectively). This operation is done by the transform matrix [$T_{\alpha\beta}$]. The control law, thus, can be formulated as follows

$$\mathbf{V}_{s,\alpha\beta}^{\prime*} = \mathbf{V}_{\alpha\beta} - k_{p,oc}\varepsilon_{oc} - \frac{k_{i,oc}s}{s^2 + \omega^2}\varepsilon_{oc}, \quad \varepsilon_{oc} = \mathbf{I}_{\alpha\beta}^* - \mathbf{I}_{\alpha\beta}$$
(2.29)

where $k_{p,oc}$ and $k_{i,oc}$ are proportional and resonant gains of the PR controller. Term ε_{oc} represents current error. The minus sings in (2.29) indicate that the converter works in rectification mode. The PR controller gains can be selected as suggested in [71]:

$$k_{p,oc} = \frac{\alpha_{c,oc}L}{2}, \quad k_{i,oc} = 2\alpha_{r,oc}k_{p,oc} = \alpha_{r,oc}\alpha_{c,oc}L, \quad \alpha_{r,oc} \ll \alpha_{c,oc}$$
(2.30)

where $\alpha_{c,oc}$ and $\alpha_{r,oc}$ are the desired closed-loop and resonant bandwidth that associate with output current controller, respectively.

The voltage reference ($\mathbf{V}_{s,\alpha\beta}^{*}$) computed by Equation (2.29) is an ideal value that needs to be bounded by the range [$-V_{dc}/2, V_{dc}/2$]. Therefore, a saturation block is introduced into the path. A windup effect may occur in resonant path due to the saturation block. It introduces a non-linearity in the control loop that makes the control error larger than in the unsaturated situation. There are several possible ways to prevent windup. In this work, method, known as *back calculation* has been applied. The *back calculation* results in a modified control error ($\varepsilon_{oc}^{\prime}$), which can be computed by:

$$\varepsilon_{oc}' = \varepsilon_{oc} + \frac{1}{k_{p,oc}} (\mathbf{V}_{s,\alpha\beta}^* - \mathbf{V}_{s,\alpha\beta}'^*)$$
(2.31)

The modified control error (ε'_{oc}) is used as the input signal to the resonant part (cf. Figure 2.6), effectively preventing the windup effect. The last operation in the control loop is the back transform of voltage reference $\mathbf{V}^*_{s,\alpha\beta}$ into stationary *abc* reference frame ($\mathbf{V}^*_{s,abc}$) by reverse matrix operator [$T^{-1}_{\alpha\beta}$].

2.4.4 Circulating Current Control

Circulating current is a major issue in classical MMCs related to the performance and stability of the converters. Converter's leg-common mode current can be decomposed into two main components, namely purely dc (\bar{i}_{cir} , cf. Equation (2.7)) and ac (Δi_{cir}) parts, typically referred as circulating current. The circulating current originates from the voltage difference between the upper and lower arms of the converter leg or/and between the phase converters' legs. It consists of low- and high-frequency (switching harmonics) parts with the dominant element as negative sequence component at twice the fundamental frequency. Circulating currents from converters' phase legs do not enter the dc link (they sum up to zero), nor are they visible from the ac terminals, it can be said that they circulate inside of the converter. Nevertheless, circulating currents cause an increase of the peak/rms value of the arm currents (cf. Equation (2.5)). As a result, the current ratings of the converter components must be extended. Furthermore, power losses, and ripple in submodule capacitor voltages increase as well [15, 42]. According to Equation (2.7), to keep the converter losses and the rms arm currents at a minimum, it is desirable that the converter's leg-common mode current i_{cir} should be pure dc. Several active methods have been proposed in literature to reduce the circulating current. For instance, authors in [151] use an active resistance (proportional controller) to control circulating current, which includes an estimate of the arm resistance. Implementing the double fundamental frequency abc - dqtransformation, reference [160] proposes to eliminate the circulating currents by controlling their dq components with a pair of PI controllers. Alternatively, resonant regulators are employed to control the circulating currents in the stationary *abc* frame. References [161–163] target the elimination of the ac components of the leg-common mode currents through a PR controller. In this approach, the PR regulators are designed to eliminate the specific harmonic frequency components such as second- and fourth-order harmonics from the circulating current. Another paper [164] proposes a control method based on weighted model predictive control (MPC) with a normalized cost function to select the converter switching patterns, which control the load current, while minimizing voltage fluctuation and circulating current. Although the main control strategy regarding circulating currents is to suppress them completely, it has been recently proven that the injection of a specific circulating current can be used to reduce losses [165] and also capacitor voltage ripples [166].

Section 2.3 provides fundamental aspects of the newly introduced ISM-MMC topology, clearly demonstrating that the average models of ISM-MMC and classical MMC with HB submodules are matching. Thus, circulating current issue in ISM-MMCs can be addressed in a similar way as for the MMC. This work does not aim to develop a new strategy for suppressing circulating currents in ISM-MMCs, therefore a commonly applied method in classical MMC structures based on PR regulator is taken as a design reference. This circulating current control loop is adapted to suit the voltage control scheme presented in Figure 2.3 and it is implemented in the stationary *abc* frame. The circulating-current dynamics can be explained based on the second expression of Equation (2.14):

$$L_{arm}\frac{di_{cir}}{dt} = \frac{v_{dc}}{2} - v_{cir} - R_{arm}i_{cir} \implies i_{cir} = \frac{1}{sL_{arm} + R_{arm}} \left[\frac{v_{dc}}{2} - v_{cir}\right]$$
(2.32)

Internal voltage v_{cir} can be represented as its time delayed reference v_{cir}^* and an additive parasitic component Δv_{cir} . The latter comprises switching harmonics and negative sequence component at twice the fundamental frequency. To suppress the double fundamental frequency harmonic a resonant term is incorporated into the circulating current regulator. On top of it, a feedforward term $V_{dc}/2 - R_{arm}i_{cir}^*$ can be included into the control law to compensate for the resistive voltage drop and term $V_{dc}/2$ in Equation (2.32). As a result, the following control law is obtained

$$v_{cir}^* = \frac{V_{dc}}{2} - R_{arm}i_{cir}^* - R_{cir} \left[1 + \frac{k_{i,cirs}}{s^2 + (2\omega)^2} \right] (i_{cir}^* - i_{cir})$$
(2.33)

where R_{cir} represents a proportional gain and it commonly referred in literature as an "active resistance" or "virtual resistance" [71, 151]. The reference i_{cir}^* can be derived as sum of desired dc value (cf. Equation (2.7)) and an additive component Δi_{cir}^* .

$$i_{cir}^* = \underbrace{\frac{I_{dc}}{M}}_{\vec{i}_{cir}} + \Delta i_{cir}^*$$
(2.34)

The current reference increment (Δi_{cir}^*) arises from action of arm-energy control and it is discussed in Subsection 2.4.5. The desired value of converter's leg-common mode current \bar{i}_{cir} can be extracted from indirectly measured value of i_{cir} (cf. Equation (2.4)) by applying a Butterworth second-order low-pass filter (LPF). Figure 2.7 depicts a block diagram of entire circulating current control loop.



Figure 2.7 – Block diagram of the circulating current control

The circulating current regulator must be tuned in a way to provide decent rejection of the parasitic component Δv_{cir} and for reducing the time constant of arm *RL* circuit (from L_{arm}/R_{arm} to $L_{arm}/(R_{arm} + R_{cir})$], however it should not be faster than the output current controller.

$$R_{arm} \ll R_{cir} \le k_{p,oc} \tag{2.35}$$

where $k_{p,oc}$ is the proportional gain of the output current controller. The resonant gain $k_{i,cir}$ can be selected based on the bandwidth of resonant path:

$$k_{i,cir} = 2\alpha_{2,cir}, \quad \alpha_{2,cir} < \omega \tag{2.36}$$

2.4.5 Arm-Energy Control

The employment of distributed floating capacitors in the MMC structures results in high complexity of internal dynamics (dynamics between SMs of the same arm, upper and lower arms of the same converter's leg, and different phase legs). Such a converter is particularly hard to stabilize over the wide range of operating modes. The topic of active arm/leg capacitor voltage control, and arm/leg energy control, considering both normal and abnormal cases has been broadly investigated in literature [71, 151, 167–172]. Early investigations of MMC structures identified the importance of controlling the converter's internally stored capacitive energy for stable operation [151, 169, 172]. The total energy stored inside the MMC can be controlled from either dc or ac side, depending on the operating mode (inverter/rectifier). Nevertheless, for ensuring equal average energy distribution among all arms, the MMC control method should guarantee the energy equalization between the phase legs, referred as horizontal balancing, and the balancing of the energy between the upper and lower arms in each phase, referred as vertical balancing. Apart from securing equal energy distribution among the converters' arms, the control algorithm must ensure equal distribution of energy among the SMs within the same arm [167, 171]. Dedicated control methods are designed to deal with this problem and they commonly referred in literature as submodule energy control. This subject is discussed in a separate Section 2.6, hence is not covered in the current subsection. Henceforward, the term arm-energy balancing denotes the arm/leg energy transfers, while assuming uniform energy distribution among the SMs of one arm. References [71, 151, 167, 169] provide comprehensive analysis of the internal energy dynamics of the classical MMC with HB submodules and suggest effective control strategies. The structural changes performed on the standard MMC to derive ISM-MMC architecture do not affect the internal energy distribution, due to the fact that interleaved submodules employ a unique, shared floating capacitor in the similar manner as it is implemented in the typical HB-based SM. Therefore, control methods designed for the classical MMC can be equally employed for ISM-MMC. Current work does not aim to go in depth of the existing arm-energy control methods nor introduce a new one, hence, a typical closed-loop energy balancing scheme [71] is used to regulate energy transfer inside of the proposed ISM-MMC. It is achieved through the so-called arm-differential (Δ) and arm-sum (Σ) energy control mechanisms. Considerations of arm-energy balancing given unbalanced or abnormal ISM-MMC operations fall out of the work's scope.

Given the ac phase $(v_{s,x}^*)$ and internal $(v_{cir,x}^*)$ voltage references and in the accordance with the underbraced expressions in Equation (2.14), the reference modulating signals (insertion indexes per arm) can be formulated as:

$$u_{ux}^{*} = \frac{v_{cir,x}^{*} - v_{s,x}^{*}}{v_{cap|ux}^{\Sigma}}, \quad u_{lx}^{*} = \frac{v_{cir,x}^{*} + v_{s,x}^{*}}{v_{cap|lx}^{\Sigma}}$$
(2.37)

By substituting Equation (2.37) into Equation (2.18) and dropping the phase label *x*, the steady-state sum-capacitor-voltage ripples per phase can be calculated by:

$$\frac{C}{N}\frac{dv_{cap|u}^{\Sigma}}{dt} = \frac{v_{cir}^{*} - v_{s}^{*}}{v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma}} \left[\frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}\right], \quad \frac{C}{N}\frac{dv_{cap|l}^{\Sigma}}{dt} = \frac{v_{cir}^{*} + v_{s}^{*}}{v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma}} \left[-\frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}\right]$$
(2.38)

By multiply both sides of these two relations respectively by $v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma}$ and $v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma}$, while bearing in mind the derivative rule for a power function, Equation (2.38) can be transformed into:

$$\frac{C}{2N} \frac{d(v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma})^{2}}{dt} = (v_{cir}^{*} - v_{s}^{*}) \left[\frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}\right], \quad \underbrace{\frac{C}{2N} \frac{d(v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma})^{2}}{dt}}_{dW_{l}/dt} = (v_{cir}^{*} + v_{s}^{*}) \left[-\frac{i}{2} + i_{cir}\right]$$
(2.39)

The left-hand side of expressions in Equation (2.39) represent time derivative of total stored upper (W_u) and lower (W_l) arm energy. Having the total per phase energy (W_{Σ}) and imbalance energy (W_{Δ}) defined as:

$$W_{\Sigma} = W_u + W_l, \quad W_{\Delta} = W_u - W_l \tag{2.40}$$

Equation (2.39) can be further simplified, leading to the following form:

$$\frac{dW_{\Sigma}}{dt} = 2v_{cir}^* i_{cir} - v_s^* i, \quad \frac{dW_{\Delta}}{dt} = v_{cir}^* i - 2v_s^* i_{cir}$$
(2.41)

Some assumptions can be made at this stage, namely $v_{cir}^* = V_{dc}/2$ (fairly enough since $v_{cir} \approx V_{dc}/2$) and the leg's common-mode current i_{cir} are assumed to be pure dc ($i_{cir} = I_{dc}/M = P_{dc}/(MV_{dc})$), while phase voltage reference v_s^* and phase current i can be treated as pure sinusoids, given by

$$v_s^* = \sqrt{2}V_s cos\vartheta, \quad i = \sqrt{2}Icos(\vartheta - \varphi)$$
 (2.42)

where V_s and I are rms values of converter's phase voltage and current. Angles ϑ and φ represent respectively fundamental grid voltage angle and current phase angle (lagging) relative to the voltage. Given the assumptions and in accordance with Equation (2.41), the dc component of the leg's common-mode current affects the total energy (Σ) stored within a leg. Hence, it deals energy balancing in horizontal direction. Instead, the ac component of the leg's common-mode current affects the energy difference (Δ) between two arms of the same leg. Thus, it is responsible for the vertical balancing. Introducing aforementioned assumptions into Equation (2.41) and integrating it over fundamental period, yields

$$W_{\Sigma} = W_{\Sigma}^{*} - \underbrace{\frac{V_{s}I}{2\omega}sin(2\vartheta - \varphi)}{\Delta W_{\Sigma}}$$

$$W_{\Delta} = W_{\Delta}^{*} - \underbrace{\left[\frac{2\sqrt{2}V_{s}P_{dc}}{MV_{dc}\omega}sin\vartheta - \frac{\sqrt{2}V_{dc}I}{2\omega}sin(\vartheta - \varphi)\right]}_{\Delta W_{\Delta}}$$
(2.43)

where W_{Σ}^* and W_{Δ}^* are the integration constants, which are represented by

$$W_{\Sigma}^* = rac{CV_{dc}^2}{N}, \quad W_{\Delta}^* = 0$$
 (2.44)

By regulating the average values of W_{Σ} and W_{Δ} to W_{Σ}^* and W_{Δ}^* , respectively, brings the mean values of $v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma}$ and $v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma}$ to the desired voltage V_{dc} . To achieve that an increment of reference circulating current ($\Delta i_{cir,x}^*$) needs to be generated and added to the circulating current controller scheme (cf. Figure 2.7).

$$\Delta i_{cir,x}^* = k_{\Sigma} (W_{\Sigma}^* - \underbrace{\frac{(2\omega)^2}{s^2 + \alpha_{f2,W}s + (2\omega)^2}}_{H_{2,W}(s)} \Delta W_{\Sigma}) + k_{\Delta} (W_{\Delta}^* - \underbrace{\frac{\omega^2}{s^2 + \alpha_{f1,W}s + \omega^2}}_{H_{1,W}(s)} \Delta W_{\Delta}) cos \vartheta_x \quad (2.45)$$

where low-pass filters $H_{1,W}(s)$ and $H_{2,W}(s)$ are required to suppress the arm-energy ripples and should have bandwidths $\alpha_{f1,W} < \omega$ and $\alpha_{f2,W} < 2\omega$, respectively [71]. The $cos\vartheta_x$ term induces a fundamental frequency oscillation, generating an ac pulse in i_{cir} for a nonzero W_{Δ} . Control gains for the total energy path k_{Σ} and for the difference energy path k_{Δ} can be calculated by:

$$k_{\Sigma} = \frac{\alpha_W}{V_{dc}}, \quad k_{\Delta} = \frac{\alpha_W}{\sqrt{2}V}, \quad \alpha_W < \omega$$
 (2.46)



Figure 2.8 – Block diagram of the arm-energy control

Figure 2.8 depicts entire arm-energy control scheme. It should be mentioned though, that in single-phase ISM-MMC implementations of current work the direct control scheme has been employed [71]. This type of control assumes that arm sum-capacitor voltages $v_{cap|u}^{\Sigma}$ and $v_{cap|l}^{\Sigma}$ equal to mean dc voltage V_{dc} and an increment of reference circulating current given by arm-energy balancing equal to zero, hence substituting the corresponding terms in the ISM-MMC control scheme (cf. Figure 2.3). This is motivated by the fact that the total energy (Σ) control path in the arm-energy control (cf. Figure 2.8), working with energy regulation in horizontal direction cannot be implemented, while actions of the difference energy (Δ) regulator can be sufficiently substituted by operation of the circulating current control (cf. Subsection 2.4.4). These facts significantly reduce control complexity of the single-phase ISM-MMC.

2.5 Modulation Scheme

There are generally two fundamental issues to be dealt with while selecting an appropriate modulation strategy for the standard MMC converter. Namely, the modulation of output voltages and balancing of the submodule capacitor energies within each converter arms [173]. Many modulation schemes have been adopted to MMC based topologies. Among them the most widely employed modulation techniques can be categorized as multilevel carrier-based PWM techniques with either level-shifted (LS-PWM) or phase-shifted (PS-PWM) carriers [174, 175], staircase waveform modulations [176, 177], and space vector modulation (SVM) [178–180].

Staircase modulation methods feature fundamental switching frequency, reduced switching losses and simple realization, however it comes with the price of increased harmonic distortion of the output voltage and current waveforms. The quality of output waveforms can be improved by increasing the number of submodules, which is the case for an MMC-based high voltage applications. These staircase methods mainly include selective harmonic elimination (SHE) scheme and nearest level modulation (NLC). The NLC approach is computationally less complex, however its performance is significantly affected by the sorting algorithm and sampling frequency, especially when the number of submodules is low [177]. The SHE scheme requires off-line computation of a large number of switching angles, which increase the computational complexity with the growth of the number of voltage levels.

The SVM directly controls the line-to-line voltages of a modular multilevel converter and allows generating the phase voltages implicitly. In this way SVM eliminates the influence of commonmode voltages and provides more flexibility (i.e., redundant switching sequences) to optimize switching pattern [179]. Nevertheless, the SVM method is difficult to implement for a converter from the MMC family with many voltage levels due to high computational burden. On the other hand, carrier-based modulation schemes are widely applied to control multilevel power converters due to their simple implementation and ease of extension to higher number of voltage levels. In PS-PWM, the triangular carriers with an identical magnitude are horizontally biased, while in LS-PWM they are disposed vertically. The LS-PWM can be further classified based on the phase relationship between the adjacent carriers into phase disposition (PD), phase opposition disposition (POD), alternate phase opposition disposition (APOD) and other hybrid schemes. The carrier-based modulations usually fall into the high switching frequency category, therefore, have higher switching losses in comparison with staircase modulation schemes. Moreover, an accurate synchronization between the carriers is essential to generate high-quality voltage and current waveforms [175]. To circumvent the aforementioned synchronization problem in controlling the MMC having a large number of SMs, a simple pulse width modulator using a single triangular carrier is proposed in [88].

Similarly, the interleaving modulation methods have been well-reported in literature as well. Most of the attention in this regard has been drawn to a phase-shift in the operation of the parallel branches, generally achieved through PS-PWM [109] or SVM [111]. Another trending modulation strategy to handle interleaving in VSCs is the LS-PWM [92, 115].

To drive the proposed ISM-MMC, a hybrid modulation scheme is implemented in [144, 146]. This modulation method has been already applied in modular multi-cell structures, e.g. in [181]. It is composed of LS-PWM for synthesizing voltage levels given by series connected SMs (N carrier levels per arm) whether PS-PWM scheme handles interleaving of parallel HB-legs within each SM (K evenly phase-shifted carriers at each level-shifted level). Therefore, in total, this method employs NK carriers per arm. Technically, different sets of NK carriers can be applied to the converters' arms to realize distinct modulations, as for example, anti-phase displacement between upper and lower arm carrier sets [182]. However, this topic falls out the scope of the current work. Hence, in further discussions a unique set of carriers is applied to the converters' arms. Figure 2.9 depicts an example of the PD-based (carriers) hybrid modulation scheme for the case of N = 2 and K = 3.



Figure 2.9 – Example of the PD-based hybrid modulation scheme for the case of N = 2 and K = 3 [146]. © 2021 IEEE

Some fundamental definitions can be derived from this figure. The first is the carrier period (T_{cr}) , which is inversely proportional to the carrier frequency f_{cr} . The carrier phase shifts of the different carriers within a carrier level can thus be formulated as

$$\vartheta_{cr,k} = 2\pi \frac{k-1}{K} + \Delta \vartheta_{cr}, \quad k = 1, ..., K.$$
(2.47)

where $\Delta \vartheta_{cr}$ is a phase displacement of the carriers. Setting appropriate phase displacements between carriers at adjacent levels distinct level-shifted PWM strategies can be derived (e.g. $\Delta \vartheta_{cr} = 0$ for PD LS-PWM, or $\Delta \vartheta_{cr} = \pi$ for APOD LS-PWM). Similarly, phase displacement

between carrier sets of upper and lower arms of the converter can be handled. The amplitude A_{cr} and level displacement d_{cr} of the carriers in p.u. are given by

$$A_{cr} = \frac{1}{N}, \quad d_{cr} = \frac{n-1}{N}, \quad n = 1, ..., N.$$
 (2.48)

Another key concept is the modulation index, which relates the magnitude of the desired fundamental voltage component at the converter output phase *x* to half of the pole-to-pole dc voltage:

$$m_x = \frac{\sqrt{2}V_x}{V_{dc}/2} = \frac{2\sqrt{2}V_x}{V_{dc}}$$
(2.49)

where V_x , V_{dc} are the rms value of a phase voltage and mean value of dc pole-to-pole voltage, respectively. For the sake of simplicity, this work considers only sinusoidal modulation (sinusoidal references), while other modulating strategies with common-mode injections, typical for classical MMCs, are possible as well.

Figure 2.10 illustrates a block diagram of the implemented hybrid modulation scheme for ISM-MMC and its position in the control structure of an the converter.



Figure 2.10 – Block diagram of the hybrid modulation scheme for ISM-MMC [144]. © 2022 IEEE

The arm modulation signals, generated by the high-level control scheme described in Section 2.4, are compared with corresponding arm carrier signals. For instance, the upper arm ISM-MMC modulation signal is compared with the upper arm carrier signals ($h_{11},..., h_{nk},..., h_{NK}$). In this notation the ordinal numbers n and k correspond to the carrier position in the modulation structure. The output of the comparator block is a set \mathbb{D}_{ux} of logical PWM signals ($d_{11},..., d_{nk},..., d_{NK}$). Similarly, the lower arm PWM set \mathbb{D}_{lx} is generated. Later, these two sets are applied to the voltage balancing strategy as discussed in Section 2.6.

The choice of the phase disposition scheme in level-shifted modulation method affects performance of the standard MMC converter [173]. Similar situation appears in relation to ISM-MMC. To introduce these differences for the ISM-MMC configuration, this section demonstrates modified APOD and PD methods depicted in Figures 2.11a and 2.11b, respectively, for the ISM-MMC structure with N = 2 and K = 3. Similar line style has been used to highlight the correspondence between adjacent level-shifted carriers (cf. solid yellow, dashed blue, and dash-dotted red lines in the plots). Again, it can be noted that identical set of carriers has been used for upper u_u^* and lower u_l^* arm references. Plots are drawn for a general case in the normalized form.

A classical MMC with *N* SMs per arm (cf. Figure 2.1a) can provide either N + 1 or 2N + 1 levels in the output voltage, depending on whether adjacent level-shifted carriers are synchronized



Figure 2.11 – Hybrid modulation using level-shifted carriers with different carrier phase displacement schemes: (a) APOD and (b) PD, for the ISM-MMC structure with N = 2 and K = 3

or they are in anti-phase. In relation to LS-PWM N + 1 levels correspond to APOD scheme, while 2N + 1 levels can be generated with PD approach. Furthermore, as it was pointed out in Section 2.3, each interleaved submodule can produce additional K + 1 voltage levels. Therefore, in total, the implemented hybrid modulation scheme (cf. Figure 2.10) can synthesize 2KN + 1 levels in case of PD LS-PWM or KN + 1 levels in case of APOD LS-PWM [146].

Another characteristic that should be discussed for the implemented hybrid modulation scheme is the equivalent switching frequency of ISM-MMC. It is well-known that depending on whether phase displacement between adjacent level-shifted carriers is applied or not the switching frequency of classical MMC can be defined either $Nf_{sw|SM}$ or $2Nf_{sw|SM}$, respectively. The term $f_{sw|SM}$ represents the switching frequency of a submodule. For PS-PWM it is equal to the carrier frequency ($f_{sw|SM} = f_{cr}$), while for LS-PWM it can be calculated as f_{cr}/N . At the same time, the submodule interleaving action given by PS-PWM increases equivalent switching frequency by a factor K. In this context, the hybrid modulation scheme APOD LS-PWM + PS-PWM will result in the converter's switching frequency Kf_{cr} , while PD LS-PWM + PS-PWM gives $2Kf_{cr}$.

To point out the aforementioned differences in relation to the converter's ac phase voltage, Figure 2.12 shows the simulation results of a single-phase converter, either a classical MMC or ISM-MMC, working in intvertion mode (from dc to ac) with open-circuit ac side (no load current). The structure of the simulated single-phase MMC can be derived from Figure 2.1a, bearing in mind only two submodules per arm (N = 2). Similarly, the shape of the ISM-MMC can be seen from Figure 2.1b with two submodules per arm and three interleaved HB-legs per SM (N = 2, K = 3). The pole-to-pole dc bus voltage (V_{dc}) is set to 1000 V and carrier frequency (f_{cr}) is 1 kHz. Ideal voltage sources are placed instead of SM capacitors to remove the effect of capacitor voltage imbalance. Voltage drops on the circuital elements are neglected. The simulating system has been run in open-loop regulation mode by manually setting required modulation index. In this case to demonstrate the full range of voltage levels in phase voltage, modulation index was set to 1 (cf. Equation (2.49)). Thus, being dc bus voltage 1000 V, the phase voltage ranges in [-500, 500] V. The very first concept that could be easily observed is the number of voltage levels in relation to the implemented modulation strategy. The simulated MMC structure, as it is well known, can feature maximum either 3 (2 + 1) or 5 $(2 \times 2 + 1)$ phase voltage levels by utilizing APOD or PD, respectively. At the same moment, ISM-MMC can synthesize 7 (2 \times 3 + 1) or 13 (2 \times 2 \times 3 + 1) voltage levels, accordingly. Furthermore, the equivalent switching frequency of the converter increases passing from APOD to PD and from MMC to ISM-MMC. As a consequence of these notable differences, the magnitude of switching harmonics is considerably lower in case of PD LS-PWM with respect to APOD method, as well as the dominant harmonic components appear at higher frequencies. For example, in case of ISM-MMC with voltage characteristics plotted in Figures 2.12g and 2.12h the first PWM cluster



Figure 2.12 – No load phase voltage and its corresponding harmonic content in case of classical MMC with N = 2, K = 1 (a-d) and ISM-MMC with N = 2, K = 3 (e-h) for the following phase displacement schemes in LS-PWM: (a,b) MMC, APOD; (c,d) MMC, PD; (e,f) ISM-MMC, APOD; (g,h) ISM-MMC, PD

is located at about 6 kHz ($2 \times 3 \times 1$ kHz). All these aspects result in lower harmonic pollution of the corresponding phase voltage.

Unlike phase voltages in Figure 2.12, the submodule and arm voltages cannot be compared directly among the standard MMC and ISM-MMC topologies. Typically, definition of those voltages in standard MMC structures exclude arm inductance. Instead, in ISM-MMCs the "interleaved" inductors are part of a SM, hence, according to the definition of the SM voltage (cf., Equation (2.3)), currents passing through the inductors will change the shape of the voltage. For the sake of fair comparison, the arm inductor shall be distributed among the HB submodules



Figure 2.13 – No load submodule voltage (SM1) and corresponding arm current in case of classical MMC with N = 2, K = 1 and distributed arm inductor (a-d) and ISM-MMC with N = 2, K = 3 (e-h) for the following phase displacement schemes in LS-PWM: (a,b) MMC, APOD; (c,d) MMC, PD; (e,f) ISM-MMC, APOD; (g,h) ISM-MMC, PD

composing classical double-star MMC, while not changing the equivalent circuit values. Having introduced this MMC rearrangement, the SM voltages are compared in Figure 2.13. As it was specified above, the classical MMC with two SM per arm can synthesize only two level SM voltage. In the classical MMC configuration with distributed arm inductance this holds in case of APOD (cf. Figure 2.13a), while the waveform of the SM voltage in case of PD has extra sublevels. This happens due to the fact that the phase displacement between adjacent levels in PD create voltage difference between SMs. The higher the excursion between the standard voltage levels (e.g., "0" and "500 V" in Figures 2.13a and 2.13c) the higher the corresponding arm current. This current passing through the inductor inside a SM induces voltage over the inductor that is



Figure 2.14 – No load current through HB-units of SM1 in case of ISM-MMC with N = 2, K = 3 for the following phase displacement schemes in LS-PWM: (a) APOD; (b) PD

added or subtracted from the "two level" SM voltage depending on the sign of the arm current. Similar situation can be observed in ISM-MMC (cf. Figures 2.13g and 2.13h). It should be noted though, that in case of multi-level SM voltage, the voltage differences between adjacent SMs are smaller, resulting in lower arm current. On the other hand, in ISM-MMC working with APOD modulation, the SM voltage level can be clearly distinguished (four equally distributed voltage levels: "0", "166.7 V", "333.3 V" and "500 V", cf. Figure 2.13e).

Another interesting observation can be made in case of no load operation of ISM-MMC. Even though there are no ac phase and arm currents (cf. Figure 2.13f), the currents inside SMs are not zero. Figure 2.14 demonstrates this effect for the APOD and PD schemes of LS-PWM.

In the following sections of this work sinusoidal PD LS-PWM (without common-mode injections) has been selected as a default submodulation method (part of hybrid modulation scheme) to maximize the number of output levels. Other level-shifted phase dispositions are outside the scope of this work and can be analyzed/compared in the future works.

2.6 Submodule Energy Balancing

Depending on the selected modulation strategy, the task of reference voltage modulation and submodule selection can be decoupled. In such schemes there is a need for methods to low down the voltage differences among the submodule capacitors within an arm [168, 173]. Two main approaches exist to fulfil this task, namely controlling each SM capacitor by an individual feedback regulator [73, 183, 184] or by means of an algorithm that handles all SM capacitors of each converter's arm. The reference voltage for each cell needs to be modified in the first approach in order to ensure almost constant stored energy in each cell capacitor over time by voltage reference increments. These voltage adjustments must be small to avoid modulation disruption. Hence, this fact makes the individual capacitor voltage feedback loops the slowest of all nested loops in the MMC control system [173]. In the second approach, there is no need in individual capacitor voltage control loop. This method is based on a sorted list of the SM capacitor voltages and special algorithm insert or bypass the SM depending on the direction of the arm current [27]. The family of methods using this capacitor voltage balancing strategy commonly referred in literature as "sorting algorithms". These post-modulation methods, which operate on the generated firing pulses, are decoupled from other control loops and do not require tuning control parameters. Typically, they are much faster in comparison with the individual control loop approach [185]. Many sorting-based schemes for submodule energy balancing in conjunction with different modulation techniques have been proposed recently. Among them the conventional sorting algorithm based on NLC [27], predictive sorting [186, 187], tolerance band methods [188, 189], FPGA-based sorting networks [190], capacitor voltage mapping [191], capacitor voltage balancing utilizing extracted disturbance [192] and many other.

Technically all aforementioned submodule energy balancing methods in conjunction with appropriate modulation strategy can be equally applied for the newly proposed ISM-MMC topology. In the current work a classical MMC sorting algorithm in relation with LS-PWM (part of the hybrid modulation scheme, cf. Section 2.5) is used. Figure 2.15 illustrates a block diagram of the capacitor voltage balancing scheme based on the sorting algorithm in the frame of the entire ISM-MMC control method.



Figure 2.15 – Block diagram of the submodule energy balancing scheme for ISM-MMC [144]. © 2022 IEEE



Figure 2.16 – Flowchart of the classical sorting algorithm, using hybrid modulation scheme for the waveform synthesis part

In the classical balancing method, associated with level-shifted PWM, the capacitor voltages (vectors $\mathbf{V}_{cap,ux}$, $\mathbf{V}_{cap,lx}$) within an arm are sorted either in ascending or descending order in accordance with the direction of the arm current. Then, the input firing signals of the SMs within an arm are rearranged in agreement with the sorted capacitor voltages and the direction of the arm current. This algorithm operates directly on the generated PWM signals, which are result of comparison between modulating signals and carriers. In the standard MMC structures based on HB submodules (cf. Figure 2.1a) each submodule is supplied by one firing signal (let's assume for the high switch of the HB-leg), while the remaining switch is working in the

complementary manner with a preset dead-time. Therefore, strictly speaking the classical sorting algorithm in classical MMCs rearranges these firing signals between the active submodules within an arm. In relation to the ISM-MMC structure, there are K number of firing signals for each submodule. Hence, input sets of the capacitor voltage balancing block are 2D arrays \mathbb{D}_{ux} , \mathbb{D}_{lx} (each with dimensions $N \times K$) of PWM signals and they are formed by hybrid modulation scheme (cf. Section 2.5). The output of this block is a set of logical gate signals (2D arrays G_{ux} , G_{lx} with the same dimensions $N \times K$) that drive the corresponding switches. The algorithm itself does not require a modification to meet the balancing requirements for an ISM-MMC since interleaving of HB-legs inside a submodule does not change its equivalent circuit. Furthermore, the interleaving concept is working entirely within a submodule, therefore, depending on the sorting algorithm action (bypass or insert the submodule), the group of gate signals (rows of 2D arrays G_{ux} , G_{lx}) can be swapped with similar group from another submodule that should be either inserted or bypassed. In this way the voltage balancing algorithm is irrespective of the number of interleaved HB-legs inside the submodule. Figure 2.16 depicts the complete flowchart of the implemented LS-PWM-based classical sorting algorithm in relation with the new topology.

2.7 Numerical Simulations and Comparison

In this section, numerical simulation results are presented to demonstrate main features of the proposed ISM-MMC in comparison to the conventional MMC structures. The comparison of working characteristics are done basing on the converter structures given in Figure 2.1. A three-phase ISM-MMC with two SMs per arm (N = 2) and three interleaved HB-legs in each SM (K = 3) was selected as a base architecture. Depending on which carrier frequency was applied either 1 or 0.333 kHz, the converter is labeled as "N2K3f1k" or "N2K3f333", respectively. A classical MMC, having two HB-based SMs per arm (N = 2) with three parallel switches, which commutate simultaneously at $f_{cr} = 1$ kHz, is labeled as "N2Kp3f1k". Another MMC configuration with six HB-based SMs per arm (N = 6) and $f_{cr} = 1$ kHz is labeled as "N6K1f1k". These labels are used throughout the whole chapter for short notation of the compared configurations. The configurations have been chosen to demonstrate key differences between the classical MMC and new ISM-MMC having similar design features (i.e., individual SM capacitance, total number of switches, etc.) and total power ratings. On the other hand, as it will be shown shortly the main output characteristics (i.e., number of ac phase voltage levels, etc.), switching frequencies, and related with that qualitative properties may vary drastically. To make unbiased comparison, the system example was selected in relation to a real design (technical specification) of the front-end converter in ultra-fast electric vehicle (EV) chargers (e.g., "Terra 184" ABB Ltd. [124]). The main system parameters of compared configurations are listed in Table 2.1. It should be noted that ISM-MMC is easily scalable to any voltage and current levels, therefore, other EV charger designs with few MW power and more can be easily implemented (e.g., "NBSK1000" Power Electronics Corp. [128], "1.5MW Charger" Proterra Corp. [129]). Obviously, the potential applications for ISM-MMC are not limited to only automotive industry and there are many other high-power demands that can benefit from ISM-MMC. Some of the trending industries suitable for ISM-MMC are listed in Section 1.3. Proper selection of ISM-MMC design parameters (e.g., number of series connected SMs, number of interleaved HB-legs in each SM, etc.) is an optimization problem that includes many variables, for example, cost, power ratings of the components, power quality requirements, etc. This topic is beyond the scope of this work and should be investigated in detail in future works.

Description	Symbol	N2K3f1k	N2K3f333	N2Kp3f1k	N6K1f1k	
System parameters						
number of SM in each arm	N	2	2	2	6	
number of HB-legs in each SM	K	3	3	1 (3 paral. 1 sw.)		
rated dc output power and dc-link voltage	P_{dc}, V_{dc}	180 kW, 1000 V				
rated ac input power, phase current (rms)	S_{ac}, I_x	214 kVA, 310 A				
ac line-to-line voltage (rms) and fundamental frequency	V _{xy} , f	400 V, 50 Hz				
carrier frequency	fcr	1 kHz	333 Hz	1 kHz		
equivalent arm inductor / individual interleaved inductor (if applicable)	R _{arm} , L _{arm} / R, L	4 mΩ, 1 6 mΩ, 2 (@ 103.3	.7 mH / 2.5 mH A rms)	mH / mH (@ 310 A rms) / -		
equivalent arm capacitance / individual SM capacitance	C _{arm} / C, R _{ESR}	3.2 mF / 6.4 mF, 0.2 mΩ		3.2 mF / 19.2 mF, 0.2 mΩ		
IGBT module (Infineon Technologies AG)	_	FF150R12RT4 [193]		FF450R07ME4 [194]		
Control settings						
circulating current control	$R_{cir} \mid \alpha_{2,cir}$	1.7 Ω 250 rad/s				
LPF of circulating current control	$k_{f,cir} \mid \alpha_{f,cir}$	$\sqrt{2}$ 100 rad/s				
arm-energy control	α_W	40 rad/s				
LPF of arm-energy control	$\alpha_{f1,W} \mid \alpha_{f2,W}$	100 rad/s 200 rad/s				
sorting frequency	fsort	333 Hz				

Table 2.1 – Main system parameters for compared configurations [144]. © 2022 IEEE

Performance of the compared configurations was firstly verified under open-loop control operation mainly to demonstrate differences of ac voltage characteristics (cf. Figure 2.17) and to introduce behavioral relation between sorting frequency, which is used in the capacitor voltage balancing algorithm (cf. Section 2.6), and proper current sharing among interleaved HB-legs in each SM (cf. Figure 2.18). The latter matter is in a thoroughly manner discussed in Chapter 3. It must be noted that although the given simulation results refers to "open-loop control" operation, nevertheless, the internal control methods (cf. Figure 2.3), such as arm-energy control, circulating current control and capacitor voltage sorting algorithm, are enabled. The dynamic response of the converter working under classical MMC control strategies (cf. Section 2.4) is verified directly through hardware-in-the-loop simulations presented in Section 2.9.

For this test, the compared topologies operate in invertion mode delivering power from dc to ac side. The reference output power was selected similar to the system design example (cf. Table 2.1), namely 180 kW. To depict the maximum of available ac phase voltage levels, the highest modulation index from linear modulation range of the sinusoidal PWM (without overmodulation) was selected. Differently from simulation results presented in Section 2.5, these test account power delivery (currents are present). To speed up convergence of output characteristics to steady state values after the start-up, higher internal resistance of interleaved inductors was set ($R_{arm} = 156.4 \text{ m}\Omega / R = 234.7 \text{ m}\Omega$ where it is applicable). Considering internal resistances of the other components (i.e., IGBT modules, capacitors, etc.) they remain unchanged. The increase results in a higher equivalent arm resistance and consequently larger voltage drop. This effect is well noticeable in Figure 2.17. However, it does not introduce tremendous effect on the performed comparative analysis. As expected, configurations "N2K3f1k", "N2K3f333" and "N6K1f1k" can generate 13 voltage levels operating under PD LS-PWM scheme (cf. Section 2.5).



Figure 2.17 – Phase voltage and its corresponding harmonic content in ISM-MMC (a-d) and classical MMC (e-h) for the following subcases: (a,b) N2K3f1k; (c,d) N2K3f333; (e,f) N2Kp3f1k; (g,h) N6K1f1k [144]. © 2022 IEEE

It is interesting to notice here that "N2K3f333" and "N6K1f1k" have quite similar harmonic spectrum with dominant switching harmonic components appearing as a first sideband at 2 kHz. This effect is well explained in Section 2.5. On the other hand, "N2K3f1k" with similar THD exhibits superior performance since the first sideband harmonics are located around 6 kHz, consequently reducing requirements for the ac interface filter. In this context, weighted THD (WTHD) [195] can quantitatively justify greater performance of "N2K3f1k" in comparison with other converter arrangements. At the same time "N2Kp3f1k" having the same number of SMs (capacitors) and power switches that work without interleaving scheme can synthesize only 5 voltage levels with remarkably high harmonic pollution (cf. Figures 2.17e and 2.17f).



Figure 2.18 – Interleaved leg currents in one submodule of ISM-MMC (a,b), the corresponding arm current (c,d) and capacitor voltages in phase '*a*' of ISM-MMC (e,f) at sorting frequency 50 Hz (a,c,e) and at 1 kHz (b,d,f) [144]. © 2022 IEEE

Another noteworthy characteristic of ISM-MMC is the relation between sorting frequency of capacitor voltage balancing algorithm, and equal current sharing among interleaved HB-legs in each SM. It is well visible from Figure 2.18 that operating with low sorting frequency of voltage balancing method, better current distribution among interleaved legs can be achieved. Conversely, higher sorting frequency results in higher imbalance of the currents in interleaved legs. This fact can be explained by significant time constants caused by relatively high inductance and small equivalent resistance of each HB-leg, large number of commutations within one fundamental period provoked by capacitor voltage balancing algorithm. This aspect must be taken into account while selecting sorting frequency. It is also evident that the output SM's current (i.e., the arm current) is not affected by the high magnitude current ripple that present in the interleaved currents. It is canceled out by summing up the interleaved currents. Similarly, it does not appear in the output phase current, as well as the leg's common-mode current that is part of the arm current (cf. dc offset in Figures 2.18c and 2.18d).

This section gives a comparative analysis of major features of the converter configurations listed in Table 2.1. The first aspect to be compared is the number of main components (i.e., IGBT modules, inductors, capacitors, etc.) and their characteristics (current and voltage ratings, etc.). All configurations have the same number of power switches, while arrangement and operation modes are different. The two chosen reference IGBT modules are from the same generation, device family and manufactured by the same company. The "FF150R12RT4" module is designed with the following maximum rated values: collector-emitter voltage 1200 V and continuous dc current 150 A. Similarly, the "FF450R07ME4" has the following maximum ratings: 650 V and 450 A, respectively. Configurations "N2K3f1k" and "N2K3f333" feature distributed inductor arrangement, having six inductors in total per arm. In contrast, "N2Kp3f1k" and "N6K1f1k" have only one inductor per arm. Although structural characteristics of these inductors are different (internal resistance and inductances), one should note that distributed (interleaved) inductors carry only a portion of arm current, thus, can be designed with a significantly smaller cross-section of composed wires. This fact directly reflects on cost, weight and volume of the converter. To form either ISM-MMC ("N2K3f1k" and "N2K3f333") or classical MMC ("N2Kp3f1k") configurations with two SMs per arm only two capacitors per arm are needed. In fact, for high current applications those SM capacitors are composed of a set of parallel connected capacitors. However, for simplicity it will be assumed that the SM capacitors are single components. For the "N6K1f1k" configuration six capacitors per arm are required. Yet, to keep voltage ripple across the capacitors within $\pm 10\%$ tolerance band of its average value, the size of capacitors must be increased drastically. As a matter of fact, the classical MMC configuration is not well suitable for low-voltage, high-power applications, since an increase of ac voltage levels results in a corresponding increment of series connected SMs in each arm, while low dc-link voltage significantly reduces allowed fluctuating voltage range of SM capacitors, therefore, a bigger capacitance is required in each SM. Nevertheless, it must be mentioned that the total stored energy in a converter's arm of all the compared configurations is always constant. Therefore, the overall active part of capacitors will be as well the same in each case, resulting in similar overall dimensions/weight of all capacitors.

2.8 Efficiency analysis

Efficiency is a critical criterion for high-power converter design. The efficiency of each component and implemented control/modulation solutions relates to system power loss and the thermal performance. Passive elements of a converter (inductors, capacitors, etc.) contribute to the power dissipation through the parasitic internal resistances. Semiconductor devices add their contribution up to system losses during the switching events and also conduction time. The conduction loss can be characterised by the on-state voltage drop of the device. Its value typically depends on the device voltage and current ratings. Switching losses originate from the charging and discharging of semiconductor junctions at each switching event. This type of losses is influenced by manufacturing technology and dynamic performance of the semiconductor device. Switching losses are proportional to the switching frequency, so a modulation method with low switching frequency is highly preferable [196]. The aforementioned sources of power losses contribute the major part in the total converter's losses. However, an additional fraction can be added on top, namely losses in gate-drive circuit. Analytical developments for the MMC efficiency estimation have been discussed in literature in great detail (e.g., [197–200]). Therefore, for sake of conciseness, derivation of the efficiency expressions is omitted in the current work. Instead, the necessary formulations along with adopted simplifications and assumptions are given in Appendix A. The focus of this section has been aimed to the efficiency comparison between configurations studied in Section 2.7.

Figure 2.19 depicts efficiencies for the compared converter configurations. Firstly, "N2K3f1k" and "N2Kp3f1k" have almost identical efficiency curves since they have similar circuital structure and operating switching frequencies, leading to indistinguishable conduction and switching



Figure 2.19 – Converter efficiency for compared cases [144]. (c) 2022 IEEE

losses. The main difference among them is the interleaving effect, which almost does not affect the efficiency (in this analysis current ripple is neglected). Instead, "N2K3f333" operates with switching frequency, reducing by 66% switching and losses in comparison to "N2K3f1k" or "N2Kp3f1k". A significantly lower efficiency can be observed in the "N6K1f1k" case due to higher conduction losses provoked by the large number of series submodules. Capacitor- and inductor-related losses do not play relevant role here. Losses in gate-drive circuit do not create much difference among the compared configurations since the number of switches is the same for all the cases and switching frequencies of semiconductors are similar as well (apart the "N2K3f333" case). Overall, it is evident from the analysis that the ISM-MMC can offer higher or equal efficiency in comparison with classical MMC, while having the same or enhanced output characteristics of the converter, depending on operating switching frequency. Table 2.2 provides a summary of the performed comparison including some structural and performance features. To demonstrate unique performance characteristic of the conversion system, weighted efficiencies with labels "eu" and "cal" are included in Table 2.2. They represent equivalent conversion efficiencies and determined similarly to the so called "European" ("eu") and "Californian" ("cal") efficiencies in [201] for the grid-connected photovoltaic systems. Unfortunately, there is no unique standard on quantitative performance characterization of the efficiency curves with dissimilar shapes (maximum efficiencies at different operating powers). In fact, it also hard to predict the power operating ranges of the general design converter since the operating modes entirely depends on the application. Therefore, weighted efficiencies that are common for the grid-connected photovoltaic systems were calculated in this work to create an evident example, while in other industries the presented efficiency performance can vary drastically.

Characteristic	N2K3f1k	N2K3f333	N2Kp3f1k	N6K1f1k		
number of active switches (rated blocking voltage, rated rms current)	72 (1200 V, 150 A)	72 (1200 V, 150 A)	72 (1200 V, 150 A)	72 (650 V, 450 A)		
number of SM capacitors (capacitance, rated voltage)	12 (6.4 mF, 1200 V)	12 (6.4 mF, 1200 V)	12 (6.4 mF, 1200 V)	36 (19.2 mF, 400 V)		
number of arm/interleaved inductors (inductance, rated rms current)	- / 36 (2.5 mH, 103.3 A)	- / 36 (2.5 mH, 103.3 A)	6 / - (1.7 mH, 310 A)	6 / - (1.7 mH, 310 A)		
maximum number of phase voltage level @ PD LS-PWM	13	13	5	13		
equivalent switching frequency @ PD LS-PWM (carrier frequency)	6 kHz (1 kHz)	2 kHz (333 Hz)	2 kHz (1 kHz)	2 kHz (1 kHz)		
weighted efficiency "eu"/"cal"	98.68% / 98.81%	98.95% / 99.01%	98.68% / 98.81%	97.66% / 97.72%		

Table 2.2 – Summary of the comparison (three-phase system) [144]. (c) 2022 IEEE

2.9 Hardware-in-the-Loop Simulations

Figure 2.20 depicts a view of the HIL setup and circuital scheme of the single-phase ISM-MMC converter. The single-phase structure of ISM-MMC was used for HIL implementations due to high requirements of three-phase model (analog input/output channels, intense computational burden, etc.). This section contains necessary description of the model, main parameters that have been used for performed tests and summary of the obtained results. The HIL tests are designed to demonstrate dynamic behavior of the new ISM-MMC topology and verify applicability of the classical MMC control techniques.

Recently, HIL simulators have been widely adopted for commissioning and testing of multilevel converters [202]. In current work, HIL tests have been performed using RT Box 2 [203] (Plexim GmbH) in the Plecs environment with sampling period 12.5 μ s.

At the heart of the RT Box 2 employs the latest generation Xilinx Zynq Ultrascale+ (ZU9EG) multiprocessor system-on-chip that consists of an FPGA and four CPU cores (ARM Cortex-A53, 1.5 GHz). Three out of four cores can be used for real-time simulations, while the remaining core runs an embedded Linux OS for internal processes and communication. The FPGA inside the system-on-chip is employed to control the digital I/Os and analog data conversion. The ADCs and DACs in the RT Box 2 both feature 16 bit resolution with simultaneous sample and update (maximum sample/update rate is 5 Msps). RT Box 2 contains 16 analog inputs, 16 analog outputs, 32 digital inputs and 32 digital outputs. The voltage ranges in inputs and outputs can be adjusted. All I/Os are isolated. The communication with a PC is made through gigabit Ethernet ports. The 480 GB of internal memory can be used for continuous data points storage. RT Box 2 supports multi-tasking mode, where the designed model can be split into separate physical sub-systems and run in parallel on different CPUs [203].

The HIL simulation results are presented for "**N2K3f1k**" case only. To reduce the computation burden of the HIL setup, for these tests a single-phase ISM-MMC with two SMs per arm (N = 2) and tree interleaved legs in each SM (K = 3) was used (cf. Figure 2.20b). The entire model (power and control stages) were deployed in a single RT Box 2. To make it possible analog and digital inputs/outputs of the RT Box 2 were interconnected, correspondingly (cf. Figure 2.20a). The real-time simulation was performed in a multi-tasking mode, distributing tasks between available CPUs, such that power circuit was emulated on both CPU1 and CPU2, while the entire control has been deployed on CPU3. The target machine (RT Box 2) was controlled via external PC, while monitoring electrical signals on its screen. The measured signals sampled with the same sampling period (cf. Table 2.3) and stored on the internal memory of RT Box 2 for the subsequent post-processing (figures plotting) in Matlab (MathWorks Inc.).

Table 2.3 summarizes the main parameters of the designed HIL model. The single-phase, gridconnected (230 V rms) ISM-MMC supplies a dc load (60 kW) with unity power factor via the dc-link. To provide a reference neutral wire connection, a split dc-link capacitor (C_{dc} = 15 mF) has been used. The dc load was realized as a controlled current source (i_{dc}) with known demand profile. The profile includes a step-like change of dc current by 50% from half to full demand and back. The second dc current step is applied when the system has already experienced a step-like drop of dc-link voltage by 10%. The internal resistance of interleaved inductors was set to a higher value in comparison with Table 2.1 (R_{arm} = 30.3 m Ω / R = 45.5 m Ω) to smooth divergence of interleaved currents from one another since the interleaved currents are not actively controlled (the control is discussed in Chapter 3). On the other hand, the resistance values were selected smaller in comparison to those in Section 2.5 to have a well noticeable current imbalance within SMs and consequently demonstrate that this imbalance does not affect







(b)

Figure 2.20 – View of the HIL simulator (a) and circuital scheme of the test single-phase ISM-MMC (b) [144]. \bigcirc 2022 IEEE

the input/output converter's characteristics. These equivalent resistances include also on-state resistance of an IGBT.

The rest parameters of passive components (*L*, *C*) were assigned with reference to real commercial components having standard tolerances. For *R*, *L* the tolerance is 15%, while for *C* it is 10%. Accounting of these tolerances in simulations was made by generating random values following a Gaussian distribution and having a confidence interval of $\pm 4\sigma$.

Description	Symbol	Parameters			
System parameters					
converter configuration (single-phase version)	-	N2K3f1k			
number of SMs per arm	N	2			
number of HB-legs in each SM	K	3			
rated dc output power and dc-link voltage	P_{dc} , V_{dc}	60 kW, 1000 V			
rated ac input power, phase current (rms)	S _{ac} , I	71.6 kVA, 310 A			
ac phase voltage (rms) and fundamental frequency	<i>V, f</i>	230 V, 50 Hz			
carrier frequency	fcr	1 kHz			
dc-link split capacitance (2 \times)	$C_{dc}, R_{ESR,dc}$	15 mF, 3.4 m Ω			
individual interleaved leg inductor parameters	R, L	45.5 mΩ, 2.5 mH			
individual SM capacitance	C, R _{ESR}	6.4 mF, 0.2 m Ω			
IGBT module (Infineon Technologies AG)	-	FF150R12RT4 [193]			
Control settings					
dc voltage control bandwidth	$\alpha_{p,dc} \mid \alpha_{i,dc}$	15 rad/s 5 rad/s			
averaging time of the dc moving-average filter (H_{dc})	_	10 ms			
loop-filter bandwidth (PLL)	$\alpha_{p,pll} \mid \alpha_{i,pll}$	50 rad/s 10 rad/s			
output current control bandwidth	$\alpha_{c,oc} \mid \alpha_{r,oc}$	2000 rad/s 50 rad/s			
circulating current control	$R_{cir} \mid \alpha_{2,cir}$	$1.7 \Omega \mid 250 \text{ rad/s}$			
LPF circulating current control	$k_{f,cir} \mid \alpha_{f,cir}$	$\sqrt{2}$ 100 rad/s			
sorting frequency	fsort	333 Hz			
discretization step size	-	12.5 µs			

Table 2.3 – Main parameters of the HIL model [144]. © 2022 IEEE

Figure 2.21 depicts measured ac power (active and reactive) supplied by the grid, the corresponding ac phase current, and dc-link voltage along with its reference. Figure 2.21a confirms that the HIL simulated ISM-MMC operates with unity power factor (supplied reactive power is zero).

Figure 2.22a presents measured capacitor voltages from each submodule of the single-phase ISM-MMC. The dashed lines in this plot represent $\pm 10\%$ voltage ripple tolerance band and mean value of capacitor voltage. Dynamic behavior of leg's common-mode current in response of the imposed system changes can be seen from Figure 2.22b. This current after some transients reaches steady state values depending on the operating point. The leg's common-mode current is composed of dc current and high frequency ripple component. Overall, the system behavior under classical MMC close-loop control demonstrates expected, stable performance in all tested operational modes having unequal parameters of passive components.

Figure 2.23 confirms the fact that the balancing of interleaved currents is a decoupled control task and should be implemented individually in each SM. Balancing of interleaved currents as it was mentioned previously is thoroughly discussed in Chapter 3 and therefore, not presented here. Nevertheless, it worth to notice that even though the currents inside of a SM are unbalanced (cf. fundamental components of the currents) and feature high-magnitude ripple, the sum of them (arm current) remains balanced and sinusoidal-like. Similarly, ac phase current has a balanced shape.

Careful inspection of test scenarios provided above reveals that the presented waveforms correspond to their expected shapes, leading to the conclusion that the classical MMC control can seamlessly implemented for the proposed ISM-MMC, having stable system response.



Figure 2.21 – Active and reactive power (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines), ac phase current (b) and dc-link voltage (c) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace) [144]. (c) 2022 IEEE



Figure 2.22 – Capacitor voltages (a) from each submodule of the ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its $\pm 10\%$ tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines) and corresponding leg's common-mode current (b) in phase leg of ISM-MMC [144]. © 2022 IEEE



Figure 2.23 – Currents in interleaved legs of the submodule SM1 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b) [144]. © 2022 IEEE

2.10 Summary

This chapter considers fundamentals of the proposed MMC structure based on interleaved half-bridge submodules and its modeling using averaging principle. It has been shown that the average model of ISM-MMC resembles the average model of the classical double-star MMC with HB submodules. The obtained converter model serves to design a control method for the new topology. Classical MMC control techniques can be used for the ISM-MMC since the average models are matching. The presented control strategies for ISM-MMC, which works in rectification mode, include dc-bus voltage control, grid synchronization method, output current control and two internal controls, namely circulating current control and arm-energy control. Necessary description for each block along with bandwidth and control gains calculation has been provided. The topology-specific, hybrid modulation scheme has been presented in this chapter. It is composed by well-known carrier based techniques, namely level- and phase-shifted PWMs. Later, summary of submodule energy balancing techniques based on typical MMC sorting algorithms is presented. It has been demonstrated that neither the implemented hybrid modulation scheme and nor ISM-MMC structure do not change the principle of submodule energy balancing. Another section is dedicated to numerical simulations and comparative analysis of the few related configurations of the new ISM-MMC and classical MMC. Efficiency study is also presented for these converter configurations to point out potential performance of the proposed ISM-MMC. Finally, hardware-in-the-loop tests were conducted for one of the ISM-MMC to demonstrate its dynamic behaviour and fitting of classical MMC control methods for the new structure. The HIL tests results verify stable operation of the new multilevel converter design with implemented control method.

Chapter **3**

Interleaved Currents Balancing Control

3.1 Introduction

The problem of equal current sharing in MMC structures at submodule level is quite new topic and has not been elaborated in depth so far apart from [204]. The existing methods to cope with this problem in other power converter configurations (e.g. two-level interleaved PFC configurations) cannot be simply introduced into classical MMC control method due to specifics of its operation, therefore some modifications are required. The main contribution of this chapter is an implementation of the current balancing control loop for ISM-MMC structure in the frame of classical MMC control law presented in Chapter 2, as well as an analysis of its dynamic behavior under various system perturbations. In addition to that, a new capacitor voltage balancing strategy is introduced to make possible the operation of the interleaved currents balancing technique.

The chapter is structured as follows. Section 3.2 introduces the current equalization problem in ISM-MMCs, providing essential control diagrams. In the following Section 3.3 the modified capacitor voltage balancing strategy along with converter's modulation are discussed. Design of interleaved legs current balancing control is introduced in Section 3.4. Simulation results in Section 3.5 prove the stable functioning of the introduced methods in a three-phase ISM-MMC with component parameters that individually experience a step change at the given instant. Verification of the proposed balancing concepts is supported by experimental results presented in Section 3.6. Finally, the summary of the current chapter is drawn in Section 3.7.

3.2 Problem statement

To start, this section refreshes some structural fundamentals of ISM-MMC. The single-phase structure of ISM-MMC is depicted in Figure 3.1. The ISM-MMC resembles double-star MMC topology without standalone arm inductors. In this case, the arm inductors are distributed among the converter submodules. The submodule itself consists of *K* parallel half-bridge legs connected to a capacitor on the dc side. The midpoint of each leg is linked with an inductor (*L*). The other side of the inductors is joined together, creating a positive terminal of the SM.

Under ideal conditions, the total arm current is equally shared among the parallel half-bridges in each SM. However, the interleaving modulation scheme applied to the SM implies that the



Figure 3.1 – Structure of a single-phase ISM-MMC [204]. (C) 2022 IEEE

commutation between parallel legs happens in a non-simultaneous manner. In addition to that, circuit nonlinearities (differences among equivalent branch resistances), unequal deadtimes, control actions and many other factors may lead to the instantaneous current imbalance (fundamental components) between the interleaved legs. A uniform distribution of the total arms current among the parallel legs has to be ensured to avoid excessive converter losses and saturation of the inductors, while guaranteeing optimal capacity utilization of the SM half-bridges. This problem is well-known for interleaved-based converters and has been widely reported in the literature. For instance, authors in [205, 206] proposed to mitigate current imbalances between parallel legs in an interleaved buck converter by a feedback control scheme. A similar concept has been applied to an interleaved ac-dc converter in [207]. In MMC structures, this problem is quite new since scalability in the direction of high currents is a recent trend for this type of converter [22], especially at the submodule level.

It is worth to notice in Figure 3.1 that the average ISM-MMC model does not change with respect to a classical MMC structure based on a half-bridge submodule (cf. Section 2.3). Therefore, strictly speaking, the typical outer and inner control loops of the classical MMC are also applicable for the ISM-MMC. Section 2.4 gives a comprehensive description of the ISM-MMC control structure that is further discussed in the current chapter. Therefore, here the necessary overview, which helps to highlight the proposed concepts, is given only.

A block diagram of the implemented control-modulation loops, which have been previously examined in Sections 2.4-2.6, with reference to the single-phase ISM-MMC (cf. Figure 3.1) and its operation in rectification mode, is illustrated in Figure 3.2. Here for simplicity high-level control scheme (cf. Figure 2.3) is depicted as a single block since it falls out of interest point of current chapter. Instead, the main focus is drawn to remaining blocks, namely the capacitor voltage balancing method (cf. Section 2.6) and modulation technique (cf. Section 2.5), designed specifically for ISM-MMCs [146].

Having as an input of the modulation block the normalized upper arm voltage reference (u_u^*) , it produces a 2D set (\mathbb{D}_u) of logical PWM signals $(d_{11}, ..., d_{NK})$. Similarly, the lower arm PWM set \mathbb{D}_l is generated. Later, these two sets are applied to the classical capacitor voltage balancing strategy. In the classical balancing method, associated with carrier-based PWM, the capacitor voltages (vectors $\mathbf{V}_{cap,u}$, $\mathbf{V}_{cap,l}$) within one arm are sorted either in ascending or descending order in



Figure 3.2 – Block diagram of the ISM-MMC control employing classical capacitor voltage balancing technique [144, 204]. © 2022 IEEE

accordance with the direction of the corresponding arm current. Then, the input gate signals are rearranged based on the sorting lists. It is important to notice that this algorithm operates directly on the generated set of PWM signals (2D arrays \mathbb{D}_u , \mathbb{D}_l). The output of this block is a set of logical firing signals (2D arrays \mathbb{G}_u , \mathbb{G}_l) that drive power switches. Since regulation of capacitor voltages in this control arrangement is the independent and ultimate step of the ISM-MMC control, it is not hard to show that this regulator will try to balance capacitor voltages disregarding the proper share of the interleaved currents within each submodule. Therefore, any control method designed to balance the interleaved currents and applied upstream of the capacitor voltages balancing block (e.g., acting on arm voltage references) will fail. In addition, the small internal resistance of the individual interleaved legs (cf. Figure 2.23a). This fact becomes even more evident when the values of those internal resistances are comparable with, for instance, the equivalent on-state resistance of the power switches. Thus, a control strategy that balances interleaved currents is essential for ISM-MMC.

It is worth noticing that the regulation of interleaved currents features faster dynamics with respect to capacitor voltage balancing. So, the interleaved currents control must be the ultimate step of the ISM-MMC control. Moreover, as it is explained in the following sections, this work presents an interleaved legs current balancing regulator that acts individually on modulating voltage references of each SM [204]. Therefore, a new capacitor voltage balancing function that operates directly on reference signals is introduced here as well.

3.3 Modified Submodule Sorting Algorithm

This section explains a few modifications of the conventional MMC closed-loop method that must be implemented to successfully balance both capacitor voltages in series connected SMs and interleaved currents in each SM. Various adjustments into the modulation have been proposed in literature to either improve converter's operational performance and reduce complexity of the control/modulation [88] or propose a new capacitor voltage balancing technique for MMC structures [208]. Unlike the reference [208], where the new capacitor voltage balancing method is based on carrier rotation technique, the reference [204] proposes to split arm reference voltages into individual SM voltage references taking into account the level of each capacitor voltage. The sorting principle is developed in a similar manner to the classical sorting algorithm discussed in

Section 2.6. This section describes the proposed balancing strategy from [204] and it is elaborated in per-phase structure with reference to Figure 3.1. The principal block scheme of the modified control part is illustrated in Figure 3.3. It consists of the classical MMC control part that generates normalized voltage references for upper (u_u^*) and lower (u_l^*) converters' arms; a novel capacitor voltage balancing strategy, which directly operates with the modulating signals, producing *K* copies of the normalized individual SM voltage references (e.g., u_{u11}^* ..., u_{uN1}^*); an original interleaved legs current balancing method that eventually followed by the hybrid ISM-MMC modulation scheme (cf. Section 2.5). The current section is dedicated to the proposed sorting algorithm (framed by red dashed box in Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 – Block diagram of the modified ISM-MMC control method [204]. © 2022 IEEE

As suggested in [196] with reference to a classical MMC, arm voltage synthesis can be decoupled from the selection of which SM must commutate at each instant. Based on this idea, several "sorting & select" algorithms have been proposed in the literature (more details on classical MMC sorting algorithms can be found in Section 2.6) to maintain capacitor voltage ripple within a specific limit. As pointed out in Section 2.3, the average model of ISM-MMC is identical to the one of classical MMC with half-bridge SMs. Therefore, strictly speaking, all invented sorting functions for the classical MMC are equally applicable in the case of ISM-MMC. The new "Sort & Split" algorithm permits to employ the paradigm of the well-established sorting functions while operating with reference voltages rather than with firing pulses. The flowchart depicted in Figure 3.4 explains the logic behind the new algorithm.

It starts by sampling and sorting capacitor voltages with a constant updating frequency (f_{sort}), eventually generating lists of indices (j_a , j_d) with sampled capacitor voltages in ascending and descending order. By considering the sign of the corresponding arm current that demonstrates whether the capacitor is charging or discharging, the reference voltage of each SM is synthesized. The rule to form SM reference voltage is the same for both paths, and it is based on the general idea of adding/removing extra levels following the reference arm voltage. The difference is in selecting a SM that must be inserted or bypassed (where *n* is the ordinal number of a SM and *N* is the total number of SM per arm). This selection is based on the previously generated lists of indices. During a sorting period, SM reference voltages are organized in descending order if arm current is positive; otherwise, in ascending order. At this stage, vectors of normalized SM reference voltage reference between the SMs properly. The possible shape of the generated SM voltage references can be seen in Figure 3.3. It is clear that the waveform of reference SM voltages is highly dependent on updating frequency f_{sort} . The next block creates *K* copies of



Figure 3.4 – Flowchart of the proposed Sort & Split algorithm [204]. © 2022 IEEE

the reference vectors by multiplying the initial reference vector with an array of ones $(J_{1,K})$, composing 2D sets $(\mathbb{U}_{u,l}^*)$ of SM reference voltages for the upper and lower arms, respectively. This mathematical operation is required for subsequent adjustments of the reference voltages individually for each interleaved leg within a SM.

It can be easily demonstrated that the new sorting function produces an identical switching pattern in comparison with the analogous sorting algorithm for the classical MMC control (cf. Figure 2.16). In fact, the proposed technique can be used for the classical MMC as well by setting *K* equal to 1. The output of the proposed capacitor voltage balancing block has been numerically simulated and the results are presented in Section 3.5.

3.4 Controller Structure

Having individual voltage references for each HB-leg inside a SM it is possible to modulate them independently. This fact opens a possibility for individual adjustments of the voltage references to moderate the current, which flows through the corresponding HB-leg. Individual closed-loop controllers are proposed in [204]. This section describes the introduced method.



Figure 3.5 – Block diagram of the interleaved legs current balancing control [204]. © 2022 IEEE

Figure 3.5 illustrates a block diagram of the proposed interleaved legs current balancing technique. It is based on an individual current feedback loop for each interleaved leg. Every control loop includes a reference input signal as the average leg's current (it can be calculated once as an arm current divided by the number of commutating, interleaved legs in a SM) and individually acquired currents throughout each interleaved leg. Therefore, in total, the proposed approach requires knowledge of N(K-1) + 1 instantaneous interleaved legs' currents in each ISM-MMC arm. The rest of the currents can be obtained based on the Kirchhoff's current law. The individual HB-leg currents can be either measured or estimated. Estimation of the instantaneous interleaved legs' currents is out of the scope of the current section and it is thoroughly elaborated in Chapter 4; therefore, for now it is assumed that all currents are measured. Then, individually computed current errors are followed by a proportional controller $(k_{n,intlv})$ that generates normalized portions of reference voltages. These normalized voltage fractions are eventually added to the individual, normalized SM voltage references that have been formed by the introduced "Sort & Split" algorithm (cf. Figure 3.3). All in all, each interleaved leg is independently controlled, providing a high dynamic response to any rapid disturbance in the controlled system. It is evident that the sum of current errors (difference between real interleaved current and its balanced average value) within a SM is equal to zero. Thus, the sum of additive normalized voltage portions ($\Delta U_{u,l}^*$) generated by the control loop in Figure 3.5 within one SM is also zero. As a result, the average value of SM voltage remains unchanged due to the operation of the proposed control. However, subtraction or adding large voltage portions from/to the SM reference voltage will force switches in each interleaved leg to remain in an on/off state for a longer time (the interleaved control loop is the ultimate control method before the modulation block, cf. Figure 3.3), therefore introducing high disturbance to the capacitor voltage balancing algorithm.

3.5 Numerical Simulations

Even though up to now the proposed balanced methods were discussed in the context of a single-phase ISM-MMC, it can be easily demonstrated that all introduced initiatives are equally valid for multi-phase systems, e.g., a three-phase structure. A three-phase ISM-MMC that works in the rectification mode (with reference to ultra-fast electrical vehicle chargers) is depicted in Figure 3.6. Each converter phase consists of four interleaved submodules (two submodules per arm, N = 2), while each submodule has three interleaved half-bridge legs (K = 3). A fully controllable current source represents the dc load.



Figure 3.6 – Three-phase ISM-MMC working in the rectification mode [204]. © 2022 IEEE

The application and main system parameters are identical to those listed in Table 2.1 and have been chosen with reference to the design example "**N2K3f1k**" given in Section 2.7. Here they are summarized along with control gains in Table 3.1 for the reader's convenience.

Description	Symbol	Parameters			
System parameters					
converter configuration (three-phase version)	-	N2K3f1k			
number of SMs per arm	Ν	2			
number of HB-legs in each SM	K	3			
rated dc output power and dc-link voltage	P_{dc}, V_{dc}	180 kW, 1000 V			
rated ac input power, phase current (rms)	S_{ac} , I_x	214 kVA, 310 A			
ac line-to-line voltage (rms) and fundamental frequency	V_{xy} , f	400 V, 50 Hz			
carrier frequency	f _{cr}	1 kHz			
individual interleaved leg inductor parameters	R, L	6 mΩ, 2.5 mH			
individual SM capacitance	C, R _{ESR}	$6.4~\mathrm{mF}$, $0.2~\mathrm{m}\Omega$			
IGBT module (Infineon Technologies AG)	-	FF150R12RT4 [193]			
Control	settings				
dc voltage control bandwidth	$\alpha_{p,dc} \mid \alpha_{i,dc}$	15 rad/s 5 rad/s			
averaging time of the dc moving-average filter (H_{dc})	-	10 ms			
loop-filter bandwidth (PLL)	$\alpha_{p,pll} \mid \alpha_{i,pll}$	50 rad/s 10 rad/s			
output current control bandwidth	$\alpha_{c,oc} \mid \alpha_{r,oc}$	2000 rad/s 50 rad/s			
circulating current control	$R_{cir} \mid \alpha_{2,cir}$	$1.7 \Omega \mid 250 \mathrm{rad/s}$			
LPF circulating current control	$k_{f,cir} \mid \alpha_{f,cir}$	$\sqrt{2}$ 100 rad/s			
arm-energy control	α_W	40 rad/s			
LPF of arm-energy control	$\alpha_{f1,W} \mid \alpha_{f2,W}$	100 rad/s 200 rad/s			
sorting frequency	fsort	333 Hz			
interleaved current balancing	$k_{p,intlv}$	$0.006 \ A^{-1}$			

Table 3.1 – Main system	parameters of the	three-phase	ISM-MMC [[144, 204].	© 2022 IEEE
-------------------------	-------------------	-------------	-----------	-------------	-------------



Figure 3.7 – Normalized reference voltage of the upper arm of ISM-MMC (ph. *a*) along with hybrid modulation carriers (a) before and (b) after Sort & Split algorithm [204]. © 2022 IEEE

Figure 3.7 illustrates the functioning of the introduced above "Sort & Split" capacitor voltage balancing strategy. Without the new balancing algorithm, the arm reference voltage entering the modulation block is directly compared with hybrid modulation (LS-PWM and PS-PWM) carriers, producing firing signals. It is clear that when normalized reference arm voltage (u_{ua}^*) remains in the upper sector (0.5 - 1 p.u., Figure 3.7a), for example, only one SM is commutating introducing unbalance among capacitor voltages in the arm. Therefore, additional actions to balance capacitor voltages are required, right after the modulation block. Typically, these sort of actions are done



Figure 3.8 – Step change of the internal resistance of an interleaved inductor in phase *a*. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM1*a* (a) and arm currents in phase *a* of ISM-MMC (b) [204].
© 2022 IEEE



Figure 3.9 – Step change of the internal resistance of an interleaved inductor in phase *a*. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase currents (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of the upper arm of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with their ±10% tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode currents [204]. (c) 2022 IEEE

by classical capacitor voltage balancing sorting algorithms that operate with firing signals. On the other hand, the proposed "Sort & Split" technique allows splitting a reference arm voltage into submodule normalized reference voltages (e.g., u_{ua1k}^* and u_{ua2k}^*) before the modulation block. These SM reference voltages maintain volt-second balance within a fundamental period. In Figure 3.7 one may notice that when one of the submodule is commutating the other one is clamped either to zero or to the level maximum. It should be mentioned that the waveform of SM reference voltages strongly depends on sorting frequency (f_{sort}).

To demonstrate how the system behaves with different interleaved inductor parameters, two simulation tests were performed. In the first one, the system experiences a step-like 200-times increase in the internal resistance of a single interleaved inductor in phase a (cf. Figure 3.8) and Figure 3.9). Such significant resistance step is required to create a noticeable change in interleaved current amplitude (blue trace in Figure 3.8). Due to active-duty cycle adjustment the effect of smaller changes will be invisible. It also must be noted that selected nominal resistance of interleaved inductors has the same order of magnitude with typical value of equivalent on-state resistance of the active switches. For this reason, smaller resistance steps have minor effect in equivalent resistance of the circuit. From Figure 3.8a one may notice a reduction of the interleaved current amplitude (i_{11}) at the change point of 2 s, while the other two (i_{12}, i_{12}) i_{13}) slightly increase, remaining symmetrical around the present dc component. Obviously, to draw an interleaved current in high-impedance path is not a trivial task for the proportional controller, however, it keeps the fundamental components of all interleaved currents of that submodule sinusoidal-like and around their average dc component, compensating for all current imbalances that originate from upstream control actions (compare with Figure 2.23a). From this point of view it fulfils its main task. On the other hand, Figure 3.8b proves that unequal distribution of interleaved currents in one submodule does not affect the corresponding arm current. Furthermore, profiles of input ac power and three-phase currents (cf. Figures 3.9a and 3.9c) have no visible effect of the introduced resistance increase. Instead, capacitor voltages experience a small drop of their average value due to increased equivalent resistance of the circuit (cf. Figure 3.9d). Also, a tiny drop of dc-link voltage (v_{dc}), visible in Figure 3.9b, is cleared after 1 s. A slight increase of ripple amplitude is noticeable in Figure 3.9e. All in all, the system operation is stable, despite the performed change.

The second test is related to a similar step change, but this time it is a 10-times drop of inductance in one interleaved inductor of phase *a* (cf. Figures 3.10 and 3.11). For the sake of clarity, component's parameters have been set disregarding their standard manufacturing tolerances. The shaded area in the plots of this section indicates the time duration of the performed step change.



Figure 3.10 – Step change of the inductance of an interleaved inductor in phase *a*. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM1*a* (a) and arm currents in phase *a* of ISM-MMC (b) [204].
© 2022 IEEE

Unlike the internal resistance growth (cf. Figures 3.8 and 3.9), the inductance reduction of an interleaved inductor does not change the fundamental component's amplitude. Therefore, there are no related problems with interleaved current imbalances within a SM. Instead, a


Figure 3.11 – Step change of the inductance of an interleaved inductor in phase *a*. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase currents (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of the upper arm of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with their ±10% tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode currents [204]. © 2022 IEEE

smaller inductance value of the interleaved inductor produces a higher magnitude switching ripple. Having that ripple not canceled out within a SM (cf. Figure 3.10a), it propagates on the corresponding arm current (cf. Figure 3.10b) and further. While ac currents (cf. Figure 3.11c), input power (cf. Figure 3.11a) and dc-link voltage (cf. Figure 3.11b) get slightly disturbed, the leg's common-mode current is greatly affected due to the higher presence of switching ripple. However, similar to the previous test, such parameter inequality does not introduce instability problems into the conversion system. Eventually, it can be concluded that standard manufacturing tolerances of the interleaved inductors will not affect the stable operation of the ISM-MMC.

3.6 Experimental Tests

The experimental tests were carried out to verify the dynamic and steady-state behavior of ISM-MMC, operating with newly proposed control methods. Figure 3.12 depicts circuit dia-

gram of the laboratory setup arrangement, assembled specifically for the current experiment. Detailed description of the test bench along with summary of main parameters can be found in Appendix B. Here necessary comments to the setup configuration in relation to the conducted experiment is given only.



Figure 3.12 – Circuit diagram of the laboratory test ISM-MMC setup [204]. © 2022 IEEE

The laboratory ISM-MMC has a single-phase structure with two SMs per arm. Each submodule consists of a three-leg converter connected to a capacitor (*C*) at its dc side, while ac terminals are linked with uncoupled iron-core inductors (*L*). The second terminal of the inductors is joined together, forming a positive port of the SM. The negative port of the SM is directly connected with the negative dc rail of the three-leg converter. This setup arrangement was assembled in a such way that currents in each HB-leg of a SM were sensed individually. Measured voltages and currents enter controller (RT Box 1) either as analog (marked in red, Figure 3.12) or digital (marked in blue, Figure 3.12) signals. The rest quantities of interest (e.g., arm currents, leg's common-mode current, etc.) are computed via common circuit laws. The digital outputs of RT Box 1 are used to generate firing PWM signals (g_k) for the power switches. The controller operates with a maximum sampling period of 20 μ s. The acquired signals were sampled with the same sampling time and transmitted to the PC for following post-processing (figures plotting) in Matlab environment (MathWorks Inc.).

Several experiments were performed to confirm the stable operation of ISM-MMC under input/output characteristics variation and the interleaved current control perturbation. The first test demonstrates the system response after a dc current step from 0 to 3 A. In this experiment, the implemented interleaved currents balancing control was constantly active.

Figure 3.13 illustrates the main input/output and internal characteristics of the ISM-MMC, namely instantaneous active and reactive powers supplied by the grid emulator along with their references, ac phase current, dc-link voltage, and its reference capacitor voltage of the composing SMs. The transient of dc-link voltage caused by the dc current step is cleared around 3 s, while steady-state values exhibit a clean and well-balanced response.

The interleaved legs currents of the submodule SM2 and arm current of the converter are depicted in Figure 3.14. It is visible from Figure 3.14a that fundamental components of the



Figure 3.13 – Dc current step. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its ±5% tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode current [204]. © 2022 IEEE



Figure 3.14 – Dc current step. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b) [204]. © 2022 IEEE

currents through interleaved legs are well balanced at all times during the transient and steadystate operation. Similarly, the arm currents in Figure 3.14b are level-headed.

Similarly, Figure 3.15 and Figure 3.16 illustrate the system response after a dc voltage step from 200 to 170 V. Again, all measures show clean and well-balanced feedback.



Figure 3.15 – Dc voltage step. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its ±5% tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode current [204]. © 2022 IEEE



Figure 3.16 – Dc voltage step. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b) [204]. © 2022 IEEE

The following experiment, results of which are depicted in Figures 3.17 and 3.18, was conducted to prove the stable converter operation under grid voltage perturbations, namely a phase voltage dip by 10% of the nominal value. In fact, a sudden reduction of supply voltage from 50 to 45 V has been accompanied by a proportional increase of ac current (cf. Figure 3.17c), which eventually produced a current rise in the converter arms (cf. Figure 3.18b) and interleaved legs



of each SM (cf. Figure 3.18a). As it can be noted the transient has been cleared shortly after the step and all characteristics are well balanced in steady-state condition.

Figure 3.17 – Ac voltage dip. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its ±5% tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode current [204]. © 2022 IEEE



Figure 3.18 – Ac voltage dip. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b) [204]. © 2022 IEEE

Another test was performed to demonstrate what happens if the interleaved current balancing control is disabled in one SM. The shaded (grey) area in Figures 3.19 and 3.20 highlights the time period when the interleaved current balancing control is off. As one may note, the input/output



Figure 3.19 – Interleaved currents balancing enable/disable. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its ±5% tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode current [204]. © 2022 IEEE



Figure 3.20 – Interleaved currents balancing enable/disable. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b) [204]. © 2022 IEEE

characteristics of the converter are not affected, supplied ac power, ac phase current, and dc-link voltage have no visible effect between "on" and "off" stages of the interleaved control. Similarly, capacitor voltage in SMs does not notice the control perturbation. On the contrary, as soon as the interleaved control in one SM is off, the currents within this SM get unbalanced. This effect is well visible in Figure 3.20a the current perturbations are well damped by relatively

high equivalent resistances of HB-assemblies inside the SM. There are several reasons for the currents to get imbalanced. The obvious one is non-equalities among aforementioned equivalent resistances of a single leg circuit (internal resistances of the interleaved inductors, on-state resistances of the switches, etc.). Another reason has been described in Section 3.2, and it relates to the operation of the upstream capacitor voltage balancing algorithm. Nevertheless, as soon as the operation of the interleaved current control is resumed, the currents within the SM get balanced again. Interestingly, the arm current is invariant to the control perturbation since the sum of the unbalanced currents within the SM results in a balanced arm current anyway.

All in all, performed tests demonstrate the expected behavior of the converter under various system perturbations.

3.7 Summary

This chapter is dedicated to a newly proposed interleaved currents balancing strategy in ISM-MMC structures. It has been shown that the interleaved current imbalance can originate not only from hardware-related causes, such as circuital parameters variance, unequal dead-times, etc., but also from the actions of the capacitor voltage balancing loop that is typically present in all MMC-based architectures. Therefore, a method that guarantees proper currents sharing among interleaved HB-legs within a SM is essential in ISM-MMCs. To ensure the precise current balancing, the new control loop must be placed as a ultimate control task in the whole control frame. Following this idea, a new capacitor balancing algorithm was introduced in this chapter. The proposed capacitor balancing method from one side resembles the classical capacitor voltage balancing function, typically implemented in standard MMCs in conjunction with LS-PWM, while operates with voltage references rather then with firing signals. In this way, subsequent control tasks, which relay on voltage reference adjustments, can be implemented downstream. The proposed interleaved current balancing control has distributed structure and implemented individually for each SM in ISM-MMC. It is formed by a simple feedback loop where knowledge about each interleaved current is required. The effectiveness of the proposed control strategy was extensively verified by a numerous of numerical simulations and experimental test, which are performed on the laboratory prototype. Some of them are presented in this chapter. The dynamic behaviour of the introduced control loop as well as performance of the whole system was investigated by imposing step-like perturbation in the input/output quantities of the converter. In addition to that functioning of the converter was investigated with enabled and disabled interleaved current balancing loops. The presented results demonstrate importance of the new regulator in the frame of classical MMC control applied for ISM-MMC and validate its stable, robust operation.

Chapter

Sensorless Interleaved Currents Balancing Control

4.1 Introduction

Most of the conventional ways to solve unequal current sharing among parallel units in power converters are based on sensing each unit current to provide the information for the dedicated active control loop. This approach is well established for dc/dc [205, 209] and some ac/dc converters [207]. A similar method was proposed in [204] for an ISM-MMC and has been scrupulously explained in Chapter 3. An obvious drawback of these current balancing methods is the large number of current sensors that is almost proportional to the number of parallel/interleaved units. To compact the converter and reduce its cost and complexity, several current estimation techniques have been developed for interleaved dc/dc converters, based on parasitic resistance estimation [210], small-signal duty cycle perturbation [211], self-tuning digital filter [212], temperature equalization [213] and many other. Similarly, several works have been dedicated to estimation algorithms to deal with another common balancing problem for MMC structures, namely capacitor voltage balancing. For instance, authors in [214] proposed a current sensorless capacitor voltage balancing method based on a state observer. The observer provides estimates of arm currents that are typically used in most capacitor voltage balancing algorithms.

Since ISM-MMC has been just recently introduced, very few works are dedicated to this topology. Thus, to the best of the author's knowledge, no publications apart from [215] have been focused on estimating the interleaved currents in ISM-MMCs. This chapter is devoted to the aforementioned technique, that upgrades the interleaved current balancing control presented in Chapter 3. Therefore, the main contribution of the current chapter is the implementation of a sensorless current balancing method for ISM-MMC that is capable to evenly allocate interleaved HB-leg currents, while purely relaying on their estimation. In this context, the word "sensorless" means that there are no interleaved currents measurements needed. The sensorless solution, in general, requires a computation-intensive estimation algorithm that can be sensitive to parameter variation. Moreover, the estimation method must run in real-time in order to get the estimated values at the proper instant. In this chapter, it is also demonstrated that even though the circuital parameter variation affects performance of the implemented observer, the current balancing method can still compensate for the current imbalance, which mainly originates from the actions of the upstream capacitor voltage balancing strategy. Capabilities of the newly introduced observer and the implemented interleaved current control loop has been thoroughly investigated via numerous numerical simulations and experimental tests.

The required mathematical background of the proposed state observer is explained in Section 4.2. In this section, observability and stability of the implemented state estimator is discussed in great detail. The modified current balancing technique is discussed in Section 4.3. Sections 4.4 and 4.5 verify the usefulness of the proposed current sharing technique by presenting simulation and experimental results, respectively. In addition to that, some considerations about the observer's sensitivity concerning parameter variation, are highlighted there as well. Section 4.6 summarizes and concludes the chapter.

4.2 State Observer Design

To derive mathematical formulation of the proposed state estimator, some structural fundamentals of ISM-MMC must be refreshed. As depicted in Figure 4.1, a single-phase ISM-MMC consists of two arms; each one of them comprises a series connection of switching cells, referred to as submodules. The submodules are formed using multiple half-bridge converters (units) connected in parallel to a common dc capacitor (*C*). Inductors (*L*) are used to connect each half-bridge converter to a common point, which forms a positive terminal of the submodule. The second terminal of the submodule constitutes the negative dc rail. Resistances (*R*) placed in series with inductors represent equivalent series resistances of each branch. For the following analysis, parameters (*R*, *L*, *C*) in all *N* submodules and in all *K* units are assumed to be identical among themselves, unless otherwise stated.



Figure 4.1 – Circuit diagram of a single-phase ISM-MMC [215]. © 2022 IEEE

The whole derivation process makes reference to Figure 4.1 with predefined path of current flow. However, it should be noted that observer design is identical regardless the direction of current flow. In this regard, the derivation is made for a specific case for clarity only. With respect to Figure 4.1, the voltage of a generic *n*-th submodule can be written as

$$v_{SMn} = \frac{1}{K} \left[v_{cap,n} \sum_{\substack{k=1\\ \zeta_n}}^{K} g_{n,k} - L \sum_{k=1}^{K} \frac{di_{n,k}}{dt} - R \sum_{k=1}^{K} i_{n,k} \right]$$
(4.1)

where $i_{n,k}$, $g_{n,k}$, $v_{cap,n}$, v_{SMn} and ζ_n are the current flowing in the *k*-th interleaved unit, switching functions (binary values), submodule's capacitor voltage, submodule's terminal voltage and number of active half-bridge legs in *n*-th submodule, respectively. By applying the second Kirchhoff's law for a generic half-bridge unit within the SM, derivative of the current, flowing through the branch, can be found by

$$\frac{di_{n,k}}{dt} = \frac{1}{L} \left[v_{cap,n} g_{n,k} - Ri_{n,k} - v_{SMn} \right]$$
(4.2)

Current passing through the *n*-th SM's capacitor ($i_{cap,n}$) at any instant can be determined either from the capacitor equation or as an active legs' current summation:

$$i_{cap,n} = -C \frac{dv_{cap,n}}{dt} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} (i_{n,k}g_{n,k})$$
(4.3)

Therefore, from Equation (4.3) one can obtain the time derivative of the capacitor voltage as

$$\frac{dv_{cap,n}}{dt} = -\frac{i_{cap,n}}{C} = -\frac{1}{C} \sum_{k=1}^{K} (i_{n,k}g_{n,k})$$
(4.4)

Summing up each single current derivative in Equation (4.2) evaluated for all active HB-legs (i.e., firing signals of upper switch in those legs $g_{n,k} = 1$) capacitor current time derivative in accordance with Equation (4.3) can be written as:

$$\frac{di_{cap,n}}{dt} = \underbrace{\frac{\zeta_n}{L}}_{1/L'} \left[v_{cap,n} - \underbrace{\frac{R}{\zeta_n}}_{R'} i_{cap,n} - v_{SMn} \right]$$
(4.5)

where R' and L' accordingly represent SM's equivalent resistance and inductance with respect to a number of active HB-legs. In other words, capacitor current can be referred to an equivalent branch current that accounts for all interleaved currents in ζ_n active HB-legs. Equations (4.4) and (4.5) form the basic set of equations that describe state variables ($v_{cap,n}$ and $i_{cap,n}$) of an equivalent *n*-th SM.

Observability

A system is said to be observable if the entire system's behavior can be estimated from the system's outputs, which are generally sensed. It can be noted from Equation (4.4) that the capacitor voltage, by means of the capacitor current, contains information about all interleaved currents that flow within the submodule. Therefore, by selecting capacitor voltage as an output of the system, the observability of the newly proposed state estimator can be verified based on any arbitrarily selected number of half-bridge units. Since in Equations (4.4) and (4.5) there

is no more dependency on the firing signals $g_{n,k}$, they can be transformed into the state-space representation for linear time-invariant (LTI) systems:

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbb{A}\mathbf{x} + \mathbb{B}\mathbf{u} \\ \mathbf{y} = \mathbb{C}\mathbf{x} \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

where state, input and output vectors can be defined as $\mathbf{x} = [v_{cap,n}, i_{cap,n}]^T$, $\mathbf{u} = v_{SMn}$ and $\mathbf{y} = v_{cap,n}$, respectively. Matrices \mathbb{A} , \mathbb{B} and \mathbb{C} denote state, input, and output matrices, respectively. Replacing Equations (4.4) and (4.5) inside Equation (4.6), the state-space form can be rewritten as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt} \begin{bmatrix} v_{cap,n} \\ i_{cap,n} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{C} \\ \frac{\zeta_n}{L} & -\frac{R}{L} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{cap,n} \\ i_{cap,n} \end{bmatrix} - \frac{\zeta_n}{L} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} v_{SMn} \\ v_{cap,n} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} v_{cap,n} \\ i_{cap,n} \end{bmatrix} \end{cases}$$
(4.7)

The Kalman observability matrix O, in the form

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{O} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{C}\mathbf{A} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{C} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.8)

has always full rank regardless the time varying nature of ζ_n . Therefore, as foreseeable, it is always possible observe states $v_{cap,n}$ and $i_{cap,n}$, having sensed the capacitor voltage only.

Carriers phase shift, associated with interleaved modulation scheme (cf. Section 2.5), has a crucial role in interleaved currents estimation since it opens a possibility, within each carrier period T_{cr} , to formulate multiple values of capacitor current (vector $\mathbf{I}_{cap,n|k}$) derived from corresponding vectors of HB-leg currents $\mathbf{I}_{n,k}$ bearing in mind HB-leg's active states (i.e., $g_{n,k} = 1$). If *K* capacitor currents related to a set of independent *K*-tuple gate signals $g_{n,k}$ can be identified, the vector of *K* HB-leg currents $\mathbf{I}_{n,k}$ can be reconstructed every switching period from the sole knowledge of the capacitor voltage $v_{cap,n}$. The latter statement can be formalized by stacking *K* times Equation (4.3) in the form

$$\begin{bmatrix}
i_{cap,n|1} \\
i_{cap,n|2} \\
\vdots \\
i_{cap,n|K}
\end{bmatrix} = \underbrace{\begin{bmatrix}
g_{n,1|1} & g_{n,2|1} & \cdots & g_{n,K|1} \\
g_{n,1|2} & g_{n,2|2} & \cdots & g_{n,K|2} \\
\vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\
g_{n,1|K} & g_{n,2|K} & \cdots & g_{n,K|K}
\end{bmatrix}}_{\mathbf{G}_{k}} \begin{bmatrix}
i_{n,1} \\
i_{n,2} \\
\vdots \\
i_{n,K}
\end{bmatrix}}$$
(4.9)

where each row represents a different capacitor current composition, depending on the binary states of high switch in each HB-leg. The latter term composes matrix G_k .

If the duty cycle δ given by the modulating signal stays below 1/K level, it is always possible to rewrite matrix G_k as the identity matrix. On the other hand, if the duty cycle δ attain values above (K - 1)/K level, the matrix G_k converts into a matrix of ones with the main diagonal made of zeros. For all the remaining values of duty cycle δ , the Hamming space of gate signals *K*-tuple is characterized by non-repetitive configurations, which sequentially permutate with unity Hamming distance. Therefore, it is always possible to find *K* set of independent *K*-tuple gate signals $g_{n,k}$. In other words, regardless of the number of interleaved half-bridges, at least one invertible matrix G_k can be identified every switching period. Hence, being Equation (4.9) solvable at any time instant, the observability of each interleaved current with aforementioned state variables can always be guaranteed.



Figure 4.2 – SM's interleaved carriers and their Hamming space in case of K = 3 [215]. © 2022 IEEE

These considerations are intuitively depicted in Figure 4.2 for a submodule having three halfbridges (K = 3). It clearly stands out that a SM is observable only in the occurrence of switching actions. Interleaved currents in bypassed or fully inserted submodules with all the gate signals of upper switches in HB-legs either equal to 0 or 1 are not observable with above mentioned state variables (at least within a generic switching period).

Observer

The state observer model of a physical LTI system can be represented by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\hat{\mathbf{x}}} = \mathbb{A}\hat{\mathbf{x}} + \mathbb{B}\mathbf{u} + \mathbb{L}(\mathbf{y} - \hat{\mathbf{y}}) \\ \hat{\mathbf{y}} = \mathbb{C}\hat{\mathbf{x}} \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

where \hat{x} and \hat{y} are estimates of the corresponding plant's state and output. Matrix \mathbb{L} comprises observer gains.

By substituting Equations (4.4) and (4.5) into Equation (4.10) and denoting variables of matrix $\mathbb{L} = [l_v, l_i]$, the following equations can be derived

$$\frac{d\hat{v}_{cap,n}}{dt} = -\frac{\hat{i}_{cap,n}}{C} + l_v(v_{cap,n} - \hat{v}_{cap,n})$$

$$\tag{4.11}$$

$$\frac{d\hat{i}_{cap,n}}{dt} = \frac{\zeta_n}{L} \left[v_{cap,n} - \frac{R}{\zeta_n} \hat{i}_{cap,n} - v_{SMn} \right] + l_i (v_{cap,n} - \hat{v}_{cap,n})$$
(4.12)

being $\hat{v}_{cap,n}$ and $\hat{i}_{cap,n}$ estimates of capacitor voltage and current, respectively. By analyzing Equation (4.12), one may notice that the knowledge of submodule voltage is required to derive the state of the capacitor current. Although this voltage can be measured directly, such an approach requires to double number of voltage sensors in ISM-MMC in comparison with classical MMCs, which is not an optimal solution from many perspectives (cost, volume, etc.), including a concern about sufficient bandwidth of the voltage sensors. Thus, the voltage can be derived indirectly from Equation (4.1), bearing in mind that the sum of interleaved currents inside an SM is actually the arm current (cf. Equation 2.8), resulting in the following expression of SM voltage

$$\hat{v}_{SMn|u,l} = \frac{1}{K} \left[v_{cap,n|u,l} \cdot \zeta_{n|u,l} - L \frac{di_{u,l}}{dt} - Ri_{u,l} \right]$$
(4.13)

Estimate sign ("hat") is added to submodule voltage in Equation (4.13) to point out that it is indirectly obtained based on sensed capacitor voltage and arm current. It should be noted that the arm current sensors are required in addition to typical capacitor voltage measurements. Nevertheless, the arm currents are commonly measured in MMC structures (depending on the control design). It also must be highlighted that the considered in Equation (4.13) equivalent circuit parameters (R/K, L/K) are rated values and likely to be different in a real system. However, the voltage drops accounted by the parameters in Equation (4.13) have significantly lower magnitude with respect to the capacitor voltage ($v_{cap,n}$). In addition, variation of real circuitry parameters is generally limited by manufacturing tolerances, which are in the range of few tens of percent. Therefore, the reconstructed SM voltage has quite a good accuracy with respect to the actual value, and it can be treated as an independent variable in Equation (4.12).

Having the estimates of capacitor current in each SM's switching configuration, the HB-leg currents with reference to Equation (4.9) can be derived by

$$\mathbf{I}_{n,k} = \mathbf{G}_k^{-1} \mathbf{I}_{cap,n|k} \tag{4.14}$$

Stability of the Observer

Considering definition of the estimated model (capacitor voltage and current) given by Equations (4.11), (4.12) and subtracting it from the plant's model formulated by Equations (4.4) and (4.5), the observation error dynamics has the following form:

$$\frac{d\tilde{v}_{cap,n}}{dt} = -\frac{\tilde{i}_{cap,n}}{C} - l_v \tilde{v}_{cap,n}$$
(4.15)

$$\frac{d\tilde{i}_{cap,n}}{dt} = -\frac{R}{L}\tilde{i}_{cap,n} - l_i\tilde{v}_{cap,n}$$
(4.16)

where $\tilde{v}_{cap,n} = v_{cap,n} - \hat{v}_{cap,n}$ and $\tilde{i}_{cap,n} = i_{cap,n} - \hat{i}_{cap,n}$ are observation errors of capacitor voltage and current, respectively.

The stability of the designed observer (i.e., the trajectories of estimates do not diverge from their corresponding real values) can be formulated by exhibiting a Lyapunov function that corresponds to the energy in the increment with respect to an arbitrary, nominal state trajectory. For the observer, the energy in the increment takes the form [216]:

$$W_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{2}C\tilde{v}_{cap,n}^2 + \frac{L}{2\zeta_n}\tilde{i}_{cap,n}^2$$
(4.17)

which is clearly positive definite function. Its derivative is

$$\dot{W}_{\varepsilon} = C\tilde{v}_{cap,n}\dot{\tilde{v}}_{cap,n} + \frac{L}{\zeta_n}\tilde{i}_{cap,n}\dot{\tilde{i}}_{cap,n}$$
(4.18)

By substituting Equations (4.15) and (4.16) into Equation (4.18) yields

$$\dot{W}_{\varepsilon} = -l_v C \tilde{v}_{cap,n}^2 - \frac{R}{\zeta_n} \tilde{i}_{cap,n}^2 - (1 + l_i \frac{L}{\zeta_n}) \tilde{v}_{cap,n} \tilde{i}_{cap,n}$$
(4.19)

where circuital parameters (R, L, C), number of active half-bridge legs ζ_n and observer gains (l_v , l_i) are strictly positive real numbers. In Equation (4.19), the first two terms are negative definite, while the last term bounded and can be either positive or negative. Therefore, selecting relatively

large l_v and reasonable l_i can ensure $\dot{W}_{\varepsilon} < 0$, which will force the observation error converge to zero.

4.3 Modified Interleaved Currents Balancing Control

This section explains a few modifications, which are introduced into the interleaved current balancing method for ISM-MMC (cf. Chapter 3). Figure 4.3 depicts a block diagram of the proposed current balancing scheme. There are few steps to obtain estimated values of interleaved currents that are typically used in the feedback loop of the proportional controller. The very first step is to compute submodule voltage (cf. Equation (4.13)) based on measured values of arm current, capacitor voltages and known set of firing signals. At the same time, an estimate of each capacitor voltage must be obtained based on Equations (4.9) and (4.11). Eventually, both those quantities enter the interleaved current prediction block formed by Equations (4.9), (4.12) and (4.14). Later all individual current derivatives are integrated to obtain estimated interleaved currents for each SM. A proportional controller with gain $k_{p,intlv}$ computes voltage reference increments that must be added to the set of identical SM voltage references created to modulate each HB-leg separately (cf. Chapter 3).



Figure 4.3 – Block diagram of the proposed state observer-based interleaved legs current balancing control [215]. (C) 2022 IEEE

The implemented sensorless interleaved legs current balancing control has the objective to balance fundamental components of the interleaved currents within a single SM, naturally unbalanced due to upstream control actions. Hence, it is an individual, SM-level control method. With the rise of the number of SM, the computation burden on a controller will increase proportionally. Therefore, an efficient hardware realization of the control constitutes an optimization problem. This discussion falls outside the scope of this thesis. Given that the observer part (cf. Equations (4.11), (4.12) and (4.13)) has only a few derivatives and integrals to compute, as well as the switching frequency of individual semiconductors in ISM-MMCs usually tend to be up to a few kHz; hence the controller has sufficient time to compute and update the estimates in one PWM cycle. In this context, most of the entry-level microcontrollers will satisfy the computation requirement of the presented current balancing method.

4.4 Numerical Simulations

This section presents some simulation results that aim to validate the performance of the implemented state observer and the interleaved legs current sensorless balancing method.

It must be stressed once again here, that this control loop's primary objective is to balance individual interleaved currents in each HB-leg around their average value given the current imbalance because of capacitor voltage balancing. So, the main focus here is whether the built interleaved current regulator can balance the currents or not. To validate this matter, the simulation model involves a simple single-phase ISM-MMC structure with two SMs per arm (N = 2) and three interleaved HB-legs within each SM (K = 3) (cf. Figure 4.1). The converter works as an inverter supplying power from dc to ac side connected to a constant, passive load. The converter is regulated with output current open-loop control by setting desired reference phase voltage manually with limit of 353.6 V (rms) in linear modulation range. The internal control loops, namely circulating current control and capacitor voltage balancing, are always activated to keep the operation of ISM-MMC stable and balanced (cf. Section 2.7). Two ideal voltage sources are placed instead of dc-link split capacitors ($2C_{dc}$, cf. Figure 4.1) to eliminate related dc voltage imbalances in single-phase structure. The key parameters of the implemented simulation model are given in Table 4.1, and they correspond to the design example introduced in Section 2.7 (a single-phase only).

Description	Symbol	Parameters
System parameters		
converter configuration (single-phase version)	-	N2K3f1k
number of SMs per arm	N	2
number of HB-legs in each SM	K	3
rated ac power and line-to-neutral voltage (rms)	P_{ac}, V	60 kW, 353.6 V
power factor	-	0.985
fundamental frequency	f	50 Hz
rated dc-link voltage	V _{dc}	1000 V
carrier frequency	fcr	1 kHz
individual interleaved leg equivalent parameters	<i>R, L</i>	234.7 mΩ, 2.5 mH
individual SM capacitance	C, R _{ESR}	6.4 mF, 0.2 mΩ
IGBT module (Infineon Technologies AG)	-	FF150R12RT4 [193]
Control settings		
dc voltage control bandwidth	$\alpha_{p,dc} \mid \alpha_{i,dc}$	15 rad/s 5 rad/s
averaging time of the dc moving-average filter (H_{dc})	-	10 ms
loop-filter bandwidth (PLL)	$\alpha_{p,pll} \mid \alpha_{i,pll}$	50 rad/s 10 rad/s
output current control bandwidth	$\alpha_{c,oc} \mid \alpha_{r,oc}$	2000 rad/s 50 rad/s
circulating current control	$R_{cir} \mid \alpha_{2,cir}$	$1.7 \Omega \mid 250 \text{ rad/s}$
LPF circulating current control	$k_{f,cir} \mid \alpha_{f,cir}$	$\sqrt{2}$ 100 rad/s
sorting frequency	fsort	333 Hz
interleaved current balancing	k _{p,intlv}	$0.006 \ \mathrm{A}^{-1}$
observer current and voltage gains	l_i, l_v	$10 \ { m H}^{-1}$, 20000 ${ m s}^{-1}$

Table 4.1 – Main parameters of the simulation model for single-phase ISM-MMC [215]. © 2022 IEEE

The first simulation test was designed to demonstrate the performance of the proposed state observer-based interleaved legs current balancing control under ideal working conditions, namely when the system *R*, *L*, *C* parameters are well known and equal among themselves. Figure 4.4 depicts simulated interleaved currents, their comparison against the corresponding estimated values and distribution of observation errors when interleaved current control in the entire ISM-MMC is enabled (zones with white background) or disabled (gray zone). It is interesting to note that when the implemented state observer-based interleaved current



Figure 4.4 – Simulated interleaved currents in SM1 (a), timeseries of simulated and observed interleaved currents (b,d,f) with corresponding distribution of observation error (c,e,g) under equal R, L, C parameters and timeslots of enabled/disabled interleaved current balancing control [215]. © 2022 IEEE

balancing method is active, the fundamental components of currents within a SM are perfectly balanced. Once it is deactivated, these currents start getting instantly imbalanced. The reason is that the capacitor voltage balancing control forces switches commutate in a specific manner to satisfy its objective, balance capacitor voltages around their mean (cf. Section 3.2). The equivalent resistance of individual HB-legs acts as a damping factor limiting this unbalance. The lower the value of the equivalent resistance, the greater the current imbalance. Nevertheless, as it is visible from Figures 4.4b-4.4g, the estimated interleaved currents nicely repeat the simulated counterparts with minimal observation error staying within $\pm 1.2\%$ of each individual current rms value. The absolute error value is calculated at each sample within a given time range, subtracting simulated from estimated values. The error normalization is done with individual current rms since these currents are composed of dc, fundamental and high (switching) frequency components. Probability density functions (PDF) are calculated by using either "normal" or "kernel" distributions.



Figure 4.5 – Simulated interleaved currents in SM1 (a), timeseries of simulated and observed interleaved currents (b,d,f) with corresponding distribution of observation error (c,e,g) under random R, L, C parameters and timeslots of enabled/disabled interleaved current balancing control [215]. C 2022 IEEE

To verify that the current balancing can be implemented in a real system, where all internal components are subjected to manufacturing tolerances, the next numerical test is done with unequal circuitry parameters within each SM. The following simulation test shows similar zones (cf. Figure 4.4) with active and inactive interleaved currents balancing loops. However, this time the *R*, *L*, *C* parameters of each SM in ISM-MMC have randomly distributed values. The

parameter tolerances are limited by 30% of their nominal values (cf. Table 4.1). Accounting for these tolerances in the simulation is made by generating random numbers with a Gaussian distribution and confidence interval of $\pm 4\sigma$. For example, equivalent resistances per HB-leg of SM1 (upper arm) are [229.3, 252.7, 228.5] m Ω , inductances [2.3, 2.4, 2.8] mH and capacitance of the SM's capacitor is 6 mF (cf. Table 4.1). These parameters are different for each SM of the ISM-MMC. It can be noted from Figure 4.5a that due to these unequal parameters within a SM, the interleaved currents cannot be perfectly aligned as it was in the case of Figure 4.4a, even with activated interleaved current control. However, those currents are stabilized around their average value, demonstrating balanced, sinusoid-like waveforms. Again, once the control is disabled, the currents got imbalanced, however, with a larger magnitude due to the parameter's inequality. This time the estimation error is almost uniformly distributed in $\pm 15\%$ of each individual current rms. Nevertheless, state observer performs quite well, following the real, simulated currents in interleaved legs.



Figure 4.6 – Timeseries of simulated and observed capacitor voltage (a) and submodule voltage (c) of SM1 with corresponding distribution of observation error (b) and (d) under **random** *R*, *L*, *C* parameters and timeslots of enabled/disabled interleaved current balancing control [215]. © 2022 IEEE

To demonstrate estimation performance in terms of capacitor and submodule voltage, which are variables of the observer law, Figure 4.6 depicts time-series with simulated and observed capacitor and submodule voltage of SM1 with corresponding observation errors. The absolute values of these errors were normalized with the corresponding rms value of the voltage, similar to interleaved currents. The observation error for capacitor voltages is close to 0, showing that inequality of the parameters does not play a relevant role here. In the case of capacitor voltage estimation, this happens mainly because capacitor voltage is an output of the observer and it is a simulated value; hence, the observer can track this voltage precisely. Unlike the capacitor voltage, and it depends on the equivalent circuit of an SM (cf. Equation (4.13)). Despite that, as explained in Section 4.2, the voltage drops on the *R*, *L* elements of the circuit are small compared to SM capacitor voltage. Hence relatively small mismatch in the parameters does not produce a vast estimation error.

Overall, the implemented state observer-based interleaved legs current balancing control is able quite well to reach its objective, namely balancing the individual interleaved currents around their average even in the case with unequal circuit parameters. In this context, the current regulator compensates the current imbalance due to upstream control (the main contribution comes from the capacitor voltage balancing algorithm). Hence, there is always a current error present between individual interleaved leg current and the legs common average value even in the case with equal circuitry parameters. This error provokes the controller to generate a proportional voltage increment that adds to the HB-leg's average voltage. This action repeats until the estimated current does not reach the target. The current imbalance given by characteristic inequality of the composing elements (typically small due to the proper design of the converter) cannot be eliminated since the designed observer operates with rated values rather than real system parameters. An additional estimation loop can be implemented to assess the actual parameters of the SM circuit. However, this subject falls out of the scope of this thesis.

4.5 Experimental Tests

The experimental tests were performed to demonstrate dynamic and steady-state behavior of ISM-MMC, operating with the proposed state observer-based interleaved legs current balancing control. The tests were executed on a laboratory prototype, the circuital diagram of which can be found in Figure 4.7. Detailed description of the test bench along with view and summary of main parameters can be found in Appendix B. Here necessary comments to the setup configuration in relation to the conducted experiment is given only.



Figure 4.7 – Circuit diagram of the laboratory test ISM-MMC setup in relation to the implemented interleaved currents sensorless control [215]. © 2022 IEEE

The laboratory ISM-MMC has a single-phase structure with two SMs per arm (N = 2) and three HB-legs per SM (K = 3). A controller for rapid prototyping RT Box 1 (Plexim GmbH) governs the power stage of the laboratory prototype. Measured currents and voltages enter the controller either as analog (marked in red, Figure 4.7) or as digital (marked in blue, Figure 4.7) input signals. In addition to the depicted in Figure 4.7 analog measurements, the interleaved

currents from SM2 (i_{21} , i_{22} , i_{23}) and SM3 (i_{31} , i_{32} , i_{33}) were sampled via RT Box 1 (are not depicted in Figure 4.7) for comparison with estimated values that are used in the new control strategy. Table B.1 provides a summary of the main parameters of the laboratory setup.



Figure 4.8 – Dc current step. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); measured capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its ±5% tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode current [215]. © 2022 IEEE



Figure 4.9 – Dc current step. Measured currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b) [215]. © 2022 IEEE

The dc current step from 0 to 3 A has been introduced to the test ISM-MMC to demonstrate the dynamic performance of the implemented observer and associated with that interleaved

current regulator. Based on the state observer, the discussed interleaved current balancing loops were always active during the conducted experiment. Figures 4.8 and 4.9 depict the main input, output and internal characteristics of ISM-MMC, namely supplied ac power (active and reactive), ac phase current, dc-bus voltage, capacitor voltages, phase leg common-mode current, arm currents and individual currents of SM2 (cf. Figure 4.7). It should be stressed here that the quantities presented by Figures 4.8 and 4.9 are directly measured or derived by employing common calculus rules (Kirchhoff's current law, power calculation, etc.) from the measured quantities. It is well visible from these pictures that all waveforms are well balanced and reach their steady-state value after some transient time that finishes around 2.5 s of the plot scale. The key point here to be checked is the distribution of interleaved currents within the SM (cf. Figure 4.9a). In fact, they are nicely balanced, having a minor mismatch at the peaks of sinusoids, provoked by circuital parameter inequality. However, as will be demonstrated shortly, the rms values of these currents are pretty close.



Figure 4.10 – Dc current step. Measured and estimated currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a,c,e) with corresponding distribution of observation error (b,d,f) [215]. © 2022 IEEE

To visualize the dynamic behavior of the implemented state observer, measured interleaved currents from Figure 4.9a are plotted versus their estimates (cf. Figures 4.10a, 4.10c and 4.10e). The corresponding error distributions over the steady-state range (from 2.5 s to 4.5 s of the plot scale in Figure 4.9a) are depicted in Figures 4.10b, 4.10d and 4.10f. The normalization of the errors is done based on measured rms values of the corresponding interleaved currents (left-upper corner of the plots). It is noticeable from both time-series and error distribution plots that the

estimates of all three interleaved currents fit quite well to the real waveforms with absolute error bounded in the range $\pm 20\%$ of the measured currents rms, which is very close to the error range from performed simulations with random circuital parameters (cf. Figures 4.5c, 4.5e and 4.5g). In fact it can be noticed, that since the circuital parameter variance is constrained by manufacturing tolerances, so the error is also bounded at some range. In addition, it is also visible that the errors fit quite well to Gaussian distribution. Nevertheless, even though the estimated currents cannot repeat their measured counterpart, the fact that the interleaved currents are decently balanced in Figure 4.9a proves the feasibility of the proposed state observer-based interleaved current regulator.



Figure 4.11 – Dc current step. Measured and estimated capacitor voltage of submodule SM2 (a) with corresponding distribution of observation error (b) [215]. © 2022 IEEE

Likewise, to the current estimate, it is also essential to depict a similar comparison in the case of capacitor voltages (cf. Figure 4.11) since the observer is built based on capacitor voltage error. This fact is particularly evident when the ac phase current is zero (open-circuit case). At this operating point, the variation of capacitor voltage is minimal and interleaved currents almost purely consist of high (switching) frequency components. In such conditions, precisely estimating interleaved currents is very difficult.

Overall, the dynamic and steady-state behavior of the newly proposed sensorless interleaved currents balancing strategy is stable and predictable.

4.6 Summary

A current sharing problem in interleaved SMs of ISM-MMC that mostly arises from the upstream control actions is solved in this chapter with help of a new interleaved currents sensorless method. A new state observer-based feedback control that operates individually with each SM has been introduced into classical ISM-MMC control layout. The implementation is discussed in great detail in this chapter, providing necessary mathematical background. Observability and stability of the observer has been verified here as well. The implemented state observer employs only a few mathematical operations, hence it does not require high computation power. Instead, the new interleaved currents balancing method requires only a few measurements from the sensors, which are already employed in other control actions. This fact reflects positively on the cost, volume and complexity of the ISM-MMC since it does not require to place or remove sensors while number of HB-legs in a SM varies. One particular drawback that associates with this balancing method was highlighted in this chapter. In addition to SM, provides

non-accurate current estimations. However, as it was verified by numerical simulations and experimental results, this estimator-related drawback does not vastly degrade performance of the based on it interleaved current balancing loop. Instead, the control is able adequately response on the internal and external step-like system perturbations.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and Future Research

5.1 Summary and Contributions

The modular multilevel converter (MMC) has come a long way since its introduction almost two decade ago. Ongoing improvements and advances in MMC technology have extended the range of medium and high-voltage applications where the MMC de-facto has become a standard. It features competitive advantages in comparison with conventional or other multilevel counterparts, such as quality of output characteristics (voltage, current), high modularity and simple voltage-level scalability by stacking the so-called submodules in a series. On the other hand, the existing submodule structures do not permit flexible current-level scalability. To tackle this problem a new interleaved submodule structure has been proposed for modular multilevel converters, forming a novel topology named Modular Multilevel Converter with Interleaved half-bridge Sub-Modules (ISM-MMC). Among strong points of the new converter structure are easily scalable voltage and current ratings, suitable for all voltage levels high power applications, enhanced output waveforms, improved efficiency and fault tolerance capability in comparison with classical MMC architectures. The latter concept can be justified by highly modular SM's structure in ISM-MMC exploiting benefits of parallel systems (term in readability studies), where failure of a single component (HB-leg) does not mean failure of whole system (SM). In addition to that superb scalability in both voltage and current levels promotes the usage of low-voltage, low-current power modules. In such scenario, other semiconductor technologies can be exploit (e.g., MOSFET). Looking from another angle, extra degree of freedom in power partitioning brings possibilities to independently design each converter stage, enabling the synthesis of highly optimized components, bring down converter losses and optimize design of the cooling system, making it more distributed and efficient. Moreover, fault blocking capabilities of ISM-MMC can be substantially increased since each interleaved unit handles only a portion of the fault current.

Another feature that originates from interleaving concept is the further quality enhancement of ac voltage waveforms, which diminish filtering requirements on the grid side. This cumulative effect emerges from two properties that interleaving submodule produces in ISM-MMC. The first property is the number of synthesized phase voltage levels, which in case of ISM-MMC is not only proportional to a number of series connected submodules within an arm but also to a number of parallel connected HB-units in a SM. The second feature is the equivalent converter

switching frequency that in case of the proposed hybrid carrier-based modulation scheme is a multiple of the carrier frequency and number of interleaved HB-units in a SM.

On the contrary ISM-MMC has some obvious structural drawbacks, such as increased complexity of the converter architecture with many commutating devices to be controlled and larger number of required inductors. Nevertheless, it should be pointed out that a distributed arrangement of these inductors is not necessarily a weak point since the current ratings of the inductors is proportionally less than a classical arm inductor. Therefore, with an optimal design equal or superior qualitive characteristics (cost, weight, volume, etc.) can be reached.

All aforementioned ISM-MMC characteristics along with derived average converter model, control and modulation schemes are exhaustively discussed in Chapter 2 of this thesis. Here, the applicability of classical MMC control techniques for ISM-MMC has been proven. Furthermore, this part of the thesis is devoted to performance and efficiency comparison between several ISM-MMC and standard MMC configuration, with the fixed number of semiconductors and power ratings. It has been demonstrated that in most of the examined characteristics, ISM-MMC can offer superior or equal performance in comparison with classical MMCs. A relative efficiency gain up to 1.56% (with total power losses reduction up to 53.24%) depending on the compared configurations and operating power level can be achieved. This chapter also presents numerical simulations and hardware-in-the-loop tests that were carried out to validate key features of ISM-MMC and the implemented control/modulation techniques, eventually proving feasibility of the proposed MMC-based structure with reference to a low-voltage, ultra-fast EV charging infrastructure.

Another important contribution of this thesis regards the development of a control strategy that resolves the hidden within a SM interleaved currents balancing problem. This problem is quite common in interleaved converters, while it is new in MMC structures and has not been deeply elaborated in literature. It has been proven that a reasonable level of interleaved currents imbalance does not cause instability problems in ISM-MMC. Moreover, this effect is practically invisible from outside of a SM. However, high magnitude imbalanced currents cause excessive converter losses, saturation of the inductors and thermal stress on the SM components, which eventually may lead to their failure. Therefore, a uniform distribution of the total arms current among the interleaved HB-legs has to be ensured. Comprehensive analysis of this problem shows that substantial part of the currents imbalance is provoked by the capacitor voltage balancing algorithm, which is frequently implemented with sorting functions. To compensate its actions the new interleaved current balancing method should be the ultimate task in the ISM-MMC control arrangement. However, implementation of such control layout with common MMC sorting algorithms for capacitor voltage balancing is troublesome since their operation is based on reassignment of firing signals. To manage this issue a new capacitor voltage balancing algorithm is presented in this thesis. It operates with voltage references rather than with firing signals, hence the outputs of this capacitor voltage balancing block are still voltage references, providing greater flexibility in terms of control tasks arrangement. After that the new current balancing method, which is based on simple feedback loop, can be introduced. The reference voltage adjustment for each interleaved HB-leg takes place individually, ensuring high dynamic response and control flexibility. Chapter 3 deals with all above mentioned aspects. Furthermore, it has been shown that standard manufacturing tolerances of the interleaved inductors do not cause instability problems in ISM-MMC. At the same time, the proposed balancing method can successfully cope with such non-idealities. The proposed control loops are compatible with digital processors and show decent performance with a relatively large sampling period. This aspect has been fully verified during extensive experimental tests on a laboratory prototype. The

dynamic and steady-state behavior demonstrate expected performance under several system and control perturbations.

The initially proposed interleaved current balancing control relies on individual interleaved currents sensing. This approach has an evident disadvantage, namely a very large number of required current sensors, which is almost proportional to the number of interleaved legs in the whole converter. To cope with this challenge a new state observer is proposed. Observers typically add complexity to the control system and demand high computational resources, especially in the highly modular structures as ISM-MMC. However, the implemented state observer employs only a few mathematical operations and can fit in an entry-level controller. In addition to that, it requires only a few measured quantities, namely capacitor voltages and arm currents that are typically sensed in classical MMCs for operation of internal control loops. Therefore, the proposed interleaved current balancing method does not need excessive interleaved currents measurements that directly reflects on the cost and complexity of the ISM-MMC converters. It can adequately share the arm current among interleaved legs of a SM, compensating the primary cause of the high current imbalance, namely actions of capacitor voltage balancing technique. Both numerical simulations and experimental tests verified the steady-state and dynamic performance of the introduced current balancing method. It has been shown thought that the implemented observer provides current estimations with lower accuracy when the circuit parameters vary from their observer preset values. This accuracy is bounded by the variance of real parameters from the preset ones in the estimator. However, in a good converter design, this variance is limited; hence the observer-related estimation error is also limited. In this case, the potential current imbalance due to parameter variance can be effectively bounded. All these matters are covered in Chapter 4.

5.2 Proposal for Future Research

Even though this thesis tries to cover the key aspects of the new converter design, there are several challenges, questions and new stimulating ideas arise. Indeed, based on the concepts developed in this work, a few future research guidelines can be proposed. The experimental validation, performed in the frame of this thesis to prove feasibility of proposed topology, control and modulation methods, is based on a reduced scale laboratory prototype (a single-phase converter). Therefore, the real-scale, application-specific implementation issues cannot be fully investigated. In this regard some auxiliary systems of the new modular high-power converter can be optimized, e.g. cooling, communication, etc.

Another attractive research topic for the future converter development refers to an optimal design of ISM-MMC, considering cost and characteristics of the composing components (i.e., less SMs/interleaved HB-legs with higher ratings or more SMs/interleaved HB-legs with reduced ratings). Proper selection of these design parameters is a multi-variable optimization problem that must consider, for instance, cost, power ratings of the components, power quality requirements, etc. In addition, a proper design of interleaved inductors must be studied, considering maximum allowed peak-to-peak current ripple in interleaved assemblies and output characteristics of the converter. Similar task can be addressed to a SM capacitor voltage ripple study.

The implemented ISM-MMC control structure, which is presented in current thesis, is based on a classical MMC control approach. Hence, other modern, application-related control methods (e.g., predictive, repetitive, artificial intelligence based control, etc.) can be applied, providing

a comparative analysis of the converter dynamic and steady-state behaviour. Control task distribution in hardware implementation can be optimized, detaching several control rings (e.g., converter level, arm level and submodule level). The proposed observer-based interleaved current control can be upgraded with a help of advanced observers that allows to take into account variance of the real circuital parameters from their nominal value. Similarly to the control, other frequently used and advanced modulation schemes can be analyzed and compared. In this context, different common-mode injections for carrier-based modulations may be topic of interest for future developments.

The new conversion system has been tested under balanced power supply conditions (balanced voltages and currents) and regular operation of the converter. From this prospective, stable and robust functioning of ISM-MMC must be investigated, for example, during a system fault, active/reactive power oscillations, abnormal ISM-MMC operations, etc. The latter subject is especially interesting since it is directly linked with system survival and optimized functioning. As an example, operation with disconnected on purpose or due to a fault, single or multiple HB-units within a SM could be examined.

From an application point of view different ISM-MMC arrangements can be analyzed as well, for example, similar to standard MMC realizations, namely single-star, single-delta, double-star, etc. Likewise, full-bridge interleaved submodule arrangements can be tested, dividing interleaved HB-units into the groups.

In this work a simple HB-unit has been considered in the interleaved structure of a SM, while other basic units commonly manufactured can be considered, e.g., multilevel legs (NPC, FC, etc.).

Another interesting research path would be to compare structural and performance differences between ISM-MMC and other non MMC-based high-power converters (e.g., active-neutralpoint-clamped converter). However, to make this comparison fair one should bear in mind that the key characteristics of the compared converters (e.g., power and voltage ratings, number of semiconductors, application type, etc.) must be preserved the same.

Finally and given the large number of hardware elements, studies on the failure rates and reliability of such complex power conversion system as a ISM-MMC, in association with fault management techniques and implementations of redundancy schemes shall be reported.

Appendix A

Efficiency calculations

A power converter's efficiency can be determined by relation of the output power (in rectification mode, $P_{out} = P_{dc}$) to its input power, where the last part can be represented by sum of output power and total losses ($P_{in} = P_{dc} + P_{loss}$). The latter term consists of several sources of power losses and strongly depends on the converter structure. In most of MMC-based structures (including the proposed ISM-MMC), the total power losses sum up from power dissipation in inductors (P_{ind}), losses in floating SM capacitors (P_{cap}) and losses in switching devices. The last mentioned loss portion has a major impact on the total converter efficiency and it can be represented by conduction losses (P_{con}), switching losses (P_{sw}), constant power dissipation in IGBT drive circuit (P_{driv}) and switching frequency-dependent gate-drive losses (P_{gate}).

$$\eta = \frac{P_{dc}}{P_{dc} + P_{loss}} = \frac{P_{dc}}{P_{dc} + P_{ind} + P_{cap} + P_{con} + P_{sw} + P_{driv} + P_{gate}}$$
(A.1)

The following subsections provide necessary formulations for each source of power losses. The following assumptions have been considered:

- constant SM capacitor voltage;
- leg's common-mode current is purely composed by a dc component, which can be computed as the dc current equally shared among converters' phases;
- converter operates with unity power factor;
- current ripple associated with switching process is neglected;
- currents inside each submodule are balanced and equally distributed among the HB-legs;
- losses in the connecting wires are neglected;
- two submodule configurations (N = 2) are taken as a reference (e.g., "N2K3f1k", "N2K3f333", "N2Kp3f1k)", while the calculus can be extended to any arbitrary number of SMs.

Inductor losses

Power dissipation in inductors can be determined by the following formula:

$$P_{ind} = 2MI_{u,l}^2 R_{arm} \tag{A.2}$$

where expression "2*M*" represents total arm number in *M*-phase converter, $I_{u,l}$ is rms value of the corresponding arm current. Term R_{arm} stands for the equivalent internal resistance of an arm inductor. In ISM-MMC topology it can be derived by equivalent transformations of the converter circuit. Assuming that the total power losses are in the range of few percent of the output power, per-phase rms value of arm current can be defined by

$$I_{u,l|x} = \frac{I_{dc}}{M} \sqrt{1 + \frac{2}{m_x^2}} = \frac{P_{dc}}{MV_{dc}} \sqrt{1 + \frac{2}{m_x^2}}$$
(A.3)

where V_{dc} is the rated dc-bus voltage and per-phase modulating index m_x is defined by Equation (2.49). Finally, by substituting Equation (A.3) into Equation (A.2), losses associated with inductors in MMC or ISM-MMC circuit are expressed as

$$P_{ind} = \frac{2P_{dc}^2}{MV_{dc}^2} \left[1 + \frac{2}{m_x^2} \right] R_{arm}$$
(A.4)

It should be noted that Equation (A.4) accounts copper losses only. The inductor core losses due to eddy currents and hysteresis effect are not considered here.

Capacitor losses

Power losses due to equivalent series resistance (ESR) of the SM floating capacitors can be calculated taking into account the time periods when the capacitor is inserted or bypassed. Neglecting the effect of capacitor voltage balancing (constant SM capacitor voltage), the time periods when each capacitor in the arm string is inserted can be evenly distributed among all of them. In this example only two SMs are considered, however it can be easily extended to any arbitrary number of SMs.

$$P_{cap} = \frac{4M}{T} R_{ESR} \left[\int_{0}^{T/4} i_{u,l}^2 d_{on} dt + \int_{T/4}^{T/2} i_{u,l}^2 (1 - d_{on}) dt \right]$$
(A.5)

where expression "4*M*" accounts number of arms (two arms) in each *M*-phases of the converter and half-wave symmetry of the instantaneous upper or lower arm current $i_{u,l}$ (integrals are calculated only over a half-period). Term d_{on} represents the on-state duty cycle of the high switch(es) in each SM and *T* is the fundamental time period. It must be noted though that interleaving effect in average does not change the amount of current passing through the capacitor, hence the computation can be based on the total arm current, which has the following form:

$$i_{ux} = \frac{I_{dc}}{M} \left[1 + \frac{2\cos\omega t}{m_x} \right], \quad i_{lx} = \frac{I_{dc}}{M} \left[1 - \frac{2\cos\omega t}{m_x} \right]$$
(A.6)

where I_{dc} is the rated dc-bus current (proportional to the converter's output power) and ω is the fundamental angular frequency. The on-state duty cycle is determined by

$$d_{on} = 1 - m_x \cos\omega t \tag{A.7}$$

By combining Equations (A.5)-(A.7) and taking into consideration upper arm current, the power dissipated in the SM floating capacitors is

$$P_{cap} = \frac{4P_{dc}^2}{MTV_{dc}^2} R_{ESR} \left[\int_{0}^{T/4} \left(1 + \frac{2\cos\omega t}{m_x} \right)^2 \left(1 - m_x \cos\omega t \right) dt + \int_{T/4}^{T/2} \left(1 + \frac{2\cos\omega t}{m_x} \right)^2 m_x \cos\omega t \, dt \right]$$
(A.8)

Semiconductor conduction losses

The conduction loss in semiconductors (e.g., IGBT with anti-parallel diode) is calculated using the semiconductor V-I on-state characteristic and the instantaneous current flowing through the each part of the semiconductor. Since the on-state characteristic of IGBTs and diodes are usually non-linear functions of the device current, piece-wise linear approximation is used to simplify the conduction loss calculation. Conduction losses are calculated within one fundamental frequency period T using the portions of arm currents that pass through either the IGBT or diode in particular time slot of the fundamental period and the piece-wise linear characteristic curves from datasheet of the device.



Figure A.1 – Normalized arm voltage reference and corresponding arm current

Figure A.1 depicts a general case of normalized arm voltage reference $(u_{u,l}^*)$ versus the corresponding arm current $(i_{u,l})$. Thanks to the arm voltages and currents half-wave symmetry, computation of the conduction losses P_{con} can be restricted to one-half of the fundamental period (T/2). In that case three time slots must be considered. The first one is [0,T/4] that corresponds to energy loss W_{con1} and the time frame when only one SM is inserted (cf. $u_{u,l}^*$ is within [0, 1/N] level) while the other is bypassed (neglecting the capacitor voltage balancing). The second time diapason (with energy loss W_{con2}) is when two SMs are inserted (cf. $u_{u,l}^*$ is within [1/N, 1] level), while the arm current is still positive. The last time frame (with energy loss W_{con3}) is similar to

the previous case with negative arm current. Based on this discussion, the conduction losses P_{con} can be expressed as:

$$P_{con} = \frac{2}{T} \left[\underbrace{2MK \int_{0}^{T/4} |\bar{i}_{k|u,l}| \left[\left(V_{ce}(|\bar{i}_{k|u,l}|)(1 + d_{off1}) + V_{f}(|\bar{i}_{k|u,l}|)d_{on1} \right) \right] dt}_{W_{con1}} + \underbrace{2MK \int_{T/4}^{\tau} |\bar{i}_{k|u,l}| \left[\left(V_{f}(|\bar{i}_{k|u,l}|)(1 + d_{on2}) + V_{ce}(|\bar{i}_{k|u,l}|)d_{off2} \right) \right] dt}_{W_{con2}} + \underbrace{2MK \int_{\tau}^{T/2} |\bar{i}_{k|u,l}| \left[\left(V_{ce}(|\bar{i}_{k|u,l}|)(1 + d_{off3}) + V_{f}(|\bar{i}_{k|u,l}|)d_{on3} \right) \right] dt}_{W_{con3}} \right]$$
(A.9)

where expression "2*MK*" accounts number of HB-legs (*K*) inside a SM, number of arms (two arms) in each *M*-phases of the converter. Terms V_{ce} and V_f are the conduction voltage functions of positive average current that passes through a SM's HB-leg in upper or lower arm ($|\tilde{i}_{k|u,l}|$) and it is evaluated at a junction temperature of 125°C for IGBT and diode, respectively. Figure A.2 depicts V-I output characteristic of the IGBT and anti-parallel diode that are embedded in IGBT modules that are used for reference design configurations (cf. Table 2.1).

The duty cycles are formulated as follows

$$d_{on1} = 1 - m_x \cos\omega t, \quad d_{off1} = 1 - d_{on1} = m_x \cos\omega t$$

$$d_{on2} = -m_x \cos\omega t, \quad d_{off2} = 1 - d_{on2} = 1 + m_x \cos\omega t$$

$$d_{on3} = d_{off2}, \quad d_{off3} = d_{on2}$$

(A.10)

where d_{on} represent amount of time when the diode is conducting (numerical part of the subscript (1, 2 and 3) denotes the time interval according to Figure A.1), while d_{off} is the amount of time when the IGBT is conducting. Time instant τ can be determined by

$$\tau = \frac{1}{\omega} \arccos\left(-\frac{m_x}{2}\right) \tag{A.11}$$

Semiconductor switching losses

Calculation of switching losses requires the counts of the switching transitions and the values of switching energy loss per switching event. It can be done numerically with help of simulation software or can be calculated analytically with decent accuracy. This work employs the analytical method. The IGBT's turn-on, turn-off loss energies (W_{on} , W_{off}), and the diode reverse recovery energy (W_{rec}) can be found in the corresponding semiconductor datasheet of the IGBT modules "FF150R12RT4" [193] and "FF450R07ME4" [194]. The non-linear, current dependent



Figure A.2 – V-I output characteristic of IGBT (a,c) and anti-parallel diode (b,d) for the IGBT modules: (a,b) FF150R12RT4 [193] and (c,d) FF450R07ME4 [194]

characteristics of the energies are approximated using piece-wise linear functions. The switching losses are computed within one fundamental period by

$$P_{sw} = \frac{MKV_{dc}f_{cr}}{NTV_{ce}} \int_{0}^{T} [W_{on}(|\bar{i}_{k,u}|) + W_{on}(|\bar{i}_{k,l}|) + W_{on}(|\bar{i}_{k,l}|) + W_{rec}(|\bar{i}_{k,u}|) + W_{rec}(|\bar{i}_{k,l}|)] dt$$
(A.12)

where V_{dc} is the rated dc-bus voltage, N is the number of SM within one arm string, f_{cr} is the carrier frequency and V_{ce} is the collector-emitter blocking voltage of an IGBT. Terms W_{on} , W_{off} , and W_{rec} represent IGBT's turn-on, turn-off energy losses, and the diode reverse recovery energy losses computed as functions of average current through one HB-leg of a SM. The switching energies are scaled by the ratio of the mean capacitor voltage to the reference blocking voltage from datasheet. The employed switching energy characteristics for the corresponding IGBT modules can be found in Figures A.3 and A.4. It must be noted though that the diode turn-on losses are neglected.

Driving circuit losses

Operation of a converter results in some unavoidable losses associated with driving circuit, which can be divided into two categories. The first part P_{driv} is self power consumption of the driving and control circuits, which can be assumed constant. In current work, for the comparative



Figure A.3 – Switching losses characteristics of the FF150R12RT4 [193] IGBT module: (a) turn-on (b) turn-off (c) recovery



Figure A.4 – Switching losses characteristics of the FF450R07ME4 [194] IGBT module: (a) turn-on (b) turn-off (c) recovery

analysis held in Section 2.8, P_{driv} is arbitrarily set to 50 W for each converter configuration. The second category is the losses in gate-driving circuit that is caused by switching actions in the semiconductor. Turning on or off the IGBT involves charging or discharging the equivalent capacitor in gate circuitry. When the voltage across a capacitor is changing, a certain amount of charge has to be transferred. It can be characterized by the typical gate charge vs. gate-to-source voltage curves available in most semiconductor datasheets [217]. Once the total gate charge is obtained, the gate charge losses (P_{gate}) of an entire converter can be calculated by

$$P_{gate} = 4MNK \cdot V_{ge}Q_g f_{cr} \tag{A.13}$$

where expression "4*MNK*" represent the total number of switching devices in an *M*-phase, double star ISM-MMC with *N* submodules per arm and 2*K* switches per SM. Term V_{ge} is the amplitude of the gate-emitter voltage, Q_g gate charge, and f_{cr} is the carrier frequency.

Appendix **B**

Laboratory Prototype

This section briefly describes the main elements of the downscaled laboratory ISM-MMC prototype built and used for the experimental validation of several concepts presented in this thesis. The prototype design has been focused on the versatility of the implementation, having adjustable structure to satisfy the needs of specific experiment. In addition, to that this prototype has been constructed primarily to justify the concept of ISM-MMC and its control principles, while optimization of the converter structure is beyond of the scope of current work. This section also describes the key techniques that have been used in the conducted experiments and reveals basic characteristics of the employed instruments.



Figure B.1 – View of the laboratory test setup [204]. © 2022 IEEE

Figure B.1 shows an overview of the single-phase converter rig and auxiliary equipment. Depending on the specifics of performed experiments, the support tools vary (e.g. type of dc load), therefore, this picture presents one specific case only. In general, the experimental setup consists of a metal rack, comprising all necessary elements of the ISM-MMC, programmable ac source (grid emulator), and dc load (either variable resistor or electronic dc load). The system has
been naturally designed for the operation in rectification mode, however, ISM-MMC supports bidirectional power flow, hence inverter mode is also applicable. The digital oscilloscope present in the figure has an aim to display/verify certain quantities, while measurements and data acquisition, as it will be explained further, are made by employing standalone sensors and capabilities of the system controller. Circuital schematics and their description are given along with presented experimental results in the corresponding chapters of this thesis, while here they are omitted to avoid repetition. Therefore, it is assumed that the reader has familiarized him/herself with the structure of laboratory prototype and experimental setup before referring to this section. Table B.1 summarizes all necessary parameters and settings that has been used in all conducted experimental tests.

Description	Symbol	Parameters
Power part	parameters	
number of SMs per arm	N	2
number of HB-legs in each SM	K	3
rated dc output power and dc-link voltage	P_{dc}, V_{dc}	600 W, 200 V
rated ac input power, phase current (rms)	S _{ac} , I	750 VA, 15 A
ac phase voltage (rms) and fundamental frequency	<i>V, f</i>	50 V, 50 Hz
carrier frequency	fcr	2 kHz
dc-link split capacitance (2 \times)	$C_{dc}, R_{ESR,dc}$	$5.2~\mathrm{mF}$, $7.6~\mathrm{m}\Omega$
individual interleaved leg inductor parameters	R_L, L	244.2 mΩ, 12.6 mH
individual SM capacitance	C, R _{ESR}	$3.54~\mathrm{mF}$, $3.5~\mathrm{m}\Omega$
Control	settings	
dc voltage control bandwidth	$\alpha_{p,dc} \mid \alpha_{i,dc}$	15 rad/s 5 rad/s
averaging time of the dc moving-average filter (H_{dc})	_	10 ms
loop-filter bandwidth (PLL)	$\alpha_{p,pll} \mid \alpha_{i,pll}$	50 rad/s 10 rad/s
output current control bandwidth	$\alpha_{c,oc} \mid \alpha_{r,oc}$	2000 rad/s 50 rad/s
circulating current control	$R_{cir} \mid \alpha_{2,cir}$	1.7Ω 250 rad/s
LPF circulating current control	$k_{f,cir} \mid \alpha_{f,cir}$	$\sqrt{2}$ 100 rad/s
sorting frequency	fsort	400 Hz
interleaved current balancing	k _{p,intlv}	$0.006 \ \mathrm{A}^{-1}$
observer current and voltage gains	l_i, l_v	$10 \ { m H}^{-1}$, 20000 ${ m s}^{-1}$
discretization step size	-	20 µs

Table B 1 - Main	narameters of t	ha ISM_MMC	laboratory	prototype	144 20	[A]	0022	IFFF
	parameters of th		laboratory	prototype	144, ZU	141. (C) 2022	IEEE

B.1 Power Part

The metal rack, presented in Figure B.1 contains a single-phase ISM-MMC, a controller, measurement boxes and all necessary auxiliary power supplies mounted on the back-planes of the rack. This section is dedicated to the power stage of the laboratory ISM-MMC, while control and measurement subsystems are discussed in the following sections.

The laboratory ISM-MMC is formed by two interleaved submodules per arm (branch). A custommade, two-level, three-leg converter that shapes the submodule is depicted in Figure B.2. The SM capacitor is mounted on printed circuit board (PCB) as well and attached to the dc rails of the SM converter. The converter's PCB design is based on integrated IGBT modules and it is made by Aalborg University, primary for other projects. The converter has been adopted for the



Figure B.2 – View of a custom-made three-leg converter that forms a SM of the laboratory ISM-MMC



Figure B.3 – View of an individual interleaved HB-leg inductor that forms a SM of the laboratory ISM-MMC

Component	Type Name	Characteristics
	ISM-MMC elements	
interleaved SM	_	up to 100 V, 4 A (rms)
dc-bus electrolytic capacitor	PEH200XO4220MU2 (Kemet Corp.)	385 V, 2.2 mF $\pm 20\%$
, I	PEH169VV433GQ (Kemet Corp.)	400 V, 3.3 mF -10% +30%
	SM converter-related compo	nents
IGBT module [218]	DIPIPM PS219B4-AS (Mitsubishi Electric Corp.)	600 V, 15 A (@25°C), $f_{PWM} \le 20 \text{ kHz}$
CPLD chip	XC95144XL (Xilinx Inc.)	100-pin TQFP, system freq. \leq 178 MHz
voltage controlled oscillator	LTC6990 (Analog Devices Inc.)	$f_{out} = 0.4882000 \text{ kHz}, \text{BW} = 0.4 f_{out}$
	Other SM components	
\overline{SM} capacitor (\times 4)	B43508-A9108-M (Epcos AG)	400 V, 1000 $\mu\mathrm{F}$ ±20%
individual, custom-made interleaved inductor (\times 3)	DT 18809-9 15/28 (Dantrafo A/S)	±5 A amplitude + 2 A dc offset, 12.6 mH (@50 Hz)

Table B.2 – Techn	ical characteristics	of the laborator	ry ISM-MMC elements
-------------------	----------------------	------------------	---------------------

current prototype realization. Therefore, the choice of current and voltage ratings of a single SM were dictated by the corresponding ratings of the converter components and individual interleaved inductors (cf. Figure B.3). Similarly, the initial choice of the inductors was dictated by reasonable switching current ripple within a SM at the given maximum amplitude of the fundamental current component and selected switching frequency. Table B.2 provides the basic characteristics of the ISM-MMC elements, with specific focus on the components of a single SM. This table introduce the rated values, guaranteed by manufacturer, while Table B.1 provides the real measured values of the component parameters (e.g., resistance, inductance, capacitance) with the help of precision LRC meter (4284A, Keysight Technologies Inc.).

Some additional details must be highlighted about the SM converter illustrated in Figure B.2. First of all, the mounted on top of the board CPLD (XC95144XL, Table B.2) has an aim to provide start-up PWM synchronization and internal protection services (e.g. over-voltage, excessive thermal stress) of the converter. If a fault happens, the internal logic of the CPLD will open all converter's switches to protect the board from damage. Secondly, the board features an integrated dc-link voltage transducer built based on voltage controlled oscillator (LTC6990, Table B.2). The output of the oscillator is a frequency modulated signal that is transmitted via optical transmitter (gray front port, Figure B.2). Ports of PWM channels are also made by optic receivers. In such arrangement the I/O of the board are galvanically isolated from the ISM-MMC controller.

The laboratory ISM-MMC has the double-star arrangement, where the composing arms from on one side are connected to the corresponding dc-bus terminals (positive or negative), while on the other side are joined together and linked with an ac supply. The midpoint of dc-bus split-capacitors (cf. Table B.2) provides a connection point for the neutral wire of the ac supply. To achieve the sufficient value of dc-bus split-capacitors (C_{dc} , cf. circuital diagram of the laboratory setup), each one of them is formed by parallel connection of two electrolytic capacitor types listed in Table B.2.

To supply the low voltage electronics, an auxiliary power supply units are included in the equipment enclosed in the rack. For short-circuit and over-current protection, miniature current breakers are introduced in both main (ac and dc) and auxiliary power circuits with corresponding characteristic trip curves. The metal cases of the equipment, including ISM-MMC rack are grounded to ensure safety from earth fault currents. A power contactor is included in the main ac power circuit to create a possibility for manual disconnection of the converter from the power supply. The remote button to operate the contactor along with a light indicator is placed on the front door of the converter's rack.

	,	1 3 1
Component	Type Name	Characteristics
programmable ac power source (grid emulator)	MX 30 (Ametek Inc.)	30 kVA, output voltage range 0300 V
programmable dc electronic load	EA-EL 9400-50 (Elektro-Automatik GMBH)	2400 W, 0400 V / 050 A
variable resistive load	ZRF	2500 W, 600 V, 3Y: 57R5, 115R, 230R, 460R
	(Danotherm Electric A/S)	
digital oscilloscope	DL9040	5 GS/s, 500 MHz
	(Yokogawa Electric Corp.)	

Table B.3 – Technical characteristics of the auxiliary instruments employed in the laboratory	setup
---	-------

To isolate the laboratory ISM-MMC from grid mains and adjust the required level of ac voltage, a programmable ac power source (grid emulator) has been used. The grid emulator has internal

over-current protections that limit the currents, providing additional safety loop to the circuit. At the dc terminals, the converter is connected to either a variable resistor (R_{dc}) or a programmable dc electronic load. The electronic load is also featured by over-current protection.

MMC-based converters, having relatively high capacitive energy storage, are well-known for large inrush currents at start-up. To prevent potential damage of the equipment, the ac supplied has been programmed to increase its output voltage starting from 10 V to the nominal value with a ramp. Once the converter capacitors are precharged, the converter's controller is activated and experiment may start. Table B.3 provides a basic information for the instruments that have been employed.

B.2 Control Part

The entire control scheme and ADC/DAC conversion are implemented inside the controller for rapid prototyping RT Box 1 [203]. The RT Box 1 is formed by a Xilinx Zynq Z-7030 system-onchip that embeds two CPU cores (ARM Cortex-A9, 1 GHz) on an FPGA. One of this cores is used to run an embedded Linux OS for communication and ancillary services, while the remaining core performs the controller computations. The FPGA is employed to control the digital I/Os and analog data conversion. The ADC/DAC converters in the RT Box 1 both feature 16 bit resolution with simultaneous sample and update (maximum sample/update rate is 5 Msps). RT Box 1 contains 16 analog inputs, 16 analog outputs, 32 digital inputs and 32 digital outputs. The voltage ranges in inputs and outputs can be adjusted to the standard industrial values. All I/Os are isolated. The communication with a PC is made through gigabit Ethernet ports. RT Box 1 supports multi-tasking mode, where the designed model can be split into separate physical sub-systems and run in parallel on the same CPU with different sampling periods. The full RT Box 1 specification is available in [203].

The RT Box 1 operates as a target machine governed by a host computer with running Plecs Standalone and Plecs Coder (Plexim GmbH). The Plecs Coder compiles a pre-designed for an experiment Plecs model and uploads it into the RT Box 1. The original Plecs model on the host computer can be interconnected with the RT Box 1 using an External Mode. This allows from one side to tune parameters of the controller in real-time, including control enabling/disabling sequences and from the other side to visualize from Plecs Scope the quantities processed by RT Box 1.

A Plecs model with the control schemes suggested in this thesis was built. The model is structured in a versatile manner, so different control regimes (e.g. dc current and voltage steps, interleaved current control loop enabling/disabling, etc.) can be implemented on fly. In addition to that a Python script was prepared to control RT Box 1 for automated test environment (both control requests and data capture) using an XML-RPC interface. XML-RPC is a protocol for executing functions on a remote machine. In this manner, the RT Box 1 acts as an XML-RPC server, which processes requests sent from scripts running on the host computer.

B.3 Measurements and Signal Acquisition

Several measurement boxes are mounted on the front-top and back-planes of the rack to provide sensed analog signals to the controller. As it pointed out in Section B.2, analogue-to-digital

conversion is handled by RT Box 1, while practically all the required signals (cf. experimentrelated circuital diagram of the laboratory setup) apart of SM capacitor voltage measurements enter RT Box 1 as analog inputs. In Section B.1 it is explained that the SM capacitor voltage measurements are processed on the SM converter board with digital output. Therefore, these signals are transmitted to the controller via its digital inputs. Later they are demodulated and used for control monitoring purposes.

		······································
Component	Type Name	Characteristics
voltage transducer	LV 25-P (LEM Europe GmbH)	$I_{PN} = 10$ mA, $V_{PN} = 10500$ V, total err. $\pm 0.9\%$
current transducer	LA 55-P (LEM Europe GmbH)	$I_{PN} = 50$ A, total err. $\pm 0.65\%$, BW = DC200 kHz

 $\label{eq:table_stability} \textbf{Table B.4} - \textbf{Technical characteristics of the sensors employed in the laboratory setup}$

Two types of galvanically isolated voltage and current transducers were employed in the laboratory setup. Their characteristics are depicted in Table B.4. The sensing ranges has been adjusted accordingly to the maximum permitted quantities at the measuring points to insure high sensing resolution.

All measured quantities of interest are sampled and/or processed by the controller along with some internal controller-related quantities are transmitted to a host computer and stored on its internal memory by using a high speed Ethernet interface. Later these data points are elaborated by Matlab (MathWork Inc.) for analysis and data visualisation. High sampling frequency and relatively low switching frequencies of the converter guarantee accurate reconstruction of real analog quantities.

List of Abbreviations

N2K3f1k	ISM-MMC configuration with two SMs per arm ($N = 2$) and three inter- leaved HB-legs in each SM ($K = 3$) that operates with carrier frequency 1 kHz ($f_{cr} = 1$ kHz)
N2K3f333	ISM-MMC configuration with two SMs per arm ($N = 2$) and three inter- leaved HB-legs in each SM ($K = 3$) that operates with carrier frequency 333 Hz ($f_{cr} = 333$ Hz)
N2Kp3f1k	MMC configuration with two HB-based SMs per arm ($N = 2$), where HB-leg composed by two sets (upper and lower) of three parallel switches ($Kp = 3$) that commutate simultaneously with carrier fre- quency 1 kHz ($f_{cr} = 1$ kHz)
N6K1f1k	MMC configuration with six HB-based SMs per arm ($N = 6$) that oper- ates with carrier frequency 1 kHz ($f_{cr} = 1$ kHz)
2D	Two dimensional
ac	Alternating current
ADC	Analog-to-digital converter
APOD	Alternative phase opposition disposition (level-shifted pulse-width modulation)
BESS	Battery energy storage system
CHB	Cascaded H-bridge (converter)
CNPC	Cascaded neutral-point clamped (converter)
CPLD	Complex programmable logic device
CPU	Central processing unit
CSC	Current source converter
DAC	Digital-to-analog converter
dc	Direct current
DSOGI-PLL	Dual second order generalized integrator PLL
DTC	Direct torque control

ESR	Equivalent series resistance
EV	Electrical vehicle
FACTS	Flexible alternating current transmission system
FC	Flying capacitor (converter)
FLL	Frequency-locked loop
FOC	Field-oriented control
FPG	Frequency/phase-angle generator
FPGA	Field-programmable gate array
GTO	Gate turn-off thyristors
HB	Half-bridge
HE	Hydrogen electrolyzer
HIL	Hardware-in-the-loop (simulation)
HVDC	High-voltage direct current (transmission)
I/O	Input/output
IEEE	Institute of electrical and electronics engineers
IGBT	Insulated-gate bipolar transistor
IGCT	Integrated gate-commutated thyristors
ISM-MMC	Modular multilevel converter with interleaved half-bridge submodules
LF	Loop filter
LLC	Abbreviation for an arrangement that consist of inductance (L) and capacitance (C)
LPF	Low-pass filter
LRC	Abbreviation for an arrangement that consist of inductance (L), resistance (R) and capacitance (C)
LS-PWM	Level shifted pulse-width modulation
LTI	Linear time-invariant (system)
MMC	Modular multilevel converter
MOSFET	Metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistor
MPC	Model predictive control
MV	Medium-voltage
NLC	Nearest level control (modulation)
NPC	Neutral-point clamped (converter)

OS	Operational system
PC	Personal computer
РСВ	Printed circuit board
PD	Phase disposition (level-shifted pulse-width modulation)
PD	Phase detector
PDF	Probability density functions
PET	Power electronic transformer
PFC	Power factor correction (converter)
PI	Proportional-integral (controller)
PLL	Phase-locked loop
PNSC	Positive-/negative-sequence calculation (block)
POD	Phase opposition disposition (level-shifted pulse-width modulation)
PR	Proportional-resonant (controller)
PS-PWM	Phase shifted pulse-width modulation
PWM	Pulse-width modulation
QSG	Quadrature signal generator
rms	Root-mean-square
SHE	Selective harmonic elimination
SM	Submodule
SOGI	Second-order generalized integrator
SOGI-QSG	Second-order generalized integrator QSG
SRF	Synchronous reference frame
SRF-PLL	Synchronous reference frame PLL
SST	Solid-state transformers
STATCOM	Static synchronous compensator
SVM	Space vector modulation
THD	Total harmonic distortion
VCO	Voltage-controlled oscillator
VOC	Voltage-oriented control
VSC	Voltage source converter
WTHD	Weighted total harmonic distortion
· · · · · · ·	

List of Symbols

Variables, parameters, and functions

α _{2,cir}	Desired resonant bandwidth of circulating current regulator
$\alpha_{c,oc}$	Desired closed-loop bandwidth of output current controller
$\alpha_{f1,W}, \alpha_{f2,W}$	Desired bandwidth of low pass filters in arm-energy control
$\alpha_{i,dc}$	Dc-bus voltage integrator bandwidth
$\alpha_{i,pll}$	PLL integrator bandwidth
$\alpha_{p,dc}$	Dc-bus voltage control-loop bandwidth
$\alpha_{p,pll}$	PLL proportional control-loop bandwidth
$\alpha_{r,oc}$	Desired resonant bandwidth of output current controller
α _W	Desired bandwidth of arm-energy control
$\Delta i_{cir,x}$	Increment of phase leg-common mode current (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
δ	Duty cycle
$\Delta \vartheta_{cr}$	Phase displacement between carriers (LS-PWM)
η	Converter efficiency
η _{max}	Peak (maximum) converter efficiency
$\mathbb{A}, \mathbb{B}, \mathbb{C}$	State, input and output matrices in LTI state-space representation
\mathbb{G}_k	Set of firing signals for a SM, where each row represent different combination of upper switch states (dimensions $K \times K$)
L	Matrix with observer gains $\mathbb{L} = [l_v, l_i]$
0	Kalman observability matrix

ω	Fundamental angular frequency
$\overline{g}_{n,k}$	Bottom switch firing signal in the <i>k</i> -th HB-leg of the <i>n</i> -th submodule
σ	Standard deviation
x, u, y	State, input and output vectors in LTI state-space representation
$\varepsilon_{oc}^{\prime}$	Modified current error of output current controller, associated with antiwindup controller function
E _{oc}	Current error of output current controller
$\vartheta_{cr,k}$	Carrier phase shift (PS-PWM) for <i>k</i> -th HB-leg
ϑ_x	Grid voltage phase angle (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
ζ_n	Number of active HB-legs in the <i>n</i> -th submodule
A _{cr}	Carrier amplitude (LS-PWM) in p.u.
C'_{dc}	Effective converter's dc-link capacitance
C, R _{ESR}	Capacitance of the submodule's dc-link capacitor and its equivalent series resistance
Carm	Equivalent arm capacitance
$C_{dc}, R_{ESR,dc}$	Capacitance of the converter's dc-link capacitor and its equivalent series resis- tance
d _{cr}	Level carrier displacement (LS-PWM) in p.u.
d _{nk}	Logical PWM signal for the <i>k</i> -th HB-leg of the <i>n</i> -th submodule (output of the carriers and modulation signal comparator block)
d_{on}, d_{off}	
	On-state and off-state duty cycle
f	On-state and off-state duty cycle Fundamental frequency
f f _{cr}	On-state and off-state duty cycle Fundamental frequency Carrier frequency (PWM modulation)
f fcr fsort	On-state and off-state duty cycle Fundamental frequency Carrier frequency (PWM modulation) Sorting frequency
f fcr fsort 8n,k	On-state and off-state duty cycleFundamental frequencyCarrier frequency (PWM modulation)Sorting frequencyTop switch firing signal in the k-th HB-leg of the n-th submodule
f fcr fsort 8n,k H _{1,W} , H _{2,W}	On-state and off-state duty cycleFundamental frequencyCarrier frequency (PWM modulation)Sorting frequencyTop switch firing signal in the k-th HB-leg of the n-th submoduleLow pass filters in arm-energy control
f fcr fsort gn,k H _{1,W} , H _{2,W} H _{dc}	On-state and off-state duty cycleFundamental frequencyCarrier frequency (PWM modulation)Sorting frequencyTop switch firing signal in the k-th HB-leg of the n-th submoduleLow pass filters in arm-energy controlLow pass filter in dc-bus voltage control-loop
f fcr fsort 8n,k H _{1,W} , H _{2,W} H _{dc} h _{nk}	On-state and off-state duty cycleFundamental frequencyCarrier frequency (PWM modulation)Sorting frequencyTop switch firing signal in the k-th HB-leg of the n-th submoduleLow pass filters in arm-energy controlLow pass filter in dc-bus voltage control-loopCarrier signal for the k-th HB-leg of the n-th submodule

<i>i_{cir,x}</i>	Converter's phase leg-common mode current (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
i _{dc}	Dc-bus current
<i>i_{n,k}</i>	Interleaved current in the <i>k</i> -th HB-leg of the <i>n</i> -th submodule
i_{ux}, i_{lx}	Upper and lower arm currents within a phase leg (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
i_x	Phase current (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
<i>J</i> 1, <i>К</i>	Vector of ones with dimensions $1 \times K$
ja, jd	Lists of indices in ascending and descending order (capacitor voltage balancing algorithm)
Κ	Number of parallel/interleaved half-bridges inside each submodule
k_{Σ}, k_{Δ}	Control gains of arm-energy control for total and difference energy path
$k_{f,cir}, \alpha_{f,cir}$	Gain and desired bandwidth of LPF in circulating current control
k _{i,cir}	Resonant gain of circulating current regulator
k _{p,intlv}	Proportional gain of interleaved current balancing controller
$k_{p,oc}, k_{i,oc}$	Proportional and resonant gains of a PR controller
k _{pll}	Gain of SOGI-QSG block
Μ	Number of converter phases
m_{χ}	Phase leg modulation index (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$)
Ν	Number of submodules in each arm
Р	Mean ac-side active power
P_{fb}^*	Reference active power given by feedback control loop
P_{ff}^*	Reference active power given by feedforward control loop
P _{cap}	Converter's power losses in SM capacitors
P_{con}, P_{sw}	Converter's conduction and switching power losses
<i>P_{dc}</i>	Dc-side power
P _{driv}	Constant power dissipation in semiconductor drive circuit
Pgate	Switching frequency-dependent gate-drive losses

P _{ind}	Converter's power losses in inductors
P _{in} , P _{out}	Converter's input and output power
Ploss	Total converter's power losses
Q_g	Gate charge in a semiconductor
<i>R',L'</i>	SM's equivalent resistance and inductance with respect to a number of active HB-legs
<i>R</i> , <i>L</i>	Equivalent resistance and inductance of the HB-leg path in a SM
R_{arm}, L_{arm}	Resistance and inductance of an arm inductor
R _{cir}	Proportional gain of circulating current regulator ("active resistance")
S	Complex number frequency parameter (Laplace transform)
S_{1k}, S_{2k}	Top and bottom switches in the <i>k</i> -th HB-leg of a SM
S _{ac}	Apparent ac-side power
$T_{\alpha\beta}, T_{dq}$	Operators of Clarke's and Park's transformations, respectively
T _{cr}	Carrier period (PWM modulation)
<i>u</i> _n	Normalized submodule insertion index (modulating signal)
<i>u</i> _{<i>u</i>,<i>l</i>}	Normalized per-arm insertion index (modulating signal)
v _{cap,n}	Capacitor voltage in the <i>n</i> -th submodule
$v_{cir,x}$	Converter's phase internal voltage (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
$v_{dc,u}, v_{dc,l}$	Pole-to-ground dc-bus voltages
v_{dc}	Pole-to-pole dc-bus voltage
$v_{s,x}$	Converter's phase output voltage (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
v_{SMn}	SM's voltage of the <i>n</i> -th submodule
v_{ux}, v_{lx}	Upper and lower arm voltages within a phase leg (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
v_{xy}	Line-to-line voltage (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c, y = b,c,a$)
v_x	Phase voltage (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$, otherwise phase label is omitted)
$W^*_{\Sigma}, W^*_{\Delta}$	Integration gains of total per-phase and imbalance energy

W_{Σ}, W_{Δ}	Total per-phase and imbalance energy
$W_{arepsilon}$	Energy in the increment (Lyapunov function)
W _{dc}	Effective dc-bus energy

 W_{on}, W_{off}, W_{rec} Turn-on, turn-off loss and diode reverse recovery energies in a semiconductor

 W_u, W_l Total stored upper and lower arm energy

Principle Notation

Δz	Increment of <i>z</i> values		
ź	Estimated value of <i>z</i>		
Z	2D array (matrix) of variables z		
\overline{z}	Mean value of <i>z</i>		
Z	Vector of variables z		
Ĩ	Error value between real z and its estimate \hat{z}		
Ζ	rms value of z (for dc - mean value)		
Z	Instantaneous value of z		
<i>z</i> *	Reference value of <i>z</i>		
z^+	Positive sequence component of z		
z ⁻	Negative sequence component of z		
z^{Σ}	Sum of related to <i>z</i> values		
Superscripts, su	Superscripts, subscripts, circumflexes, and prefixes		

α, β	Component indicators of the stationary $\alpha\beta$ reference frame
d,q	Component indicators of the synchronous <i>dq</i> reference frame
т	Ordinal number of a converter's phase leg
n, k	Ordinal number of a submodule (SM) and an interleaved half-bridge inside the SM
u,l	Upper and lower arm indicators
x	Phase label (for three-phase system $x = a,b,c$)

List of Figures

1.1	Dc to ac three-phase MMC topology	3
1.2	Circuit configuration of MMC submodules: (a) half-bridge SM, (b) full-bridge SM, (c) cascaded half-bridge SM, (d) active neutral-point clamped SM, (e) neutral-	
	point piloted SM, (f) flying capacitor SM, (g) clamp-double SM, (h) cross-connected	
	SM	5
1.2	Circuit configuration of MMC submodules (cont.): (i) single-clamped SM, (j) IGCT-based SM	6
1.3	Circuit scheme of a single-phase, multi-unit interleaved converter	8
1.4	Power supplied by individual standalone chargers at a parking/charging station with 50 parking spots equipped with: (a) 22 kW chargers, (b) 180 kW chargers	9
2.1	General circuit scheme of (a) the standard MMC converter with half-bridge submodule and (b) the proposed ISM-MMC converter with interleaved half-	
	bridge submodule	16
2.2	Graphical representation of the three main degrees of modularity of ISM-MMC	
	topologies	18
2.3	Block diagram of the implemented high-level control method for ISM-MMC	23
2.4	Block diagram of the dc-link voltage controller	24
2.5	Block diagram of the DSOGI-PLL	26
2.6	Block diagram of the output current control	27
2.7	Block diagram of the circulating current control	30
2.8 2.9	Block diagram of the arm-energy control $\dots \dots \dots$ Example of the PD-based hybrid modulation scheme for the case of $N = 2$ and	33
	$K = 3 \ldots \ldots$	34
2.10	Block diagram of the hybrid modulation scheme for ISM-MMC	35
2.11	Hybrid modulation using level-shifted carriers with different carrier phase dis-	
	placement schemes: (a) APOD and (b) PD, for the ISM-MMC structure with $N = 2$	
	and $K = 3$	36
2.12	No load phase voltage and its corresponding harmonic content in case of classical	
	MMC with $N = 2$, $K = 1$ (a-d) and ISM-MMC with $N = 2$, $K = 3$ (e-h) for the	
	tollowing phase displacement schemes in LS-PWM: (a,b) MMC, APOD; (c,d)	~=
	MMC, PD; (e,t) ISM-MMC, APOD; (g,h) ISM-MMC, PD	37

2.13	No load submodule voltage (SM1) and corresponding arm current in case of classical MMC with $N = 2$, $K = 1$ and distributed arm inductor (a-d) and ISM-	
	MMC with $N = 2$, $K = 3$ (e-h) for the following phase displacement schemes	
	in LS-PWM: (a,b) MMC, APOD; (c,d) MMC, PD; (e,f) ISM-MMC, APOD; (g,h)	20
214	ISM-MMC, PD	38
2.14	for the following phase displacement schemes in LS-PW/M: (a) APOD: (b) PD	30
2 15	Block diagram of the submodule energy balancing scheme for ISM-MMC	40
2.15	Flowchart of the classical sorting algorithm using hybrid modulation scheme for	10
2.10	the waveform synthesis part	40
2.17	Phase voltage and its corresponding harmonic content in ISM-MMC (a-d) and	10
,	classical MMC (e-h) for the following subcases: (a.b) N2K3f1k; (c.d) N2K3f333:	
	(e,f) N2Kp3f1k; (g,h) N6K1f1k	43
2.18	Interleaved leg currents in one submodule of ISM-MMC (a,b), the corresponding	
	arm current (c,d) and capacitor voltages in phase 'a' of ISM-MMC (e,f) at sorting	
	frequency 50 Hz (a,c,e) and at 1 kHz (b,d,f)	44
2.19	Converter efficiency for compared cases	46
2.20	View of the HIL simulator (a) and circuital scheme of the test single-phase ISM-	
	MMC (b)	48
2.21	Active and reactive power (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their	
	reference values (dashed lines), ac phase current (b) and dc-link voltage (c) –	
	measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace)	50
2.22	Capacitor voltages (a) from each submodule of the ISM-MMC (solid traces) along	
	with its $\pm 10\%$ tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines) and corresponding	50
0.00	leg's common-mode current (b) in phase leg of ISM-MMC	50
2.23	Currents in interleaved legs of the submodule SMI (a) and arm currents of ISM-	F 1
	MINC (b)	51
3.1	Structure of a single-phase ISM-MMC	53
3.2	Block diagram of the ISM-MMC control employing classical capacitor voltage	
	balancing technique	54
3.3	Block diagram of the modified ISM-MMC control method	55
3.4	Flowchart of the proposed Sort & Split algorithm	56
3.5	Block diagram of the interleaved legs current balancing control	56
3.6	Three-phase ISM-MMC working in the rectification mode	57
3.7	Normalized reference voltage of the upper arm of ISM-MMC (ph. <i>a</i>) along with	-0
•	hybrid modulation carriers (a) before and (b) after Sort & Split algorithm	58
3.8	Step change of the internal resistance of an interleaved inductor in phase a .	
	currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM1 <i>a</i> (a) and arm currents	50
2.0	In phase u of ISM-IMINC (b) \ldots	39
5.9	Active and reactive newers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their	
	reference values (dashed lines): dc-link voltage (b) - measured value (solid trace)	
	and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase currents (c): capacitor voltages (d) from	
	each submodule of the upper arm of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with their	
	$\pm 10\%$ tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines): (e) phase leg common-mode	
	currents	59

3.10	Step change of the inductance of an interleaved inductor in phase <i>a</i> . Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule $SM1a$ (a) and arm currents in phase <i>a</i> of ISM MMC (b)	60
3.11	Step change of the inductance of an interleaved inductor in phase <i>a</i> . Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its	60
	reference (dashed trace); ac phase currents (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of the upper arm of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with their $\pm 10\%$ tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines): (e) phase leg common-mode currents	61
3.12	Circuit diagram of the laboratory test ISM-MMC setup	62
3.13	Dc current step. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its $\pm 5\%$	
3.14	Dc current step. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and	63
3.15	arm currents of ISM-MMC (b)	63
	tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode current	64
3.16	Dc voltage step. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b)	64
3.17	Ac voltage dip. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its $\pm 5\%$ tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common-mode current	65
3.18	Ac voltage dip. Currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b)	65
3.19	Interleaved currents balancing enable/disable. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its $\pm 5\%$ tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines);	00
3 20	(e) phase leg common-mode current	66
5.20	of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b)	66
4.1	Circuit diagram of a single-phase ISM-MMC	69
4.2 4 3	SM's interleaved carriers and their Hamming space in case of $K = 3 \dots \dots$ Block diagram of the proposed state observer-based interleaved legs current	72
4.4	balancing control	74
		10

4.5	Simulated interleaved currents in SM1 (a), timeseries of simulated and observed interleaved currents (b,d,f) with corresponding distribution of observation error (a, a, g) under random R . L C parameters and timeslets of anabled (disabled	
	interleaved current balancing control	77
4.6	Timeseries of simulated and observed capacitor voltage (a) and submodule volt- age (c) of SM1 with corresponding distribution of observation error (b) and (d) under random $R_{e}L_{e}C$ parameters and timeslots of enabled/disabled interleaved	,,
	current balancing control	78
4.7	Circuit diagram of the laboratory test ISM-MMC setup in relation to the imple- mented interleaved currents sensorless control	79
4.8	Dc current step. Active and reactive powers (a) supplied by the grid (solid traces) along with their reference values (dashed lines); dc-link voltage (b) – measured value (solid trace) and its reference (dashed trace); ac phase current (c); measured capacitor voltages (d) from each submodule of ISM-MMC (solid traces) along with its $\pm 5\%$ tolerance band and mean value (dashed lines); (e) phase leg common	
	mode current	80
4.9	Dc current step. Measured currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a) and arm currents of ISM-MMC (b)	80
4.10	Dc current step. Measured and estimated currents through interleaved legs of the submodule SM2 (a,c,e) with corresponding distribution of observation error (b,d,f)	81
4.11	(a) with corresponding distribution of observation error (b)	82
A.1	Normalized arm voltage reference and corresponding arm current	90
A.2	V-I output characteristic of IGBT (a,c) and anti-parallel diode (b,d) for the IGBT modules: (a,b) FF150R12RT4 and (c,d) FF450R07ME4	92
A.3	Switching losses characteristics of the FF150R12RT4 IGBT module: (a) on-state (b) off-state (c) recovery	93
A.4	Switching losses characteristics of the FF450R07ME4 IGBT module: (a) on-state (b) off-state (c) recovery	94
B.1 B.2	View of the laboratory test setup	96
B.3	ISM-MMC	98
-	tory ISM-MMC	98

List of Tables

1.1	Market overview of power semiconductors	2
2.1 2.2 2.3	Main system parameters for compared configurationsSummary of the comparison (three-phase system)Main parameters of the HIL model	42 46 49
3.1	Main system parameters of the three-phase ISM-MMC	58
4.1	Main parameters of the simulation model for single-phase ISM-MMC	75
B.1 B.2 B.3	Main parameters of the ISM-MMC laboratory prototype	97 98
B.4	setup	99 101

Bibliography

- B. Wu et al. "Current-Source Converter and Cycloconverter Topologies for Industrial Medium-Voltage Drives". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 55.7 (2008), pp. 2786– 2797. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2008.924175.
- J. W. Kolar et al. "Review of Three-Phase PWM AC–AC Converter Topologies". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 58.11 (2011), pp. 4988–5006. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2011. 2159353.
- [3] L. Empringham et al. "Technological Issues and Industrial Application of Matrix Converters: A Review". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 60.10 (2013), pp. 4260–4271. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2012.2216231.
- [4] P. Bakas et al. "Review of Hybrid Multilevel Converter Topologies Utilizing Thyristors for HVDC Applications". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 36.1 (2021), pp. 174–190.
 DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2020.2997961.
- [5] J. Rodriguez et al. "Multilevel Voltage-Source-Converter Topologies for Industrial Medium-Voltage Drives". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 54.6 (2007), pp. 2930–2945. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2007.907044.
- [6] A. Nami et al. "Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC Applications: Review on Converter Cells and Functionalities". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.1 (2015), pp. 18–36. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2327641.
- [7] V. Yaramasu et al. "High-power wind energy conversion systems: State-of-the-art and emerging technologies". In: *Proceedings of the IEEE* 103.5 (2015), pp. 740–788. DOI: 10. 1109/JPROC.2014.2378692.
- [8] K. Gnanasambandam et al. "Current-Fed Multilevel Converters: An Overview of Circuit Topologies, Modulation Techniques, and Applications". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.5 (2017), pp. 3382–3401. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2585576.
- [9] A. I. Elsanabary et al. "Medium Voltage Large-Scale Grid-Connected Photovoltaic Systems Using Cascaded H-Bridge and Modular Multilevel Converters: A Review". In: *IEEE Access* 8 (2020), pp. 223686–223699. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3044882.
- [10] B. Wu and M. Narimani. "Cascaded H-Bridge Multilevel Inverters". In: *High-Power Converters and AC Drives*. 2017, pp. 119–141. DOI: 10.1002/9781119156079.ch7.
- [11] S. Du et al. "Review of High-Power Converters". In: *Modular Multilevel Converters: Analysis, Control, and Applications*. 2018, pp. 1–36. DOI: 10.1002/9781119367291.ch1.
- [12] B. Ge et al. "An Effective Control Technique for Medium-Voltage High-Power Induction Motor Fed by Cascaded Neutral-Point-Clamped Inverter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 57.8 (2010), pp. 2659–2668. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2009.2026761.

- [13] A. Viatkin. "Development of a Test Bench for Multilevel Cascaded H-Bridge Converter with Self-Balancing Level Doubling Network". MA thesis. Bologna, Italy: University of Bologna, Dec. 2017.
- [14] S. K. Chattopadhyay and Ch. Chakraborty. "A New Multilevel Inverter Topology With Self-Balancing Level Doubling Network". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 61.9 (2014), pp. 4622–4631. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2013.2290751.
- [15] M. A. Perez et al. "Modular Multilevel Converters: Recent Achievements and Challenges". In: *IEEE Open Journal of the Industrial Electronics Society* 2 (2021), pp. 224–239. DOI: 10.1109/0JIES.2021.3060791.
- [16] R. Marquardt. "Modular Multilevel Converters: State of the Art and Future Progress". In: *IEEE Power Electronics Magazine* 5.4 (2018), pp. 24–31. DOI: 10.1109/MPEL.2018.2873496.
- [17] Q. Xu et al. "Backstepping Control for Large Signal Stability of High Boost Ratio Interleaved Converter Interfaced DC Microgrids With Constant Power Loads". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 35.5 (2020), pp. 5397–5407. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2019.2943889.
- [18] K. Drobnic et al. "An Output Ripple-Free Fast Charger for Electric Vehicles Based on Grid-Tied Modular Three-Phase Interleaved Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications* 55.6 (2019), pp. 6102–6114. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2019.2934082.
- [19] F. Bordry et al. "High Current, Low Voltage Power Converter 20kA, 6V LHC Converter Prototype". In: 17th IEEE Particle Accelerator Conference (PAC 97): Accelerator Science, Technology and Applications. May 1997.
- [20] H. Fan and H. Li. "High-Frequency Transformer Isolated Bidirectional DC–DC Converter Modules With High Efficiency Over Wide Load Range for 20 kVA Solid-State Transformer". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 26.12 (2011), pp. 3599–3608. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2011.2160652.
- [21] A. Joseph and Th. R. Chelliah. "A Review of Power Electronic Converters for Variable Speed Pumped Storage Plants: Configurations, Operational Challenges, and Future Scopes". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 6.1 (2018), pp. 103–119. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2017.2707397.
- [22] S. Milovanovic and D. Dujic. "On Power Scalability of Modular Multilevel Converters: Increasing Current Ratings Through Branch Paralleling". In: *IEEE Power Electronics Magazine* 7.2 (2020), pp. 53–63. DOI: 10.1109/MPEL.2020.2984350.
- [23] J. W. Kolar and G. Ortiz. "Solid-State-Transformers: Key Components of Future Traction and Smart Grid Systems". In: *International Power Electronics Conference - ECCE Asia (IPEC 2014)*. 2014.
- [24] J. Fang et al. "A Review of Multilevel Converters With Parallel Connectivity". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 36.11 (2021), pp. 12468–12489. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2021. 3075211.
- [25] F. M. Alhuwaishel et al. "A Medium-Voltage DC-Collection Grid for Large-Scale PV Power Plants With Interleaved Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 8.4 (2020), pp. 3434–3443. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE. 2019.2934736.
- [26] R. Mandrioli. "A modular interleaved converter for output current ripple minimization in dc fast chargers for electric vehicles". MA thesis. Bologna, Italy: University of Bologna, Oct. 2019.

- [27] A. Lesnicar and R. Marquardt. "An innovative modular multilevel converter topology suitable for a wide power range". In: 2003 IEEE Bologna Power Tech Conference Proceedings. Vol. 3. 2003, 1–6 pp. DOI: 10.1109/PTC.2003.1304403.
- [28] H. Akagi. "A review of developments in the family of modular multilevel cascade converters". In: *IEEJ Transactions on Electrical and Electronic Engineering* 13.9 (2018), pp. 1222– 1235. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/tee.22731.
- [29] Zh. P. Fang and L. Jih-Sheng. "Dynamic performance and control of a static VAr generator using cascade multilevel inverters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications* 33.3 (1997), pp. 748–755. DOI: 10.1109/28.585865.
- [30] M. Hagiwara, R. Maeda, and H. Akagi. "Negative-Sequence Reactive-Power Control by a PWM STATCOM Based on a Modular Multilevel Cascade Converter (MMCC-SDBC)". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications* 48.2 (2012), pp. 720–729. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2011.2182330.
- [31] C. Oates and G. Mondal. "DC circulating current for capacitor voltage balancing in modular multilevel matrix converter". In: *Proceedings of the 2011 14th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications*. 2011, pp. 1–7.
- [32] L. Baruschka and A. Mertens. "A New Three-Phase AC/AC Modular Multilevel Converter With Six Branches in Hexagonal Configuration". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications* 49.3 (2013), pp. 1400–1410. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2013.2252593.
- [33] A. Dekka et al. "Evolution of Topologies, Modeling, Control Schemes, and Applications of Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 5.4 (2017), pp. 1631–1656. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2017.2742938.
- [34] M. M. C. Merlin et al. "The Alternate Arm Converter: A New Hybrid Multilevel Converter With DC-Fault Blocking Capability". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 29.1 (2014), pp. 310–317. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD.2013.2282171.
- [35] M. M. C. Merlin and T. C. Green. "Cell capacitor sizing in multilevel converters: Cases of the modular multilevel converter and alternate arm converter". In: *IET Power Electronics* 8 (2015), pp. 350–360.
- [36] K. Wang et al. "Voltage Balancing and Fluctuation-Suppression Methods of Floating Capacitors in a New Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 60.5 (2013), pp. 1943–1954. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2012.2201433.
- [37] B. Li et al. "A Modified Modular Multilevel Converter With Reduced Capacitor Voltage Fluctuation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 62.10 (2015), pp. 6108–6119.
 DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2015.2423665.
- [38] S. Du et al. "A Flying-Capacitor Modular Multilevel Converter for Medium-Voltage Motor Drive". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.3 (2017), pp. 2081–2089. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2565510.
- [39] S. Du, B. Wu, and N. R. Zargari. "A Delta-Channel Modular Multilevel Converter for Zero/Low-Fundamental-Frequency Operation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2227–2235. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2756582.
- [40] S. Du, B. Wu, and N. R. Zargari. "A Star-Channel Modular Multilevel Converter for Zero/Low-Fundamental-Frequency Operation Without Injecting Common-Mode Voltage". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 33.4 (2018), pp. 2857–2865. DOI: 10.1109/ TPEL.2017.2701905.

- [41] H. Yang, M. Saeedifard, and A. Yazdani. "An Enhanced Closed-Loop Control Strategy With Capacitor Voltage Elevation for the DC–DC Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2366–2375. DOI: 10.1109/TIE. 2018.2850035.
- [42] S. Debnath et al. "Operation, Control, and Applications of the Modular Multilevel Converter: A Review". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.1 (2015), pp. 37–53. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2309937.
- [43] G. Ph. Adam et al. "New Efficient Submodule for a Modular Multilevel Converter in Multiterminal HVDC Networks". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.6 (2017), pp. 4258–4278. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2603180.
- [44] M2l 3000 Series Medium Voltage Motor Drive. BENSHAW, Inc. Pittsburgh, The USA.
- [45] P. Barbosa et al. "Active Neutral-Point-Clamped Multilevel Converters". In: 2005 IEEE 36th Power Electronics Specialists Conference. 2005, pp. 2296–2301. DOI: 10.1109/PESC. 2005.1581952.
- [46] M. Schweizer and J. W. Kolar. "Design and Implementation of a Highly Efficient Three-Level T-Type Converter for Low-Voltage Applications". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 28.2 (2013), pp. 899–907. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2012.2203151.
- [47] A. Dekka, B. Wu, and N. R. Zargari. "Dynamic voltage balancing algorithm for modular multilevel converter with three-level flying capacitor submodules". In: 2014 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Hiroshima 2014 - ECCE ASIA). 2014, pp. 3468–3475. DOI: 10.1109/IPEC.2014.6869994.
- [48] Y. Xue, Zh. Xu, and G. Tang. "Self-Start Control With Grouping Sequentially Precharge for the C-MMC-Based HVDC System". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 29.1 (2014), pp. 187–198. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD.2013.2279106.
- [49] Y. Xue and Zh. Xu. "On the Bipolar MMC-HVDC Topology Suitable for Bulk Power Overhead Line Transmission: Configuration, Control, and DC Fault Analysis". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 29.6 (2014), pp. 2420–2429. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD.2014. 2352313.
- [50] R. Marquardt. "Modular Multilevel Converter: An universal concept for HVDC-Networks and extended DC-Bus-applications". In: *The 2010 International Power Electronics Conference* - ECCE ASIA -. 2010, pp. 502–507. DOI: 10.1109/IPEC.2010.5544594.
- [51] X. Li et al. "An enhanced MMC topology with DC fault ride-through capability". In: *IECON 2013 - 39th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*. 2013, pp. 6182–6188. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2013.6700152.
- [52] Ch. Peng and R. Li. "A Low Conduction Loss Modular Multilevel Converter Sub-Module Topology with DC Fault blocking Capability". In: 2020 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC). 2020, pp. 535–539. DOI: 10.1109/APEC39645.2020. 9124395.
- [53] R. Zeng et al. "Integrated Gate Commutated Thyristor-Based Modular Multilevel Converters: A Promising Solution for High-Voltage dc Applications". In: *IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine* 13.2 (2019), pp. 4–16. DOI: 10.1109/MIE.2019.2906952.
- [54] N. Flourentzou, V. G. Agelidis, and G. D. Demetriades. "VSC-Based HVDC Power Transmission Systems: An Overview". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 24.3 (2009), pp. 592–602. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2008.2008441.

- [55] Ch. M. Franck. "HVDC Circuit Breakers: A Review Identifying Future Research Needs". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 26.2 (2011), pp. 998–1007. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD. 2010.2095889.
- [56] Y. Chen et al. "Design and Implementation of a Modular Multilevel Converter With Hierarchical Redundancy Ability for Electric Ship MVDC System". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 5.1 (2017), pp. 189–202. DOI: 10.1109/ JESTPE.2016.2632858.
- [57] R. Mo and H. Li. "Hybrid Energy Storage System With Active Filter Function for Shipboard MVDC System Applications Based on Isolated Modular Multilevel DC/DC Converter". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 5.1 (2017), pp. 79–87. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2016.2642831.
- [58] S. Du, B. Wu, and N. R. Zargari. "Common-Mode Voltage Elimination for Variable-Speed Motor Drive Based on Flying-Capacitor Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 33.7 (2018), pp. 5621–5628. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2017. 2740782.
- [59] Sh. Zhou et al. "Capacitance Reduction of the Hybrid Modular Multilevel Converter by Decreasing Average Capacitor Voltage in Variable-Speed Drives". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 34.2 (2019), pp. 1580–1594. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2833503.
- [60] M. Espinoza-B et al. "An Integrated Converter and Machine Control System for MMC-Based High-Power Drives". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2343–2354. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2801839.
- [61] X. Liu et al. "A Novel STATCOM Based on Diode-Clamped Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.8 (2017), pp. 5964–5977. DOI: 10.1109/ TPEL.2016.2616495.
- [62] A. F. Cupertino et al. "Comparison of DSCC and SDBC Modular Multilevel Converters for STATCOM Application During Negative Sequence Compensation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2302–2312. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2811361.
- [63] N. Li et al. "SOH Balancing Control Method for the MMC Battery Energy Storage System". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 65.8 (2018), pp. 6581–6591. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2733462.
- [64] M. Quraan et al. "Efficiency Assessment of Modular Multilevel Converters for Battery Electric Vehicles". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.3 (2017), pp. 2041–2051. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2557579.
- [65] Ch. Gan et al. "MMC-Based SRM Drives With Decentralized Battery Energy Storage System for Hybrid Electric Vehicles". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 34.3 (2019), pp. 2608–2621. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2846622.
- [66] N. Lin, P. Liu, and V. Dinavahi. "Component-Level Thermo-Electromagnetic Nonlinear Transient Finite Element Modeling of Solid-State Transformer for DC Grid Studies". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 68.2 (2021), pp. 938–948. DOI: 10.1109/TIE. 2020.2967687.
- [67] Ch. Liu et al. "High-Frequency-Link Isolated Modular Multilevel Converter (I-M2C) Topology". In: 2018 IEEE International Power Electronics and Application Conference and Exposition (PEAC). 2018, pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/PEAC.2018.8590659.
- [68] F. Briz et al. "Modular Power Electronic Transformers: Modular Multilevel Converter Versus Cascaded H-Bridge Solutions". In: *IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine* 10.4 (2016), pp. 6–19. DOI: 10.1109/MIE.2016.2611648.

- [69] M. A. Elgenedy et al. "A High-Gain, High-Voltage Pulse Generator Using Sequentially Charged Modular Multilevel Converter Submodules, for Water Disinfection Applications". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 6.3 (2018), pp. 1394–1406. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2017.2750244.
- [70] A. Darwish et al. "A Step-Up Modular High-Voltage Pulse Generator Based on Isolated Input-Parallel/Output-Series Voltage-Boosting Modules and Modular Multilevel Submodules". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2207–2216. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2772189.
- [71] K. Sharifabadi et al. "Dynamics and Control". In: Design, Control, and Application of Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC Transmission Systems. 2016, pp. 133–213. DOI: 10.1002/9781118851555.ch3.
- [72] S. Du et al. "Classical Control of Modular Multilevel Converter". In: Modular Multilevel Converters: Analysis, Control, and Applications. 2018, pp. 79–102. DOI: 10.1002/ 9781119367291.ch3.
- [73] M. Hagiwara and H. Akagi. "Control and Experiment of Pulsewidth-Modulated Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 24.7 (2009), pp. 1737– 1746. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2009.2014236.
- [74] R. Lizana et al. "Decoupled Current Model and Control of Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 62.9 (2015), pp. 5382–5392. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2015.2405900.
- [75] J. Qin and M. Saeedifard. "Predictive Control of a Modular Multilevel Converter for a Back-to-Back HVDC System". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 27.3 (2012), pp. 1538– 1547. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD.2012.2191577.
- [76] J. Bocker et al. "Experimental Comparison of Model Predictive Control and Cascaded Control of the Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.1 (2015), pp. 422–430. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2309438.
- [77] B. Gutierrez and S.-Sh. Kwak. "Modular Multilevel Converters (MMCs) Controlled by Model Predictive Control With Reduced Calculation Burden". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 33.11 (2018), pp. 9176–9187. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2789455.
- [78] Q. Yang and M. A. Saeedifard M.and Perez. "Sliding Mode Control of the Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.2 (2019), pp. 887– 897. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2818657.
- [79] J. Wang et al. "Modulated Model Predictive Control for Modular Multilevel Converters With Easy Implementation and Enhanced Steady-State Performance". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 35.9 (2020), pp. 9107–9118. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2020.2969688.
- [80] D. Zhou, Sh. Yang, and Y. Tang. "Model-Predictive Current Control of Modular Multilevel Converters With Phase-Shifted Pulsewidth Modulation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.6 (2019), pp. 4368–4378. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2863181.
- [81] P. Poblete et al. "Sequential Phase-Shifted Model Predictive Control for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Energy Conversion* (2021), pp. 1–1. DOI: 10.1109/TEC.2021.3074863.
- [82] S. D'Arco, G. Guidi, and J. A. Suul. "Operation of a Modular Multilevel Converter Controlled as a Virtual Synchronous Machine". In: 2018 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Niigata 2018 - ECCE Asia). 2018, pp. 782–789. DOI: 10.23919/IPEC.2018. 8508009.

- [83] S. Henninger, M. Schroeder, and J. Jaeger. "Grid-Forming Droop Control of a Modular Multilevel Converter in Laboratory". In: 2018 IEEE Power Energy Society General Meeting (PESGM). 2018, pp. 1–5. DOI: 10.1109/PESGM.2018.8586205.
- [84] E. Rokrok et al. "Impact of grid-forming control on the internal energy of a modular multilevel converter". In: 2020 22nd European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'20 ECCE Europe). 2020, pp. 1–10. DOI: 10.23919/EPE20ECCEEurope43536. 2020.9215646.
- [85] S. M. Goetz et al. "Control of Modular Multilevel Converter With Parallel Connectivity—Application to Battery Systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.11 (2017), pp. 8381–8392. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2645884.
- [86] Y. Wang et al. "A Nearest Level PWM Method for the MMC in DC Distribution Grids". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 33.11 (2018), pp. 9209–9218. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL. 2018.2792148.
- [87] S.-M. Kim et al. "Hybrid Modulation Scheme for Switching Loss Reduction in a Modular Multilevel High-Voltage Direct Current Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 34.4 (2019), pp. 3178–3191. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2848620.
- [88] D. Ronanki and S. S. Williamson. "A Novel 2N + 1 Carrier-Based Pulse Width Modulation Scheme for Modular Multilevel Converters With Reduced Control Complexity". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications* 56.5 (2020), pp. 5593–5602. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2020. 3009078.
- [89] Sh. Xie et al. "A Variable Switching Frequency PWM Control Method for Single-Phase MMC". In: 2019 4th IEEE Workshop on the Electronic Grid (eGRID). 2019, pp. 1–4. DOI: 10.1109/eGRID48402.2019.9092724.
- [90] S. Fuchs, S. Beck, and J. Biela. "Analysis and Reduction of the Output Voltage Error of PWM for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2291–2301. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2844821.
- [91] W. Chen et al. "DC/DC Conversion Systems Consisting of Multiple Converter Modules: Stability, Control, and Experimental Verifications". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 24.6 (2009), pp. 1463–1474. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2009.2012406.
- [92] G. Konstantinou et al. "Single-Carrier Phase-Disposition PWM Techniques for Multiple Interleaved Voltage-Source Converter Legs". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 65.6 (2018), pp. 4466–4474. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2767541.
- [93] M. Hammami et al. "A DC/DC Fast Charger for Electric Vehicles with Minimum Input/Output Ripple Based on Multiphase Interleaved Converters". In: 2019 International Conference on Clean Electrical Power (ICCEP). 2019, pp. 187–192. DOI: 10.1109/ICCEP.2019. 8890200.
- [94] D. O. Neacsu. "Parallel and Interleaved Power Converters". In: Switching Power Converters: Medium and High Power. 2nd ed. CRC Press., 2014. Chap. 14, pp. 409–432. DOI: 10.1201/b16085.
- [95] G. Konstantinou et al. "Interleaved Operation of Three-Level Neutral Point Clamped Converter Legs and Reduction of Circulating Currents Under SHE-PWM". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 63.6 (2016), pp. 3323–3332. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2016. 2521729.
- [96] Y. Li, Ch. Liu, and X. Cai. "A Developed Dual MMC Isolated DC Solid State Transformer and Its Modulation Strategy". In: 2018 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Niigata 2018 - ECCE Asia). 2018, pp. 2245–2249. DOI: 10.23919/IPEC.2018.8507533.

- [97] J. Pou et al. "Control strategy to balance operation of parallel connected legs of modular multilevel converters". In: 2013 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics. 2013, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/ISIE.2013.6563685.
- [98] O. Cipriano da Silva Filho et al. "High-Frequency Isolated AC–DC–AC Interleaved Converter for Power Quality Applications". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications* 54.5 (2018), pp. 4594–4602. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2018.2834868.
- [99] R. P.T. Bascope et al. "Interleaved Two-Switch Flyback Converter with Power Factor Correction for UPS Applications". In: 2018 13th IEEE International Conference on Industry Applications (INDUSCON). 2018, pp. 537–543. DOI: 10.1109/INDUSCON.2018.8627314.
- [100] A. K. Thet, N. Hino, and N. Kusumi. "New generation system concept: Motor-assisted gas turbine with pulse width modulation interleaving motor drive". In: 2015 IEEE Power Energy Society Innovative Smart Grid Technologies Conference (ISGT). 2015, pp. 1–5. DOI: 10.1109/ISGT.2015.7131794.
- [101] Sh. Dawande and K. Lentijo. "Multi-megawatt drive with intercell transformers". In: 2013 IEEE Electric Ship Technologies Symposium (ESTS). 2013, pp. 216–219. DOI: 10.1109/ ESTS.2013.6523737.
- [102] D. Kok et al. "Battery ripple effects in cascaded and parallel connected converters". In: IET Power Electronics 8.5 (2014), pp. 841–849. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1049/ietpel.2014.0224.
- [103] G. Gohil et al. "Line Filter Design of Parallel Interleaved VSCs for High-Power Wind Energy Conversion Systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.12 (2015), pp. 6775–6790. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2394460.
- [104] L. Bede et al. "Optimal interleaving angle determination in multi paralleled converters considering the DC current ripple and grid Current THD". In: 2015 9th International Conference on Power Electronics and ECCE Asia (ICPE-ECCE Asia). 2015, pp. 1195–1202. DOI: 10.1109/ICPE.2015.7167932.
- [105] J. M. Guerrero et al. "Decentralized Control for Parallel Operation of Distributed Generation Inverters Using Resistive Output Impedance". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 54.2 (2007), pp. 994–1004. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2007.892621.
- [106] Y. Zhang and H. Ma. "Theoretical and Experimental Investigation of Networked Control for Parallel Operation of Inverters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 59.4 (2012), pp. 1961–1970. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2011.2165459.
- [107] B. M. H. Jassim, D. J. Atkinson, and B. Zahawi. "Modular Current Sharing Control Scheme for Parallel-Connected Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 62.2 (2015), pp. 887–897. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2014.2355813.
- [108] T.-F. Wu, Y.-K. Chen, and Y.-H. Huang. "3C strategy for inverters in parallel operation achieving an equal current distribution". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 47.2 (2000), pp. 273–281. DOI: 10.1109/41.836342.
- [109] G. J. Capella et al. "Enhanced Phase-Shifted PWM Carrier Disposition for Interleaved Voltage-Source Inverters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.3 (2015), pp. 1121– 1125. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2338357.
- [110] Gh. Gohil et al. "An Integrated Inductor for Parallel Interleaved Three-Phase Voltage Source Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 31.5 (2016), pp. 3400–3414. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2459134.

- [111] D. Zhang et al. "Common-Mode Circulating Current Control of Paralleled Interleaved Three-Phase Two-Level Voltage-Source Converters With Discontinuous Space-Vector Modulation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 26.12 (2011), pp. 3925–3935. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2011.2131681.
- [112] Zh. Xu et al. "Control of Parallel Multiple Converters for Direct-Drive Permanent-Magnet Wind Power Generation Systems". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 27.3 (2012), pp. 1259–1270. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2011.2165224.
- [113] D. Zhang et al. "Total Flux Minimization Control for Integrated Inter-Phase Inductors in Paralleled, Interleaved Three-Phase Two-Level Voltage-Source Converters With Discontinuous Space-Vector Modulation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 27.4 (2012), pp. 1679–1688. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2011.2169281.
- [114] G. Konstantinou et al. "Reducing circulating currents in interleaved converter legs under selective harmonic elimination pulse-width modulation". In: 2015 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT). 2015, pp. 1136–1141. DOI: 10.1109/ICIT.2015. 7125250.
- [115] B. Cougo et al. "PD Modulation Scheme for Three-Phase Parallel Multilevel Inverters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 59.2 (2012), pp. 690–700. DOI: 10.1109/TIE. 2011.2158773.
- [116] M. Y. Metwly et al. "A Review of Integrated On-Board EV Battery Chargers: Advanced Topologies, Recent Developments and Optimal Selection of FSCW Slot/Pole Combination". In: IEEE Access 8 (2020), pp. 85216–85242. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2992741.
- [117] T. Na et al. "A review of on-board integrated electric vehicles charger and a new singlephase integrated charger". In: CPSS Transactions on Power Electronics and Applications 4.4 (2019), pp. 288–298. DOI: 10.24295/CPSSTPEA.2019.00027.
- [118] J. Yuan et al. "A Review of Bidirectional On-Board Chargers for Electric Vehicles". In: *IEEE Access* 9 (2021), pp. 51501–51518. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3069448.
- [119] A. Viatkin et al. "Analysis of a Three-Phase Four-Leg Front-End Converter for EV Chargers with Balanced and Unbalanced Grid Currents". In: IECON 2019 - 45th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society. Vol. 1. 2019, pp. 3442–3449. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2019.8926791.
- [120] A. Khaligh and M. D'Antonio. "Global Trends in High-Power On-Board Chargers for Electric Vehicles". In: *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology* 68.4 (2019), pp. 3306–3324.
 DOI: 10.1109/TVT.2019.2897050.
- [121] K. Drobnic et al. "A Ripple-Free DC Output Current Fast Charger for Electric Vehicles Based on Grid-Tied Modular Three-Phase Interleaved Converters". In: 2018 International Symposium on Industrial Electronics (INDEL). 2018, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/INDEL.2018. 8637627.
- [122] R. Mandrioli et al. "A Ripple-Free Output Current Interleaved DC/DC Converter Design Algorithm for EV Charging". In: 2021 22nd IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT). Vol. 1. 2021, pp. 292–297. DOI: 10.1109/ICIT46573.2021.9453554.
- [123] *Never stop moving! TERRA 360.* ABB E-mobility. Delft, The Netherlands.
- [124] Electrify the road Terra fast chargers. ID: 9AKK107680A7947. ABB EV Infrastructure. Delft, The Netherlands, Feb. 2021. URL: https://search.abb.com/library/Download.aspx? DocumentID=9AKK107680A7947&LanguageCode=en&DocumentPartId=&Action=Launch.

- [125] F. Lo Franco et al. "Electric Vehicle Aggregate Power Flow Prediction and Smart Charging System for Distributed Renewable Energy Self-Consumption Optimization". In: *Energies* 13.19 (2020). DOI: 10.3390/en13195003.
- [126] F. Lo Franco et al. "Electric Vehicles Charging Management System for Optimal Exploitation of Photovoltaic Energy Sources Considering Vehicle to Vehicle Mode". In: Front. Energy Res. (2021). DOI: 10.3389/fenrg.2021.716389.
- [127] I. B. Hovi et al. "Experiences from Battery-Electric Truck Users in Norway". In: *World Electric Vehicle Journal* 11.1 (2020). DOI: 10.3390/wevj11010005.
- [128] NBi Station. Power Electronics Corp. Valencia, Spain, Feb. 2021. URL: https://www.powerelectronics.co.nz/assets/installation-manual/NBiStation-260121.pdf.
- [129] Proterra 1.5 MW Charging System. ID: PCS SPEC 1.5 2021 Q3. Proterra Corp. Burlingame, The USA, Sept. 2021. URL: https://www.proterra.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/ Proterra-Spec-Sheet-CHG-SYS_1.5M_V5_9.27.21.pdf.
- [130] M. Popescu and A. Bitoleanu. "A Review of the Energy Efficiency Improvement in DC Railway Systems". In: *Energies* 12.6 (2019). DOI: 10.3390/en12061092.
- [131] M. Vasiladiotis, N. Cherix, and A. Rufer. "Single-to-three-phase direct AC/AC modular multilevel converters with integrated split battery energy storage for railway interties". In: 2015 17th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'15 ECCE-Europe). 2015, pp. 1–7. DOI: 10.1109/EPE.2015.7309176.
- [132] V. Gelman. "Insulated-Gate Bipolar Transistor Rectifiers: Why They Are Not Used in Traction Power Substations". In: *IEEE Vehicular Technology Magazine* 9.3 (2014), pp. 86–93.
 DOI: 10.1109/MVT.2014.2333762.
- [133] L. Wang et al. "A Novel Traction Supply System for Urban Rail Transportation with Bidirectional Power Flow and Based on PWM Rectifier". In: 2009 International Conference on Energy and Environment Technology. Vol. 2. 2009, pp. 40–43. DOI: 10.1109/ICEET.2009. 246.
- [134] H. Yang et al. "A Hierarchical Self-Regulation Control for Economic Operation of AC/DC Hybrid Microgrid With Hydrogen Energy Storage System". In: *IEEE Access* 7 (2019), pp. 89330–89341. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2923794.
- [135] S. Farnesi et al. "Solid-State Transformers in Locomotives Fed through AC Lines: A Review and Future Developments". In: *Energies* 12.24 (2019). DOI: 10.3390/en12244711.
- [136] M. Liserre et al. "The Smart Transformer: Impact on the Electric Grid and Technology Challenges". In: *IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine* 10.2 (2016), pp. 46–58. DOI: 10.1109/ MIE.2016.2551418.
- [137] N. Vazquez and M. Liserre. "Solid State Transformer with Integrated Input Stage". In: 2019 IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT). 2019, pp. 1543–1548. DOI: 10.1109/ICIT.2019.8755097.
- [138] L. Ferreira Costa et al. "The Smart Transformer: A solid-state transformer tailored to provide ancillary services to the distribution grid". In: *IEEE Power Electronics Magazine* 4.2 (2017), pp. 56–67. DOI: 10.1109/MPEL.2017.2692381.
- [139] M. Liserre et al. "Power Routing in Modular Smart Transformers: Active Thermal Control Through Uneven Loading of Cells". In: *IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine* 10.3 (2016), pp. 43–53. DOI: 10.1109/MIE.2016.2588898.

- [140] M. A. Hannan et al. "State of the Art of Solid-State Transformers: Advanced Topologies, Implementation Issues, Recent Progress and Improvements". In: *IEEE Access* 8 (2020), pp. 19113–19132. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.2967345.
- [141] J. E. Huber and J. W. Kolar. "Solid-State Transformers: On the Origins and Evolution of Key Concepts". In: *IEEE Industrial Electronics Magazine* 10.3 (2016), pp. 19–28. DOI: 10.1109/MIE.2016.2588878.
- [142] M. A. Shamshuddin et al. "Solid State Transformers: Concepts, Classification, and Control". In: *Energies* 13.9 (2020). DOI: 10.3390/en13092319.
- [143] P. C. Kotsampopoulos et al. "The Limitations of Digital Simulation and the Advantages of PHIL Testing in Studying Distributed Generation Provision of Ancillary Services". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 62.9 (2015), pp. 5502–5515. DOI: 10.1109/TIE. 2015.2414899.
- [144] A. Viatkin et al. "A Novel Modular Multilevel Converter Based on Interleaved Half-Bridge Submodules". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* (2022). ©2022 IEEE, pp. 1–11. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2022.3146516.
- [145] L. Mathe, P. D. Burlacu, and R. Teodorescu. "Control of a Modular Multilevel Converter With Reduced Internal Data Exchange". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics* 13.1 (2017), pp. 248–257. DOI: 10.1109/TII.2016.2598494.
- [146] A. Viatkin et al. "Modular Multilevel Converters Based on Interleaved Half-Bridge Submodules". In: 2021 22nd IEEE International Conference on Industrial Technology (ICIT). Vol. 1. ©2021 IEEE. 2021, pp. 440–445. DOI: 10.1109/ICIT46573.2021.9453643.
- [147] J. E. Huber and J. W. Kolar. "Optimum Number of Cascaded Cells for High-Power Medium-Voltage AC–DC Converters". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 5.1 (2017), pp. 213–232. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2016.2605702.
- [148] J. V. M. Farias et al. "Reliability-Oriented Design of Modular Multilevel Converters for Medium-Voltage STATCOM". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 67.8 (2020), pp. 6206–6214. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2019.2937050.
- [149] H.-S. Kim et al. "The High-Efficiency Isolated AC–DC Converter Using the Three-Phase Interleaved LLC Resonant Converter Employing the Y-Connected Rectifier". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 29.8 (2014), pp. 4017–4028. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2013. 2290999.
- [150] J. Imaoka et al. "Magnetic Analysis, Design, and Experimental Evaluations of Integrated Winding Coupled Inductors in Interleaved Converters". In: *IEEJ Journal of Industry Applications* 5.3 (2016), pp. 276–288. DOI: 10.1541/ieejjia.5.276.
- [151] L. Harnefors et al. "Dynamic Analysis of Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 60.7 (2013), pp. 2526–2537. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2012. 2194974.
- [152] R. Teodorescu, M. Liserre, and P. Rodriguez. "Grid Synchronization in Single Phase Power Converters". In: *Grid Converters for Photovoltaic and Wind Power Systems*. 2007, pp. 43–91. DOI: 10.1002/9780470667057.ch4.
- [153] S. Golestan, J. M. Guerrero, and J. C. Vasquez. "Single-Phase PLLs: A Review of Recent Advances". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.12 (2017), pp. 9013–9030. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2017.2653861.
- S. Golestan et al. "Single-Phase Frequency-Locked Loops: A Comprehensive Review". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 34.12 (2019), pp. 11791–11812. DOI: 10.1109/ TPEL.2019.2910247.

- [155] M. Karimi-Ghartema. "PLL Structures for Single-Phase Applications". In: Enhanced Phase-Locked Loop Structures for Power and Energy Applications. 2014, pp. 1–1. DOI: 10.1002/ 9781118795187.part1.
- [156] R. Teodorescu, M. Liserre, and P. Rodriguez. "Grid Synchronization in Three Phase Power Converters". In: *Grid Converters for Photovoltaic and Wind Power Systems*. 2007, pp. 169–204.
 DOI: 10.1002/9780470667057.ch8.
- [157] S. Golestan, J. M. Guerrero, and J. C. Vasquez. "Three-Phase PLLs: A Review of Recent Advances". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.3 (2017), pp. 1894–1907. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2565642.
- [158] S. Golestan et al. "A Study on Three-Phase FLLs". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 34.1 (2019), pp. 213–224. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2018.2826068.
- [159] M. Karimi-Ghartema. "PLL Structures for Three-Phase Applications". In: Enhanced Phase-Locked Loop Structures for Power and Energy Applications. 2014, pp. 131–131. DOI: 10.1002/ 9781118795187.part2.
- [160] Q. Tu, Z. Xu, and L. Xu. "Reduced Switching-Frequency Modulation and Circulating Current Suppression for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 26.3 (2011), pp. 2009–2017. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD.2011.2115258.
- Z. Li et al. "An Inner Current Suppressing Method for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 28.11 (2013), pp. 4873–4879. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL. 2013.2242204.
- [162] X. She et al. "AC circulating currents suppression in modular multilevel converter". In: IECON 2012 - 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society. 2012, pp. 191– 196. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2012.6388809.
- [163] Sh. Li et al. "Circulating Current Suppressing Strategy for MMC-HVDC Based on Nonideal Proportional Resonant Controllers Under Unbalanced Grid Conditions". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.1 (2015), pp. 387–397. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014. 2329059.
- [164] L. Ben-Brahim et al. "Modular Multilevel Converter Circulating Current Reduction Using Model Predictive Control". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 63.6 (2016), pp. 3857–3866. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2519320.
- [165] L. Yang et al. "Loss Optimization of MMC by Second-Order Harmonic Circulating Current Injection". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 33.7 (2018), pp. 5739–5753.
 DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2017.2751068.
- [166] J. Wang et al. "Analysis and Injection Control of Circulating Current for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2280–2290.
 DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2018.2808901.
- [167] S. Milovanovic and D. Dujic. "Comprehensive Comparison of Modular Multilevel Converter Internal Energy Balancing Methods". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 36.8 (2021), pp. 8962–8977. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2021.3052607.
- [168] Sh. Wang et al. "Analysis and Assessment of Modular Multilevel Converter Internal Control Schemes". In: *IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics* 8.1 (2020), pp. 697–719. DOI: 10.1109/JESTPE.2019.2899794.
- [169] A. Antonopoulos, L. Angquist, and H.-P. Nee. "On dynamics and voltage control of the Modular Multilevel Converter". In: 2009 13th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications. 2009, pp. 1–10.

- [170] M. Utvic and D. Dujic. "Generalized theory on direct arm energy control in modular multilevel converters". In: CPSS Transactions on Power Electronics and Applications 5.4 (2020), pp. 388–399. DOI: 10.24295/CPSSTPEA.2020.00032.
- [171] G. Bergna-Diaz et al. "Analysis of MMC Dynamics in DQZ Coordinates for Vertical and Horizontal Energy Balancing Control". In: *IECON 2018 - 44th Annual Conference of the IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*. 2018, pp. 5999–6006. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2018.8592881.
- [172] Ph. Münch et al. "Integrated current control, energy control and energy balancing of Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IECON 2010 - 36th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*. 2010, pp. 150–155. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2010.5675185.
- [173] K. Sharifabadi et al. "Modulation and Submodule Energy Balancing". In: Design, Control, and Application of Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC Transmission Systems. 2016, pp. 232–271. DOI: 10.1002/9781118851555.ch5.
- [174] B. Li et al. "Analysis of the Phase-Shifted Carrier Modulation for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.1 (2015), pp. 297–310. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2299802.
- [175] P. Sochor and H. Akagi. "Theoretical and Experimental Comparison Between Phase-Shifted PWM and Level-Shifted PWM in a Modular Multilevel SDBC Inverter for Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Applications". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications* 53.5 (2017), pp. 4695–4707. DOI: 10.1109/TIA.2017.2704539.
- [176] P. Hu and D. Jiang. "A Level-Increased Nearest Level Modulation Method for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.4 (2015), pp. 1836– 1842. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2325875.
- [177] G. Konstantinou et al. "Switching Frequency Analysis of Staircase-Modulated Modular Multilevel Converters and Equivalent PWM Techniques". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 31.1 (2016), pp. 28–36. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD.2015.2416759.
- [178] Y. Deng and R. G. Harley. "Space-Vector Versus Nearest-Level Pulse Width Modulation for Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.6 (2015), pp. 2962– 2974. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2331687.
- Y. Deng et al. "A Simplified Space Vector Modulation Scheme for Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 31.3 (2016), pp. 1873–1886. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL. 2015.2429595.
- [180] A. Dekka et al. "A Space-Vector PWM-Based Voltage-Balancing Approach With Reduced Current Sensors for Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 63.5 (2016), pp. 2734–2745. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2016.2514346.
- [181] Z. Lim, A. I. Maswood, and G. H. P. Ooi. "Modular-Cell Inverter Employing Reduced Flying Capacitors With Hybrid Phase-Shifted Carrier Phase-Disposition PWM". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 62.7 (2015), pp. 4086–4095. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2014. 2378753.
- [182] R. Darus et al. "Comparison of phase-shifted and level-shifted PWM in the modular multilevel converter". In: 2014 International Power Electronics Conference (IPEC-Hiroshima 2014 - ECCE ASIA). 2014, pp. 3764–3770. DOI: 10.1109/IPEC.2014.6870039.
- [183] Sh. Xu et al. "Experimental research of MMC based VSC-HVDC system for wind farm integration". In: 2013 IEEE International Symposium on Industrial Electronics. 2013, pp. 1–5. DOI: 10.1109/ISIE.2013.6563674.

- [184] L. Zhang and G. Wang. "Voltage balancing control of a novel modular multilevel converter". In: 2011 4th International Conference on Electric Utility Deregulation and Restructuring and Power Technologies (DRPT). 2011, pp. 109–114. DOI: 10.1109/DRPT.2011.5993872.
- [185] W. Li, L.-A. Grégoire, and J. Bélanger. "A Modular Multilevel Converter Pulse Generation and Capacitor Voltage Balance Method Optimized for FPGA Implementation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 62.5 (2015), pp. 2859–2867. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2014. 2362879.
- [186] K. Ilves et al. "Predictive Sorting Algorithm for Modular Multilevel Converters Minimizing the Spread in the Submodule Capacitor Voltages". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.1 (2015), pp. 440–449. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2308018.
- [187] F. Zhang and G. Joos. "A predictive nearest level control of modular multilevel converter". In: 2015 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC). 2015, pp. 2846–2851. DOI: 10.1109/APEC.2015.7104754.
- [188] A. Hassanpoor et al. "Tolerance Band Modulation Methods for Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 30.1 (2015), pp. 311–326. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2014.2305114.
- [189] A. Hassanpoor et al. "Optimization-Based Cell Selection Method for Grid-Connected Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 31.4 (2016), pp. 2780–2790. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2015.2448573.
- [190] M. Ricco et al. "FPGA-Based Implementation of MMC Control Based on Sorting Networks". In: *Energies* 11.9 (2018). DOI: 10.3390/en11092394.
- [191] M. Ricco et al. "A Capacitor Voltage Balancing Approach Based on Mapping Strategy for MMC Applications". In: *Electronics* 8.4 (2019). DOI: 10.3390/electronics8040449.
- [192] W. Wang, K. Ma, and X. Cai. "Efficient Capacitor Voltage Balancing Method for Modular Multilevel Converter Under Carrier-Phase-Shift Pulsewidth Modulation". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 36.2 (2021), pp. 1553–1562. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2020.3009272.
- [193] Datasheet FF150R12RT4. Infineon Technologies AG. Neubiberg, Germany, Nov. 2013. URL: https://www.infineon.com/dgdl/Infineon-FF150R12RT4-DS-v02_01-EN.pdf? fileId=db3a304327b8975001280604608b6165.
- [194] Datasheet FF450R07ME4. Infineon Technologies AG. Neubiberg, Germany, Aug. 2019. URL: https://www.infineon.com/dgdl/Infineon-FF450R07ME4-DataSheet-v03_00-EN.pdf?fileId=5546d4626e651a41016e7e227bfd1087.
- [195] D. G. Holmes and T. A. Lipo. "Harmonic Distortion". In: *Pulse Width Modulation for Power Converters: Principles and Practice*. 2003, pp. 57–94. DOI: 10.1109/9780470546284.ch2.
- [196] A. Hassanpoor et al. "Evaluation of different carrier-based PWM methods for modular multilevel converters for HVDC application". In: *IECON 2012 - 38th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*. 2012, pp. 388–393. DOI: 10.1109/IECON.2012.6388789.
- [197] L. Bieber et al. "A Hybrid Three-Level and Modular Multilevel Converter With DC Fault Blocking Capability and Reduced Semiconductor Losses". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery* 35.4 (2020), pp. 1895–1908. DOI: 10.1109/TPWRD.2019.2956723.
- [198] Ph. S. Jones and C. C. Davidson. "Calculation of power losses for MMC-based VSC HVDC stations". In: 2013 15th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE). 2013, pp. 1–10. DOI: 10.1109/EPE.2013.6631955.

- [199] S. Allebrod, R. Hamerski, and R. Marquardt. "New transformerless, scalable Modular Multilevel Converters for HVDC-transmission". In: 2008 IEEE Power Electronics Specialists Conference. 2008, pp. 174–179. DOI: 10.1109/PESC.2008.4591920.
- [200] L. Yang et al. "A Simplified Analytical Calculation Model of Average Power Loss for Modular Multilevel Converter". In: *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics* 66.3 (2019), pp. 2313–2322. DOI: 10.1109/TIE.2017.2779417.
- [201] G. A. Rampinelli, A. Krenzinger, and F. Chenlo Romero. "Mathematical models for efficiency of inverters used in grid connected photovoltaic systems". In: *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 34 (2014), pp. 578–587. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2014.03.047.
- [202] S. Milovanovic et al. "Flexible and Efficient MMC Digital Twin Realized With Small-Scale Real-Time Simulators". In: *IEEE Power Electronics Magazine* 8.2 (2021), pp. 24–33. DOI: 10.1109/MPEL.2021.3075803.
- [203] RT Box User Manual. Plexim GmbH. Zurich, Switzerland, Jan. 2021. URL: https://plexim. com/sites/default/files/rtboxmanual.pdf.
- [204] A. Viatkin et al. "Current Balancing Control for Interleaved Half-Bridge Submodules in Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *TechRxiv* (2021). ©2022 IEEE, pp. 1–8. DOI: 10. 36227/techrxiv.16645861.
- [205] D. Liu et al. "Current Sharing Schemes for Multiphase Interleaved DC/DC Converter with FPGA Implementation". In: 2010 International Conference on Electrical and Control Engineering. 2010, pp. 3512–3515. DOI: 10.1109/iCECE.2010.854.
- [206] S. Cuoghi et al. "Multileg Interleaved Buck Converter for EV Charging: Discrete-Time Model and Direct Control Design". In: *Energies* 13.2 (2020). DOI: 10.3390/en13020466.
- [207] J. Burkard, M. Pfister, and J. Biela. "Control Concept for Parallel Interleaved Three-Phase Converters with Decoupled Balancing Control". In: 2018 20th European Conference on Power Electronics and Applications (EPE'18 ECCE Europe). 2018, pp. 1–9.
- [208] M. Jafari et al. "New Voltage Balancing Technique Based on Carrier-Disposition Pulse Width Modulation for Modular Multilevel Converter". In: 2020 IEEE Power and Energy Conference at Illinois (PECI). 2020, pp. 1–5. DOI: 10.1109/PECI48348.2020.9064635.
- [209] K. Siri, C.Q. Lee, and T.-E. Wu. "Current distribution control for parallel connected converters. I". In: *IEEE Transactions on Aerospace and Electronic Systems* 28.3 (1992), pp. 829– 840. DOI: 10.1109/7.256303.
- [210] J. Gordillo and C. Aguilar. "A Simple Sensorless Current Sharing Technique for Multiphase DC–DC Buck Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 32.5 (2017), pp. 3480–3489. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2016.2592240.
- [211] R. F. Foley, R. C. Kavanagh, and M. G. Egan. "Sensorless Current Estimation and Sharing in Multiphase Buck Converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 27.6 (2012), pp. 2936–2946. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2010.2042072.
- [212] Z. Lukic et al. "Sensorless Self-Tuning Digital CPM Controller With Multiple Parameter Estimation and Thermal Stress Equalization". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 26.12 (2011), pp. 3948–3963. DOI: 10.1109/TPEL.2011.2131684.
- [213] A. Elbanhawy. "Current Sharing in Multiphase Converters Using Temperature Equalization". In: 2005 IEEE 36th Power Electronics Specialists Conference. 2005, pp. 1464–1468. DOI: 10.1109/PESC.2005.1581823.

- [214] P. Hu, R. Teodorescu, and J. M. Guerrero. "State observer based capacitor-voltagebalancing method for modular multilevel converters without arm-current sensors". In: *International Journal of Electrical Power & Energy Systems* 113 (2019), pp. 188–196. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijepes.2019.05.025.
- [215] A. Viatkin et al. "Interleaved Half-Bridge Submodules with Sensorless Leg Current Balancing in Modular Multilevel Converters". In: *TechRxiv* (2021). ©2022 IEEE, pp. 1–8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.36227/techrxiv.16862122.
- [216] S.R. Sanders and G.C. Verghese. "Lyapunov-based control for switched power converters". In: *IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics* 7.1 (1992), pp. 17–24. DOI: 10.1109/63. 124573.
- [217] L. Balogh. *Fundamentals of MOSFET and IGBT Gate Driver Circuits*. Rev.A. Application Report SLUA618A. Texas Instruments Inc. Dallas, The USA, Oct. 2018. URL: https: //www.ti.com/lit/ml/slua618a/slua618a.pdf?ts=1633531617367.
- [218] Super mini DIPIPM Ver.5 Series. Application Note. Mitsubishi Electric Corp. Tokyo, Japan, May 2014. URL: https://www.mitsubishielectric.com/semiconductors/files/ manuals/super_mini_dipipm_ver5_e.pdf.
- [219] D. Ronanki and Sh. S. Williamson. "Modular Multilevel Converters for Transportation Electrification: Challenges and Opportunities". In: *IEEE Transactions on Transportation Electrification* 4.2 (2018), pp. 399–407. DOI: 10.1109/TTE.2018.2792330.

Aleksandr Viatkin

Curriculum Vitae

Education

Oct. 2021 Nov. 2018	 Ph.D. Electrical Engineering, UNIVERSITY OF BOLOGNA, Italy Period abroad: Guest PhD student, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark (Nov. 2020 - Jul. 2021) Project: Modular Multilevel Converters with Interleaved Half-Bridge Submodules Developed a new MMC-based topology specifically suitable for high-current, low-voltage applications Designed the converter's closed-loop control algorithm for operation in grid-connected applications
	• Created analytical formulation and numerical simulation models (Simulink, Plecs). Tested the designed system in hardware-in-the-loop simulator (RTBox, Plexim). Built a laboratory prototype
	Project: Smart EV charging technology
	• Designed a front-end side of an on-board EV charger that is capable to work in both G2V an V2G modes, constantly providing power conditioning serviced to the power grid
	 Composed converter's closed-loop control algorithm
	 Created numerical simulation models (Simulink). Built a laboratory prototype Power electronics MMC Closed-loop control Hardware-in-the-loop On- and off-board EV chargers V2G
Dec 2017	M Sc Electrical Energy Engineering UNIVERSITY OF BOLOGNA Italy
Oct. 2017	Period abroad: ERASMUS program, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany (Sep. 2016 – Oct. 2017) Thesis: Development of a Test Bench for Multilevel Cascaded H-Bridge Converter with Self-Balancing Level Doubling Network Power electronics Multilevel converter CHB LDN Closed-loop control Power quality Battery Energy Storage
Jun. 2010	Electrical Engineering degree (5 years), URAL FEDERAL UNIVERSITY, Russia
Sept. 2005	Thesis: Development of technical solutions for reducing energy losses in the heating producing company of Chelyabinsk

Power quality Reactive power compensation Static compensator

I Professional Experience

Nov. 2021 R present

R&D Scientist - Power Electronics, HITACHI ENERGY, Sweden

- Develop and provide solutions for technical challenges in R&D projects
- Conduct laboratory tests, analyze data, and improve/optimize the solutions
- Lead R&D projects or work-packages with a structured working style, target-oriented strategy and effective leadership

HVDC FACTS E-STATCOM BESS

Oct. 2018 Research assistant (power electronics), UNIVERSITY OF BOLOGNA, Italy

- Feb. 2018Project: Superconducting Energy Storage for Smart Electrical GridC DRYSMES4GRID
 - Developed an entire control method for a grid supporting system based on a hybrid battery and superconducting magnetic energy storage

Grid-forming & grid-following converter control Active power filter SMES

Aug. 2015Electrical Project Engineer (construction site), INTERNATIONAL PAPER,
Oct. 2014Oct. 2014Svetogorsk, Russia

Project: Reconstruction of the main step-down substation 110/10 kV PGV-1 with replacement of cable lines 10 kV from the factory power plants PP-3 and PP-4

- Prepared detailed project schedule, monitored procurement and logistic of equipment and materials
- Examined and approved electrical design drawings for the construction
- Inspected contractors working on site (50 workers), ensuring agreement with safety code
- Supervised electrical equipment installation, commissioning and acceptance of the finished work

SF6 switchgear IEC61850 protection & control Project management

Dec. 2013Electrical Design Engineer (relay protection & automation), ENERGOPROJECTJul. 2011LTD., Ekaterinburg, Russia

Projects for the Federal Grid Company of Russia:

- System integrity protection for the overhead power line 500 kV "Krasnoarmeyskaya Gazovaya"
- Reconstruction of the substation 500 kV "Yuzhnay", Ekaterinburg
- Construction of the substation 220 kV "Nadezhda", Ekaterinburg
- Developed a concept of protection & control, measurement and monitoring systems
- Prepared electrical schematics, control layouts, specifications and wiring diagrams for manufacturing and installation of electrical equipment on site

Vacuum & SF6 switchgears | IEC61850 protection & control |

IEEE C37.118.2 synchronized phasor measurements
Jun. 2011Electrical Design Engineer (relay protection), URAL DESIGN INSTITUTEAug. 2009TELPRO LTD., Ekaterinburg, RussiaProjects: Construction of the substations 110 kV "Palniki" (Perm region), 110 kV

- "Tobol" (Kurgan) and several projects in chemical, gas & oil industries (Perm and Sverdlovsk regions)
 - Prepared electrical schematics, control layouts, specifications and wiring diagrams for manufacturing and installation of medium voltage switchgears Vacuum switchgear

E Competencies

Microcontrollers,	TMS320F2837xD (TI), STM32F4x (STMicroelectronics), Arduino Due
SOCs & Target	A000062, Zedboard Zynq-7000 (Xilinx), Performance RTTM 109200 (Speed-
Machines	goat), dSpace DS1006, RT-Box (Plexim)
Programming	C, C++, Python, Matlab, SystemVerilog, VHDL
languages	
Development	MATLAB/Simulink, Plecs, LTSpice, LabView, ANSYS Electronics, CCS,
platforms	ModelSim, Vivado Design Suite, ATPDraw, SKM, EMTP
Design tools	Autodesk AutoCAD (2D, 3D, Electrical), Autodesk Eagle, Altium Designer
Languages	Russian (Native speaker) English (C2, Fluent) Italian (B1, Intermediate)

ü Grants and Awards

- 2020/21 Marco Polo Scholarship, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy
- 2016/17 University Excellence in Studying Award, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy
- 2016/17 ER.GO Study Grand, ER.GO, Bologna, Italy

Scientific Record

THE FULL LIST OF PUBLICATIONS IS ACCESSIBLE VIA ORCID OR GOOGLE SCHOLAR

D orcid.org/0000-0002-3212-5989 S Google Scholar

Bibliometric indicators (updated on January 26, 2022):

- > scientific publications: 20
- > total citations: 103
- > h-index: 6
- > i10-index: 2